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FCA Bank programs and issuances

Issuer

Instrument

ISIN

Market

Settlement
Date

Maturity
Date

Amount
(mln)

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1057487875

EUR

17/04/2014

17/04/2019

750

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1111858756

EUR

23/09/2014

23/10/2019

750

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1220057472

EUR

17/04/2015

17/04/2020

700

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1383510259

EUR

23/03/2016

23/09/2020

500

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1416409339

EUR

23/05/2016

23/01/2019

161

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1435295925

EUR

21/06/2016

21/01/2021

500

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1497682036

GBP

29/09/2016

29/09/2021

400

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1503012038

EUR

12/10/2016

12/02/2019

200

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1588053592

EUR

27/03/2017

27/03/2019

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1587236545

EUR

27/03/2017

27/03/2019

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1598835822

EUR

13/04/2017

15/11/2021

800

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1636552173

EUR

03/07/2017

03/07/2019

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1697916358

EUR

12/10/2017

12/10/2020

800

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1735810092

EUR

18/12/2017

18/12/2019

200

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1753030490

EUR

17/01/2018

17/06/2021

850

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1757829079

EUR

22/01/2018

22/01/2020

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Private

XS1793286664

EUR

16/03/2018

16/03/2020

240

FCA Bank S.p.A. - Irish Branch

Public

XS1881804006

EUR

21/09/2018

21/02/2022

600

FCA BANK SPA – Irish Branch

Private

XS1846756846

EUR

22/06/2018

22/03/2019

88

FCA BANK SPA – Irish Branch

Private

XS1856131518

EUR

09/07/2018

08/07/2019

50

FCA Capital Suisse SA

Public

CH0326371413

CHF

29/06/2016

29/11/2021

100

FCA Capital Suisse SA

Public

CH0370943620

CHF

25/07/2017

24/07/2020

175

Private

PLFTBNP00022

PLN

03/06/2016

03/12/2019

80

FCA-Group Bank Polska SA
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RATING
In 23 October 2018, following Italy’s
downgrading, Moody’s lowered the rating on
FCA Bank’s deposits and brought back to stable
(from positive, as raised on 6 July 2018) the long-

term outlook. Similarly, on 30 October 2018 S&P
changed the outlook to negative (from stable), as
a result of a similar action on Italy’s rating.

Long-Term
Rating

Outlook

Short-Term
Rating

Long-Term
Deposit Rating

Moody’s

Baa1

Stable

P-2

Baa1

Fitch

BBB+

Stable

F2

-

Standard & Poor's

BBB

Negative

A-2

-

Company
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COST
OF RISK
AND CREDIT
QUALITY
COST OF RISK

The FCA Bank has always paid close attention
to its credit policies, with the support and
reinforcement provided by ratings/scores and
decision engines, which generate an incoming
portfolio of good quality.
The credit monitoring and management tools
available to FCA Bank make it possible to spot
effectively and in a timely manner any credit
deterioration, so as to take any corrective action
rapidly.

The excellent performance of the Bank’s cost of
risk over the past few years is indicative of the
high quality of the portfolio and the effectiveness
of all ex-ante and ex-post control processes.
Despite the uncertainty in the euro area, credit
quality has improved slightly.
The level of NPLs and the cost of risk are largely
the same as those at the end of 2017 and better
than those for the previous years.
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COST OF RISK
AND UNEMPLOYEMENT

9.8%
9.0%
8.2%
7.6%
7.0%
0.6%
0.4%
0.3%
0.2%

2014

2015

Cost of risk/Average portfolio Ratio

2016

2017

0.2%

2018

Unemployement (Source Eurostat, Eu 27 countries December 2018)

To that end, the Group has used effectively the
underwriting and management tools available to
it, to protect the portfolio’s good quality and to
facilitate the detection of any deterioration in the
credit performance.
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Scoring models to evaluate
“Retail” credit risk
• ensuring the constant and continuous
monitoring of their performance;
• overseeing compliance with Group procedures
and policies in relation to scoring.

To evaluate the creditworthiness of retail
customers in the credit analysis phase, the FCA
Bank Group uses statistical models (scorecards)
to measure credit risk. The models are one of
the main evaluation factors to estimate the
risk probability associated with the customer/
application and the ensuing classification by
applying cut-offs for a rejection or approval.
All credit analysis processes use scorecard as
decision-making drivers. In fact, in addition to
the application of standard rules to determine
creditworthiness (such as control of external
negative events, internal risk status, etc.), a
score is the result of a process that evaluates in
a transparent, structured and consistent manner
all the operating, financial, performance and
qualitative information related to a customer.
FCA Bank adopted an organisational model
designed to improve the level of the Parent
Company’s service to the other Group
companies. Within the scope of this service, the
central credit function is responsible, for all the
markets, for:
• managing the development and maintenance of
credit evaluation models;

To develop scoring models in every market, FCA
Bank cooperates with reliable first class partners,
companies that are leaders in their industry,
with adequate expertise and use of rigorous and
advanced statistical methods.
The activities carried out to upgrade scoring
models lead to a continuous process to improve
risk metrics.
From the quantitative point of view, during the
last six months of 2018, all scorecards in Italy
and Germany were fine-tuned, following the
introduction of the new credit bureau score and
1 new scorecard in the UK, all I the retail business
line. Estimation activities are under way for 2
more scorecards, 1 in the Retail business line
(in Portugal) and 1 in the Rental business line
(in Italy). In addition 5 scorecards are being
implemented in France and 1 in Belgium, to
support the start of the Retail business line.

Credit quality (Item 40 Financial assets at amortized cost
b) - Loans and receivables with customers) (¤/thousand)

31/12/2018
DESCRIPTION

31/12/2017

Gross
exposure

Allowance for loan
and lease

Net
exposure

Gross
exposure

Allowance for
loan and lease

Net
exposure

Bad Loans

111,536

(83,607)

27,929

104,291

(83,411)

20,880

Unlikely
to pay

122,391

(38,737)

83,654

162,369

(35,174)

127,195

Non Performing
Past-due

53,831

(23,836)

29,995

41,097

(19,894)

21,204

Non-performing
loans

287,758

(146,180)

141,578

307,757

(138,479)

169,278

Performing
loans

23,574,135

(127,705)

23,446,429

21,213,088

(128,566)

21,084,521

Total

23,861,893

(273,885)

23,588,007

21,520,845

(267,045)

21,253,799
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Rating models to evaluate
“Corporate” risk
The evaluation of “corporate” credit risk is based
on the comprehensive use of two combined
systems, developed in cooperation with the
technical functions of the two shareholders.
The first, which is called CRISP, is designed to
evaluate the borrower’s equity profile.
The second, called ANADEFI, emphasizes instead
the counterparty’s earning power and probability
of default.
It is worthy of note that the operational
mechanisms to use the rating systems for
corporate counterparties and the development of
scorecards and the setting of the relevant cut-off
for retail customers fall within the purview of the
Board of Directors, which sets specific guidelines
to be implemented by management in the dayto-day operational activity.

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Gross
exposure
weight

Net
exposure
weight

Coverage
ratio

Gross
exposure
weight

Net
exposure
weight

Coverage
ratio

Bad Loans

0.47%

0.12%

74.96%

0.48%

0.10%

79.98%

Unlikely
to pay

0.51%

0.35%

31.65%

0.75%

0.60%

21.66%

Non Performing
Past-due

0.23%

0.13%

44.28%

0.19%

0.10%

48.41%

Non-performing
loans

1.21%

0.60%

50.80%

1.43%

0.80%

45.00%

98.79%

99.40%

0.54%

98.57%

99.20%

0.61%

100.00%

100.00%

1.15%

100.00%

100.00%

1.24%

DESCRIPTION

Performing
loans
Total

The credit quality is confirmed at an excellent
level, with non-performing loans representing
0.6% of total net exposure (the net exposure
of non-performing loans amounted to euro 142
million compared to a total net exposure of euro
23.6 billion).
Allowance for loans and lease losses amounted
to euro 274 million at the end of 2018; gross
exposure for impaired loans amounted to euro
288 million compared to euro 308 million at the

end of 2017.
Net Non-performing loans amounted to euro 142
million, compared to euro 169 million at the end
of 2017, representing 0.6% of total net exposure
(while at 0.8% at the end of 2017), with a loan loss
coverage ratio of 51%.
Net bad loans stood at euro 28 million, compared
to euro 21 million in December 2017, with a loan
loss coverage ratio of 75%.
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Alain Juan
Head of
European Markets

The expansion of FCA Bank

In the past few years FCA Bank began expanding
its activities in Europe and not just to take full
advantage of any business opportunities that might
arise. Starting in 2014, we opened new offices in
the Scandinavian countries and eventually, in 2016,
we opened a new market in Morocco, to support
the business of our captive brands in that area.
After this substantial growth, in 2017 the Group
decided to focus on the expansion of FCA Bank
Italia SPA as a bank, opening new branches outside
of Italy which allow us to operate directly as an
Italian bank in European countries.
Significant benefits derived from this strategy
include, among others, optimized capital
allocation, process simplifications and governance
improvement.
At the beginning of 2017 we opened our first
branch in Ireland, which engages mainly in the
management of the Group’s central treasury.
After this initial project, in 2018 FCA Bank grasped
this opportunity also in two other markets,
Belgium and Luxembourg, by taking over the
direct management of retail activities that were
performed previously under a White Label
Agreement with Alpha Credit.
FCA Bank’s management team is currently
performing a feasibility study to open, in the future,
new branches in other European countries to take
any business opportunity that might materialize.
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RESIDUAL
VALUES
Residual value is the value of the vehicle when
the related loan or lease contract expires.
The Bank is exposed to residual value risks in
connection with loan and lease contracts with
customers that can return the vehicle at the end
of such contracts.
Trends in the used vehicle market may entail a
risk for the holder of the residual value.
This risk is basically borne by the dealers
throughout Europe, with the exception of the
UK market, where the risk is managed, regularly
monitored, mitigated with specific procedures
and covered through specific provisions by the
Bank.
FCA Bank has long adopted Group guidelines
and processes to manage and monitor residual
risk on an ongoing basis.

Regarding long-term rentals, residual risk on
rented vehicles is generally borne by the rental
car company, save for specific arrangements
with third parties. In this case, residual risk is
represented by the difference between the
market value of the vehicle at the end of the
contract and the carrying amount of the vehicle.
Leasys, its subsidiaries and FCA Capital Danmark
A/S are the Group companies operating in the
long-term rental business.
Leasys and its subsidiaries are not part of the
banking group.

2016

2017

31/12/18

Residual Risk borne
by Group FCA Bank

926

924

912

of which UK market

879

803

700

euro/mln
Consumer loans
and leases:

Provisions for residual value

euro/mln

41

2016

2017

31/12/18

638

894

1,230

Long Term
Rental:
Residual Risk borne
by Group FCA Bank

Provisions for residual value

34
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RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
Economic data (¤/mln)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

954

841

(277)

(264)

(44)

(43)

Operating income

633

534

Other income / (expense )

(85)

(13)

Profit before tax

548

521

Net income

388

383

End of year

26,805

23,935

Average

24,375

21,797

3.91%

3.86%

29.02%

31.37%

0.18%

0.20%

CET1

12.45%

11.98%

Total Capital ratio (TCR)

14.02%

13.69%

Net banking income and Rental margin
Net operating expenses
Cost of risk

Outstanding

Ratio
Net banking income and Rental margin (on Average Outstanding)
Cost/Income ratio
Cost of risk (on Average Outstanding)
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Balance sheet data (¤/mln)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

363

-

10

10

25,745

23,352

2,157

2,098

23,588

21,254

Hedging derivatives

36

67

Changes in fair value of portfolio hedge items

27

5

Insurance reserves attributable to reinsures

10

11

2,547

1,959

Intangible assets

247

237

Tax assets

273

269

1,279

1,276

Total assets

30,535

27,187

Total liabilities

27,657

24,675

2,878

2,512

Cash and cash balances
Financial assets designated at fair value with effects on comprehensive income
Financial assets valued at amortized costs
a) Loans and receivables with banks
b) Loans and receivables with customers

Property, plant and equipment

Other assets

Net equity

The average portfolio for the period, distributed over all the lines of
business, rose by 12% on 2017. FCA Bank saw an increase of its commercial
penetration to 47.1% (up 8.8% on 2018) and had total financed volumes for
the year in the amount of ¤13.3 billion, with a 10% increase on 2017.
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Outstanding End of Year (€/MLN)
27,000

26,805
23,936

24,000
20,755

21,000
18,000
15,000
12,000

17,249
15,304

1,406

2,818

2,239
15,760

1,706
14,378
13,002

1,306
11,016
9,957

7,319

6,000
3,000

4,041

4,827

8,226

6,047

Retail financing

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0

Average Portfolio (€/MLN)
27,000

24,375

24,000

21,797
18,498

14,724
1,327

16,088
1,404

1,579

14,940

Rental

18,000

12,000

2,317

1,906

21,000

15,000

13,717

11,768
10,452

9,892

9,000
6,000
3,000

Dealer financing

9,000

3,505

4,232

5,150

6,174

7,118

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0
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Income Rental Margin

3.9%

900

953.9
840.5

800
700

731.6
667.4

600
500

3.9%

565.7

400
300
200
100

Income Margin (€/MLN)

4.0%

Net Operating Expenses (€/MLN)

4.1%

Income Margin/AveragePortfolio Ratio (%)

3.8%

Cost income ratio (% annual basis)

1000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0

Given higher volumes and a lower cost of funds, net banking income and
rental margin rose in absolute terms to ¤953.9 million.
The ratio of Net Banking Income and Rental Margin to the average portfolio
was 3.9%, in line with the comparable metric at the end of 2017, thanks also
to the constant collaboration with commercial partners.

40%

35%

33%

300
250
200

225.8

235.7

245.0

31%

29%

263.7

276.8

31.12.2018

350

31.12.2017

Net Operating Expenses

150
100
50

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0

Operating efficiency, in conjunction with the ability to generate earnings
over and above costs, drove the cost/income ratio to 29.0%, thus continuing
the improvement process that has been under way for several years.

Report on operations

- 71

In absolute terms, net operating costs grew by approximately ¤13.1 million,
compared to 2017, in keeping with the growth of the average portfolio and
the investments made in the last few years to foster the Bank’s growth.

Cost of Risk

80
70

0.44%
83.4

60

70.1

0.30%
0.20%

0.18%

42.7

44.1

31.12.2018

40

31.12.2017

50
55.1

30
20
10

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0

In terms of cost of risk, thanks to traditionally selective underwriting
policies, further improvements were achieved compared to 2017, with as
cost of risk as a share of the average portfolio was 0.18%, confirming the
constantly improving trend of the past few years.
In absolute terms, cost of risk amounted to ¤44 million, which was in line
with the previous year, despite the increase in financed volumes.

Cost of Risk (€/MLN)

0.57%

Cost of Risk/Average Portfolio Ratio (%)

90
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Profit before tax and Net profit (€/MLN)

550
547.6

500

521.1

450
400

416.5
359.4

350

388.4

300

249.1

200

Net Profit

182.5

150
50

Pre-tax Profit

250

382.5

311.6
256.5

Operating income for the year under review
amounted to ¤633 million while pre-tax profit
totalled ¤547.6 million, reflecting an increase of
about ¤26.8 million (up 5%) on the comparable
year-earlier amount.
Other expenses include the contribution for a
total of ¤6.9 million to the Single Resolution Fund
(SRF). In addition, extraordinary expenses reflect
the provisions made for the estimated amount of
the fine imposed by the Italian Antitrust Authority
already illustrated in the section “Significant
events and strategic actions”.
In terms of net result, the period ended with a net
profit of ¤388.4 million (¤448.4 million before
provisions for the AGCM fine), with a 2% increase
on 2017 (up 17% before provisions for the AGCM
fine).
Furthermore, the increase in net profit was due

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

31.12.2014

0

also to the lower tax charges of the subsidiary
Leasys. In fact, the company benefited from the
effects of the 2017 Budget Act related to the socalled super-depreciation of capital assets.
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EQUITY
AND CAPITAL RATIO
Own Funds and ratios

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

(Euro/000)

Common Equity Tier 1 - CET1

2,724,100

2,372,930

5,555

3,911

Tier 1 - T1

2,729,655

2,376,842

Tier 2 - T2

337,406

335,215

3,067,061

2,712,057

21,877,598

19,806,805

CET1

12.45%

11.98%

Total Capital ratio (TCR)

14.02%

13.69%

259%

105%

110%

109%

Leverage Ratio

10.22%

9.56%

RONE (Net Profit/Normalized Normative Equity)

17.75%

19.31%

Additional Tier 1 - AT1

Total Capital
Risk-weighted assets (RWA)
REGULATORY RATIOS

LCR
NSFR
OTHER RATIOS

At 31 December 2018, the Total Capital Ratio
was 14.02%, reflecting an improvement over the
comparable metric at the end of 2017.
Such improvement was in essence due to the
inclusion in CET 1 of the net profit for the year
ended 31 December 2018 pursuant to article 26,
paragraph 2, of Regulation (EU) of the European
Parliament and of the Council and Decision
(EU) 2015/656 of the European Central Bank
(ECB/2015/4). To this end, formal acceptance by
the ECB was obtained.
CET 1 (Profit Included) – which is calculated by
including profit for the year after dividends, if
declared, in line with the same rules as those
applicable at the end of 2017 - showed an
improvement, as it rose to 12.45%.
Regarding the liquidity ratios, LCR reached 259%
while NSFR was 110%.

The profitability ratios also improved, thanks to
the excellent results for the period.
RONE (Return on Normative Equity) calculated
considering the normalized Normative Equity
and a 10% capital requirement for RWA, stood at
17.75%.
With reference to the decision of AGCM, already
commented in the section “Significant events and
strategic transactions”, even with a provision for
the maximum amount of the fine, the prudential
ratios would have been above the regulatory
requirements anyway, equal to 11.91% for the CET1
and equal to 13.48% for the total capital ratio.
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN RECLASSIFIED AND
REPORTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FIGURES
Reconciliation between reported income statement
and reclassified income statement (€/mln)

31/12/2018

Ref. Notes to the
financial
statements
31/12/2017
Part C

903

855

1.1

(242)

(266)

1.3

40. Fee and commission income

164

133

2.1

50. Fee and commision expenses

(43)

(48)

2.2

1

(2)

4.1

(2)

(2)

5.1

1

-

6.1

(1)

-

8.1

160. Net premium earned

1

1

10.1

170. Net other operating income/charges from insurance activities

2

2

11.1

190. Administrative costs

2

-

12.1

200. Net provisions for risk and charges

1

3

13.3

(361)

(307)

14.1

528

472

16.2

Net Banking Income

954

841

190. Administrative costs

(270)

(252)

12.1

7

4

13.3

220. Impairment on intangible assets

(11)

(9)

15.1

210. Impairment on tangible assets

(2)

(2)

14.1

230. Other operating income/charges

(1)

(5)

16.1

(277)

(264)

(12)

(2)

-

-

a) financial assets at amortized cost

(19)

(33)

8.1

230. Other operating income/charges

(13)

(8)

16.1

(44)

(43)

(84)

(2)

13.3

(1)

(11)

16.1

(85)

(13)

(159)

(138)

(159)

(138)

388

383

10. Interest income and similar revenue
20. Interest expenses and similar charges

80. Net income financial assets and liabilities held for trading
90.Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting
100. Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of
a) financial assets at amortized cost
130. Impairment losses on:
a) financial assets at amortized cost

210. Impairment on tangible assets
230. Other operating income/charges

200. Net provisions for risk and charges

Net operating expenses
50. Fee and commision expenses
130. Impairment losses on:

Cost of risk
200. Net provisions for risk and charges
230. Other operating income/charges
Other income/expenses
300. Tax expense related to profit or loss from continuing operations
Income taxes of the year
Net profit

2.2

21.1

With reference to the items of the above representation, when there is not a correspondence to the items of the
Consolidated Income Statement, please see the references to the Notes to the Consolidated financial statements.
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Reconciliation between outstanding and loans and
receivables with customers (€/mln)
Outstanding
90. Property, plant and equipment (*)

31/12/2018

- 75

Ref. Notes to the
financial
statements

26,805
(2,435)

Part B Assets 9.1

(714)

Part B Assets 13.1

10.b) Deposits from customers

17

Part B Liabilities 1.2

80. Other liabilities

121

Part B Liabilities 8.1

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers not included in the outstanding

70

Part B Assets 4.2

130. Other assets (**)

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers

Allowance for loans Management data
90. Property, plant and equipment
130. Other assets

23,862

306
(32)

10.b) Deposits from customers

-

80. Other liabilities

-

40.b) Loans and receivables with customers not included in the outstanding

-

Allowance for loans with customers Item 40.b)

(*)The item includes assets related to the rental business
(**)The item includes the consignment for euro 210 and
receivables from customers relating to the rental business
for euro 504 million.

274

Part B Assets 9.1
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PARENT COMPANY AND
CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
Equity

Of which, profit
for the year

Equity and profit for the year of FCA Bank S.p.A.

1,569,791

161,601

Equity and profit of subsidiaries less non-controlling interests

2,339,090

282,978

Consolidation adjustments:

(1,079,770)

(61,219)

(1,010,167)

-

Elimination of carrying amount of consolidated companies

(70,000)

Intercompany dividends
Other consolidation adjustments
Equity and profit attributable to FCA Bank S.p.a.’s shareholders
Equity and profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated equity and net profit

(69,603)

8,781

2,829,111

383,360

48,397

5,004

2,877,508

388,364
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ORGANIZATION
AND HUMAN
RESOURCES
For this section please refer to the Non-Financial Disclosure.
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Maurizio Albano
Head of
Human Resources

The Company continues to encourage
employees’ involvement through processes
that allow people to be makers of their own
development. Through Professional Aspiration
and Self Assessment, people are able to indicate
expectations and the personal perception
of their contribution to the Company. Job
rotations, more than 400 in the past three years,
allow employees to gain exposure to different
operational areas and, as such, to increase their
awareness of the functioning of the business in
its complexity.
Furthermore, internal and external
communication gives visibility to the results
of working groups, to challenges and to
professional trends. In addition, there are two
major communication events taking place every
year that involve all employees and provide an
opportunity to share the results achieved and
future challenges.

People first

Fostering engagement is a key objective of the
HR team.
Over the years our Company has undertaken
a large number of projects and initiatives to
increase employees’ involvement and well-being.
As a Company with an eye to the future,
FCA Bank invests in the professionalism and
excellent skills of its employees through training,
development programs and job rotations.
Also in 2018 the Company provided quality
training, while still paying constant attention to
costs. Overall, 4,000 training days were held,
with an average of 2.2 days per employee. In
addition to the usual emphasis on technical
and compliance training, a specific session was
held on antitrust, in Italy and in the markets.
Management training initiatives (soft skills)
continued, together with those on the people
development skills, with special attention to the
current and future middle management. The
Strategic Thinking and Hackaton projects allowed
participants to experiment methodologies
to create innovation and to prototype ideas.
Moreover, specific development programs International Cross Path and Development
Path in Italy - were designed to support young
employees in their professional and managerial
growth.

The employer branding initiatives make
employees more aware and prouder of the
brand they work for and enhance FCA Bank’s
attractiveness to the outside world. Our LinkedIn
page, the Careers page and the media report our
initiatives, generating interest, and we participate
in a great deal of recruiting events: more than
30 throughout Europe in the last two years. FCA
Bank is an attractive company, as witnessed by
the number of applications received (more than
6000) both in response to job advertisements
and spontaneously.
Lastly, in little more than one year, the Group
inaugurated in Italy two new headquarters
– Torino Porta 12 and Roma Arte 25 – which
accommodate overall more than half of its
employees, with environments that foster a
sense of belonging and pride, marked by modern
design and innovative technologies that make
for faster and more effective communications.
Moreover, dedicated spaces foster cooperation
and teamwork, which are constantly encouraged
and supported.
FCA Bank is a future-oriented company,
constantly looking for new challenges, which
thanks to its people can create quality products
and services intended to achieve customer
satisfaction.
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INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY
In the Information and Communication
Technology area, in keeping with the Group’s
digitalization project, the company has begun to
upgrade its operating system so as to implement
the dematerialization of the sale process in
Consumer Financing.
The front-end systems used by the dealer
network have been enabled to handle digital
signatures for financing contracts since May 2018.
In the first half of 2018, to support the launch of
highly-profitable innovative financing products,
the company implemented on the operating
system the sale of third-party liability insurance
(RCA) policies to cover the vehicles purchased
with a loan from FCA Bank.
To support growth in the banking product sector,
the company has started to invest to create a
front- and back-end platform to manage the
entire lifecycle of the home banking process
in Italy. The platform became operational in
April 2018, when FCA Bank launched the new
electronic payment product through the issue of
the first credit card.
Significant upgrades of the company’s operating
and accounting systems and the group reporting
platform took place during the year to ensure
their compliance with the new developments in
the area of financial reporting (IFRS9).
The start of the second half of 2018 saw the
release of the new software system for profiling
and monitoring customers, to prevent and
combat money laundering and terrorist financing,
so as to perform such activity in accordance
with AML regulations.

In the second half of 2018, in the Italian market
the customer portal (My FCA Bank) was
implemented. Through an interface and specific
functionalities, this portal enables the “User
Experience” that takes into account business and
institutional communication needs with a single
new digital identity.
In December, the RPA (Robotic Process
Automation) project activated the first two
robots, kicking off the strategic plan to automate
the repetitive activities of many functional
areas of FCA Bank, thus allowing a reduction in
personnel costs and the reallocation of business
resources to higher value-added activities.
At the consolidated level, in light of the European
Union’s regulations that introduced a harmonized
system of supervisory reporting by defining the
data representation model and the transmission
format (XBRL), in 2018 the Group completed the
project “Management of the XBRL format”. After
an initial phase, where the decision was made
to stay put with the approach on national data
collection criteria (e.g. “matrix system”), starting
from the end of 2017 and throughout 2018 the
Group adopted the new system with a schedule
based on the various types of supervisory report.
During the year under review, the AnaCredit
project, which had been requested and started
by the ECB to set up a database with granular
credit information, was completed. The new
central system contains data on loans and leases,
guarantees, derivatives and off-balance-sheet
transactions which will make it possible to meet
the statistical information requirements of the

Report on operations

ESCB (European System of Central Banks) including support to monetary policy operations,
research activity, macro-prudential analyses,
financial stability and risk management activities
– as well as the supervisory requirements of the
SSM (Banking Supervision).
Regarding Foreign Markets, the Group firmed
up the strategy to renew the operating and
accounting systems based on the cluster
approach and continued the projects started in
2015 for the creation of the IT platforms to cover
the Retail and Long Term Rental business lines.
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In 2018 the CRFS Poland system was released,
to manage the Retail processes (CRFS is the
same platform that Austria and Germany have
been using since 2014), together with the Miles
system for the Netherlands, Retail and Long Term
Rental processes, and for Belgium, Retail process.
Moreover, the project relating to the release of
the CRFS system in France is being completed.

INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS
For this section please refer to the Non-Financial Disclosure.

Internal control functions
For this section please refer to the Non-Financial Disclosure..

Internal board committees
For this section please refer to the Non-Financial Disclosure.

Committees involved in the internal
control system
For this section please refer to the Non-Financial Disclosure.
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Mariella Benevenuta
Head of
Compliance & Supervisory Relations

The customer advocate

When we talk about customer advocacy we
cannot fail to mention Transparency.
“Transparency” is not just a set of rules to be
complied with but a way to protect the company
and its shareholders by reducing the sanctions
and reputational risks, on one side, and to
protect customers’ interests through a conduct
inspired by principles of openness and fairness,
establishing a relationship based on trust and
mutual benefit.
A business model is virtuous only when it is
centred every step of the way on customers’
interests and requirements, starting from
the product’s design, its implementation, the
marketing phase and customer listening in the
post-sale phase.
It is precisely from listening to customers –
through periodic surveys, the use of a careful and
proactive customer care service and a constant
critical analysis of the complaints received –
that we can comprehend the customer’s real
perception of our Company, our products and
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our processes, thus understanding what works
and what instead needs improving.
Transparency means also making customers
aware of their obligations as well as their
rights, both through a clear explanation of the
characteristics of the product offered in the
commercial negotiation phase and through the
delivery of a clear and exhaustive set of precontractual and contractual documents.
In this sense, FCA Bank aims to pursue a business
model constantly inspired to the principles of
openness, fairness and listening to customers.
This objective was met, in the year just ended,
with the revision and improvement of all the
customer forms, the company policies, the
internal processes and the activation of a
structured internal training plan.
Lastly, a sound business model based on
customer centricity cannot be effectively
implemented without a solid Code of Conduct,
informed by ethical principles, openness and
fairness.
When we are called upon to make company
choices we must ask ourselves whether that
action is totally suited to guide and protect the
interests of both the company and its customers.
By pursuing this objective, FCA Bank renewed its
Code of Conduct mainly to enhance the level of
internal awareness regarding the importance of
these principles and to ensure that all employees
attain the highest levels of integrity, responsibility
and ethics standard. With that in mind, the
Company implemented the sections devoted
to customer relations, anti-corruption policies
and the prevention of reputational risks for the
Company.
In addition, the whistleblowing procedure and
the relevant dedicated training activities were
strengthened.
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CONSOLIDATED
NON FINANCIAL
STATEMENT
Prepared in accordance with Legislative Decree 254/16

INTRODUCTION
Legislative Decree no. 254 of 30 December
2016, which implemented Directive 2014/95/
EU, requires large companies and public interest
entities to report non-financial information for
the financial years starting on or after 1 January
2017.
In its capacity as a public interest entity with
employees, financial position and net revenues
in excess of the thresholds set by article 2
del D. Lgs. n. 254, FCA Bank Group publishes
every year, in its Report on operations, the
Consolidated Non Financial Disclosure.
The FCA Bank Group’s Non-Financial Disclosure
is prepared in accordance with article 4 of the
foregoing Legislative Decree and the Referenced
option of the Global Reporting Initiative
Sustainability Reporting Standard (GRI Standard)
published in 2016 by the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI), which constitute the most
common and internationally recognized model in
the area of non-financial disclosure.
FCA Bank Group, in accordance with the
foregoing Decree, provides communication to its
stakeholders on the non financial issues identified
as relevant in light of a materiality analysis of
the Group’s activities and characteristics, to

ensure an understanding of the organizational
model, the policies, the main risks and the
performance indicators. The significant material
topics for the FCA Bank Group are pointed out
in the materiality matrix in the specific section
and concern Governance and the following
theme areas identified by Legislative Decree no.
254/2016:
• Environment
• Employees
• Social
• Fight against internal and external corruption
and bribery
• Respect for Human Rights
In the first phase of the analysis, the topics
potentially relevant to FCA Group and our
stakeholders were identified. This was done by
taking into consideration
• sector benchmarking analysis
• United Nations Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs).
In order to easily find information in this report, in

Scope of Decree 254/2016

Macro-area

Respect of human rights/Fight against corruption

Governance & Compliance

Social

Economic responsibility

Social

Product Responsibility

Staff management

People Responsibility

Environment

Environmental responsibility
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accordance with the GRI reporting standard, the
GRI Content Index is in the end of the document.
The Non Financial Statement is subject to a
limited audit by EY S.p.A..
Starting from 2018, the collection of quantitative
data was standardized and takes place on the
same platform which gathers operating and
financial data of the Group companies.

REPORTING PERIMETER
The scope of the non-financial statement report
is the same as that of the Consolidated Financial
Statements as of and for the year ended 31
December 2018 for the year ended 31 December
2018 and represents a section included in the
report on operations, which forms an integral
part of the 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Considering this is the first year of GRI Standards
application, no comparative figures with
previous years are available (excepted figures
related to employees, Customer Satisfaction
Index and Dealer Satisfaction Index), due to
the methodology change and to the changes
occurred with reference to the responsibilities
and processes.
These variations produced more attention in
instituting in a tougher and structured way the
reporting process, over an indicators upgrade.
In the reporting period, did not occur any
significant changes in organizational aspects,
participation and supply chain.
Regarding the qualitative and quantitative data
on social and environmental aspects, the scope
of reporting corresponds to FCA Bank Group
and its subsidiaries consolidated on a line-by-line
basis. Any exceptions, with regard to the scope
of this data, are clearly indicated throughout the
Non Financial Disclosure.
With reference to staff, the data reflect the
headcount at 31 December 2018.
[1] D. Lgs 254/2017, art. 3, c.3

Injuries frequency index is calculated using
injuries number multiplied 1,000,000, divided per
worked hours.

With reference to energy consumption, estimates
have been made on the basis of the previous
months, in case it is not possible to obtain the
overall consumption amount at 31 December
2018. As regards CO2 emissions, they have been
calculated by using the guidelines contained
in European Residual Mixes - Results of the
calculation of Residual Mixes for the calendar
year 2017.

REPORTING, ASSUMPTIONS
AND CALCULATIONS NON
COPERTE DA GRI STANDARD
Following are reported main definitions,
assumptions and calculations not yet covered
with GRI.
• Customer Satisfaction Index
• Dealer Satisfaction Index
• Complaints
Customer and Dealer satisfaction indices are
calculated as weghted average in respect of the
answers received to the question related to the
customer satisfaction in the questionnaire in a 1
to 5 range.
With reference to complaints FCA Bank Group
conforms to the CRD, enclosed I - Capital
Requirements Directive (Legislation 2013/36/UE).
No comparative data are available for the
previous years in this first year of application of
the GRI Standards.
During the reporting period, we did not face any
significant change concerning the organization’s
size, structure, ownership or supply chain.
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LETTER TO
STAKEHOLDERS
The 2018 results confirm the Bank’s strategic
choices and its ability to generate profits with a
responsible business model. The FCA Bank Group
is well aware that only responsible corporate
growth fosters long-term development and
reduces social and environmental risks.
Thus, the FCA Bank Group reiterates its
commitment to the 3 dimensions of sustainability
– in the environmental, social and governance
areas – in keeping with the Company’s
positioning inspired by its Corporate Social
Responsibility philosophy.
In the environmental area, the creation of
a culture of sustainability requires effective
risk management, and responsible, proactive
and innovative decision-making. Our efforts
minimize negative impacts on natural resources
and the global environment. The FCA Bank
Group is committed to improving constantly
the environmental performance of its activities
and to comply with the applicable laws and
regulations, promoting this enhancement also
with automobiles partners.
In the social and human-resource development
area, all those who work for or with the FCA Bank
Group must be able to express their full potential
in a safe and protected environment. The FCA
Bank Group undertakes to adopt all the measures
necessary to ensure safety and to protect the
physical and mental health of its employees.
The FCA Bank Group believes in, and fosters, a
culture of accident prevention and risk awareness
among its employees, particularly through the
provision of adequate informative and training
contents. We expect all our employees and
consultants to share this commitment and to
encourage compliance with the guidelines on
health and safety and the relevant preventive
measures of the FCA Bank Group.
Still in the social area, the FCA Bank Group
is committed to raising the awareness of its
directors, managers and employees on nondiscrimination issues. A work environment
where uniqueness of all employees is kept
in consideration, improves performance and
increases motivation. Aside from regulatory
obligations, the FCA Group believes that diversity
enhances performance and attractiveness.
Advancing gender diversity means creating

an open and responsible corporate culture
that fosters teamwork and growth. The teams
made up of different profiles reflect the Group’s
culture and allow us to create new models and
to meet our customers’ expectations, thereby
benefiting all of us. This commitment is attested
by concrete actions, such as the promotion of
women to management positions and board
committees or the integration of people with
disabilities.
The FCA Bank Group believes that it is its duty
to invest energies in social programs, supporting
them financially and encouraging its employees
to engage in volunteer activities, to help and
enliven the communities in which we live and
work. The development of social initiatives and
the support to different associations are witness
to our effort for the good of the community.
Lastly, our business plans are firmly rooted
in the solid and sustainable creation and
distribution of value, in conjunction with high
levels of capitalization and the reduction of the
business’s risk profile, with a focus on people and
innovation.
Chief Executive Officer and General Manager
Giacomo Carelli

Report on operations

- 87

88 -

Consolidated financial statment December, 31 2018

GROUP PROFILE
SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

50%

Fiat Chrysler Automobiles (FCA)
designs, engineers, manufactures and sells
vehicles and related parts and services,
components and production systems worldwide
through 159 manufacturing facilities, 87 R&D
centers, and dealers and distributors in more
than 140 countries.

50%

Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance
is a major player in the consumer credit market
in Europe, with a portfolio of euro 88.5 billion of
managed outstandings as at December 31, 2018.
Operating in 17 European countries, as well as
China and Morocco, Crédit Agricole Consumer
Finance distributes a broad range of personal
loans and associated services through all
distribution channels.
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GROUP STRUCTURE
AND GEOGRAPHIC PRESENCE
FCA Bank S.p.A. - with registered office in Corso
Giovanni Agnelli 200, Turin, Italy – is the Parent
Company of the FCA Bank Group with operations
in 18 countries.

FCA Capital Danmark A/S (Branch Finland)

FCA Capital Norge AS (NO)
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (UK Branch)
FCA Automotive Services UK Ltd (UK)

FCA Capital Sverige AB (SE)

FCA Dealer Services UK Ltd (UK)
Leasys UK Ltd (UK)

FCA Capital Danmark A/S (DK)
FCA
Capital
Danmark
Leasys
Nederland
B.V. A/S
(NL)(DK)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (Irish Branch)
FCA Capital RE DAC (IE)

FCA-Group Bank Polska S.A. (PL)

FCA Capital Nederland B.V. (NL)

FCA Leasing Polska Sp.Zo.o. (PL)

Leasys S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)
FCA Bank S.p.A. (Belgian Branch)

FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH (DE)
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH (DE)
Leasys S.p.A. (German Branch)
FCA Capital France S.A. (FR)

FCA Capital Suisse S.A. (CH)

Leasys France S.A.S. (FR)

FCA Bank GmbH (AT)

FCA Leasing France SNC (FR)

FCA Leasing GmbH (AT)

FCA Capital España EFC S.A. (ES)

FCA Bank S.p.A. (IT)

FCA Dealer Services España S.A. (ES)

Leasys S.p.A. (IT)

Leasys S.p.A. (Spanish Branch)

Win Rent S.p.A. (IT)

FCA Capital Portugal IF IC S.A. (PT)

FCA Capital Hellas S.A. (GR)

FCA Dealer Services Portugal S.A. (PT)

FCA Insurance Hellas S.A. (GR)
FCA Bank GmbH (Hellenic Branch) (GR)

FCA Dealer Services España (Morocco Branch)

Legend
Legal entity
Branch
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FCA BANK
STAKEHOLDERS
In 2018 the FCA Bank Group mapped its
stakeholders to promote different engagement
activities, on the basis of selected stakeholder
categories.
The Group has implemented a multi-year plan
of stakeholder engagement, so as to involve
gradually all the categories, in keeping with the
GRI principle of Stakeholder Inclusiveness.
In 2018 the following categories were involved:

• Employees and trade union representatives.
• Dealer.
• Banks and investors (falling in the Suppliers
category).
Below, a map is provided of the FCA Bank
Group’s stakeholders, as prepared in 2018.

STAKEHOLDER

Stakeholders

Employees

Civil society

Suppliers

Capital Market
and Investors

Public Administrations
Institutions

Dealer
Business partners

Media
Retail Costumers
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FCA BANK GROUP
MATERIAL TOPICS
Based on the recommendations of the GRI
Standard, the FCA Bank Group analyses regularly
the materiality, to identify material topics for the
FCA Bank Group and its stakeholders.
The material topics reflect the Bank’s significant
impacts on people, the environment and society.
The materiality analysis consists of two main
activities:
• Stakeholder involvement: the materiality
analysis entails the direct involvement of the
Group’s stakeholders.

• Internal assessment: once a year, Senior
Management evaluates the sustainability themes,
taking into account the importance of such
themes in relation to corporate activities and
strategies.
In 2018 the materiality matrix presented in 2017
was updated, and 14 material themes were
identified for the FCA Bank Group.

Internal control and
risk managment
Transparency towards the
markets and the authorities
Transparency of commercial communication
and in client relationship
Respect of human rights, ethics and integrity in managing the business

Significance for the stakeholders

Long-term value creation

Development and enhancement of human capital
Corporate governance
Diversity and equal opportunity

Financial
solidity
Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Innovation and
digitalization.
Privacy and data security

Relationship with business
partners and dealers
Employee well-being,
health and safety

Management of direct
environmental impacts

Significance for FCA Bank Group

Governance & Compliance

Product responsibility

Economic responsibility

People responsibility

Environmental responsibility
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GOVERNANCE
E COMPLIANCE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FCA Bank adopted a comprehensive set of rules
and procedures that establish the responsibilities
and inspire the conduct of our company boards
and officers, in order to ensure sound, prudent
management that achieves profitability while
taking on risk in an informed manner and doing
business with integrity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE
The Corporate Governance system and
Organisational Structure adopted by FCA
Bank work to ensure the healthy and prudent
management of the company and of the group
that it heads up, in compliance with existing
regulations and the development trajectories
that characterise them, with the Articles of

Association, as well as the corporate targets for
business development.
The Corporate Governance structure comprises
an administration and control system founded
on the existence of an administrative body (the
board of directors) and of the board of auditors.

PHILIPPE DUMONT
Chairman

GIACOMO CARELLI
CEO
General Manager

DAVIDE MELE
Director*

PAOLA DE VINCENTIIS
Indipendent Director

ANDREA FAINA
Director

ANDREA GIORIO
Indipendent Director

VALÉRIE WANQUET
Director

OLIVIER GUILHAMON
Director**

BERNARD MANUELLI
Director

RICHARD K. PALMER
Director

* appointed on 14/09/2018

Within the board of directors, comprising
ten board members, two directors operate in
possession of the requisites of independence. The
chairman of the board of directors does not have
executive powers. The board of directors has
delegated part of its powers to a chief executive
officer, who also acts as general manager.
The Deputy General Manager and Chief Financial
Officer attends the Board of Directors on a
permanent basis.
The board of directors has instituted four internal
board committees: Risk & Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, and Board Executive Credit
Committee.

** appointed on 25/01/2019

The board of directors exercises a strategic
supervision role, the CEO manages the business
while the board of statutory auditor performs
control functions.
An auditing company is appointed for legal
auditing in accordance with the law.
The organisational structure of FCA Bank S.p.A.
takes into account the company’s dual nature
of parent, on one hand, and Dealer and Retail
financing business management company, on the
other. Consequently, the company is organised
into Headquarter and Business Unit Italy
functions.
Additionally, the separation of business functions
and those directed towards internal control is
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rigorously ensured.
Matrix organisation is the method principally
followed to ensure effective coordination
between parent company and its subsidiaries.
FCA Bank S.p.A., a joint venture with equal and
joint control exercised by two partners, is not
subject to direction and coordination (acc. to art.
2497 Italian Civil Code) by any subject.
The Board of Directors is composed of ten
directors, appointed for a period not exceeding
three terms. save for any shorter term of office
established at the time of appointment, and
will lapse on the date of the general meeting of
shareholders convened to approve the financial
statements for their last year in office.
With reference to the integrity and experience
of directors, for the board of directors a
balance is sought between homogenization
and diversification of skills, aptitudes and
characteristics of the directors, considering the
peculiarities of the bank (and the Group), its
strategy and its operations.
he members of the Board of Directors must

possess the qualifications expressly provided
for by the applicable regulations, devote time
and resources appropriate to the complexity of
their task, comply with the limits relating to the
number of offices and positions held and not be
in a situation of incompatibility pursuant to article
36 of Legislative Decree 201/11.
As indicated in its Rules of Functioning, which
were first approved on 25 July 2014, the board of
directors fosters the achievement of an adequate
degree of diversification of its members, not
only in terms of skills but also in terms of age,
gender, geographical origin, international
projection, managerial characteristics. With
specific reference to women’s participation, the
board is aware of the supervision authorities
encouragement to banks to make room for more
women in their boards of directors. In fact, the
shareholders met the expectation expressed by
the Bank of Italy, to have a board of directors
with women filling at least 20% of total posts,
by appointing two women as members of the
current board of directors.

Directors by age group
and gender

31/12/2018
30-50

>50

Total

Total %

Male

2

6

8

80%

Female

1

1

2

20%

Total

3

7

10

100%
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SUSTAINABILITY
GOVERNANCE
In 2018 the FCA Bank Group took a number
of actions to reinforce its commitment in the
sustainability field. The preparation of the FCA
Bank Group’s Non-Financial Disclosure for the
year ended 31 December 2018 is based on the
following structured process:
• Approval of the Non-Financial Disclosure by the
Board of Directors – which oversees sustainability
activities with the support of Senior Management
- at the meeting convened to discuss and
approve the 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements.
• During the formal Staff Meeting, chaired
by the CEO, Senior Management oversees
the sustainability aspects (e.g. the reporting
process, the materiality analysis, interaction with
the stakeholders) and supports the Board of
Directors in shaping sustainability governance.

• FCA Bank delegates the operational activities
related to sustainability to the Consolidated
Financial Reporting department. This department
reports to Senior Management to define the
process of sustainability reporting and is
responsible for coordinating the preparation of
the Non-Financial Disclosure, thanks also to the
support of a dedicated Working Group.
• The involvement, through the Working Group,
of all the Company departments responsible for
the various areas and the relevant information.
The Working Group cooperates with the
Consolidated Financial Reporting department in
implementing and monitoring the activities and
specific initiatives, such as data and information
gathering to prepare the Consolidated NonFinancial Disclosure.
The Consolidated Non Financial Disclosure,
submitted to EY S.p.A. for assurance on in
the form of a limited review, is published in
the Group’s Consolidated Annual Financial
Statements on the corporate website and
submitted to Consob by certified e-mail.
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Stefano Leucci
FCA Bank SpA
Data Protection Officer

Protecting customer data

All innovations that FCA Bank Group is daily
deploying deeply rely on personal data.
Personal data are digital breadcrumbs that our
customers leave behind them when engaging
with our operations and services. We, as an
organization, have made a clear choice: deserve
their trust on a daily base. Personal data
protection is not something new. The European
Directive was out from 1995, but something
recently changed. After the longest legislative
process of the entire European Union history, the
General Data Protection Regulation (also known
as GDPR) came into force from the 25th of May,
2018.
GDPR was a strong response to societal
problems. According to the European
Commission and Eurobarometer, 81 percent of EU
citizens complained that they had no control over
their personal data online, 69 percent did not
get any explicit approval before their data was
collected online and 24 percent did not trust in
online businesses.
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Nowadays, GDPR still protect sensitive data
from hacker attacks but does lots more. The first
important innovation is that we - as companies have to learn how to speak in a clearer language,
explaining to our customers how we process
their data. Only in this way they can obtain a
truly informed consent. Then, customers have
stronger rights and simpler way for exercising
them. Data access, cancellation, right to be
forgotten and right to data portability can be
considered as expensive requirements or ways
for doing business in better ways. Finally, the one
we consider the most innovative aspect of the
GDPR, we have to improve human controls on
algorithms in order to prevent biases and giving
people the possibility to govern them.
Lots of work has been done within FCA Bank. A
huge effort has been put for reaching compliance
to the new European rules. Most important
stream was dedicated to re-design legal
documentation and digital platforms in order to
manage consents and retention timing. For FCA
Bank, GDPR means people first.
We have then worked in order to put people
at the core of the GDPR innovation, starting
from a re-organization of the company in order
to manage roles and responsibilities. We have
worked both on a general and a special training
dedicated to each and every department in order
to spread awareness over each colleague at
every level of the organization. Finally, we have
empowered our customers in order to manage
their data and consent within the new Customer
Portal.
An intense data-driven future is waiting for
us. We will continue putting data protection
at the core of our business, transforming data
protection into a business habit and going
beyond pure legal compliance. Only if we
continue on this path, GDPR can become a truly
business factor and enabler.
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The Control
functions
INTERNAL AUDIT
The Internal Audit department reports directly
to the Board of Directors and is responsible for
third-level controls, reviewing, based on the
annual audit plan approved by the Board of
Directors, the adequacy of the system of internal
control and providing the Board of Directors and
management with a professional and impartial
opinion on the effectiveness of internal controls.
The head of Internal Audit is responsible for
preparing the audit plan, on the basis of a
periodic risk assessment, and coordinates the
audit missions. He reports on the findings and
progress of the audit plan from time to time
to the Board of Directors, the Risk & Audit
Committee, the Internal Control Committee and
the Board of Statutory Auditors. Internal Audit is
responsible for the internal review, at least once
a year, of the ICAAP - to ensure that it functions
properly and is compliant with the applicable
rules – and the periodic examination of the
process to evaluate individual risks.
The internal audit process calls for each
Company to map its own risks on an annual basis,

by using a common methodology issued by the
Parent Company. For those subsidiaries that do
not have an internal audit function locally, risk
mapping is performed by the Parent Company.
Monitoring of the individual companies’ internal
audit activities takes place through a system of
quarterly reports on;
• the progress of the audit plan and explanation
of any deviations;
• all the audits carried out during the quarter
under review;
• the status of implementation of the
recommendations issued.
The Board of Directors is apprised regularly of
the audit findings, the action plans undertaken,
the progress of the plan and the level of
implementation of the recommendations to the
individual companies. In 2018 the central team
completed 26 audit missions, as per the annual
plan shared with the Board of Directors.
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RISK AND PERMANENT
CONTROL
This function is tasked with the design and
implementation of a risk prevention and control
system. Risk & Permanent Control at the
Parent Company level includes staff dedicated
to permanent controls that are not involved
in business activities. Second-level controls
performed by Risk & Permanent Control focus on
the following risks:
• credit
• market
• financial
• operational
related to financial information. The results of
second-level controls performed by Risk and
Permanent Control are reported quarterly during
the Internal Control Meeting and illustrated in the
six-monthly and annual Internal Control Reports.
The Risk Management area, in the Risk and
Peermanent Control department, has managed,
since 2015, its Risk Appetite Framework (“RAF”),
which is designed to express the risk that the
Bank is willing to bear to pursue its objectives.
The Board of Directors approved the RAF on
26 March 201, monitoring and updating it on
a quarterly basis. The process to define the

Risk Appetite Framework, as the standard
to determine the risk propensity that sets in
advance the risk objectives that the Group
intends to meet, fosters also a broader
dissemination of the risk culture within the
Group.
The development of the Group’s Risk Appetite
Framework required the identification of the
relevant risk measures considered significant by
the Group:
• capital adequacy;
• profitability;
• credit risk;
• operational risk;
• financial risks.
Moreover, this function coordinates the
consolidated ICAAP.
In Italy FCA Bank S.p.A. has been developing and
documenting the ICAAP since 2008 and, based
on the ICAAP, it evaluates, at least once a year,
its own current and prospective capital adequacy
in relation to the risks taken and the corporate
strategies adopted.
Risk & Permanent Control (R&PC) is represented
in every Group company by a local contact.
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COMPLIANCE
Compliance risk is the exposure to judicial or
administrative sanctions, significant financial
losses or damage to reputation due to breaches
of imperative rules (laws and regulations) or selfregulations (e.g. articles of association, codes of
conduct, corporate governance codes).
The objective of the Compliance & Supervisory
Relations function is to monitor compliance
and money-laundering risks through a riskbased approach and to manage relations with
the supervisory authorities. The head of the
function is in charge of anti-money laundering
and responsible for the reports of suspicious
transactions. This manager also chairs the
supervisory body of both the Company and its
subsidiary Leasys S.p.A..
The Compliance & Supervisory Relations
department reports directly to the Company’s
CEO and General Manager.
The main Compliance & Supervisory Relations
responsibilities concern directly the Company
and, in terms of coordination and supervision,
Leasys and the foreign markets. More specifically,
to evaluate the adequacy of internal procedures
in preventing non-compliance with laws, rules

and self-regulation provisions, the Compliance
function:
• identifies, in cooperation with the departments
concerned, particularly Legal Affair, the rules
applicable to the Company and the Group, and
evaluates their impact on activities, processes
and procedures;
• proposes procedural and organizational
changes to ensure adequate control over noncompliance risk;
• prepares reports for officers and governance
bodies and other internal control functions;
• assesses the effectiveness of procedural and
organizational adjustments suggested to prevent
non-compliance risk;
• coordinates the activities of the supervisory
body, ensuring that the compliance program
under Legislative Decree 231/01 is constantly
upgraded;
• participates in the identification of training
requirements and in personnel training activities
to disseminate a corporate culture driven by the
principles of honesty, integrity and compliance
with the rules.
The function is involved in the ex-ante
assessment of compliance with the applicable
regulations of all innovative projects, including
new products and services. In addition, it advises
and assists the company’s corporate bodies
and cooperates in staff training activities to
disseminate a corporate culture inspired by the
principles of honesty, fairness and compliance
with the applicable rules.
Regarding anti-money-laundering and antiterrorism, the function assesses that the
Company’s procedures are consistent with the
objective of preventing and combating the
breach of external (laws and regulations) and
internal rules on anti-money-laundering and
terrorist financing.
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Board
committees
The Board of Directors has decided to
institute certain internal board committees, for
consultation and proposal purposes, to facilitate
the work of the board itself.
In particular, FCA Bank has instituted the Risk &
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,the
Remuneration Committee as required by the
regulations, and the Board Executive Credit
Committee, here below described.

RISK & AUDIT COMMITTEE
Pursuant to the supervisory provisions on
corporate governance, the Risk & Audit
Committee (RAC) provides support to the Board
of Directors on risks and the internal control
system as well as the proper use of accounting
standards for the preparation of the separate and
consolidated financial statements.
With reference to risk management and control,
the Committee supports the Board of Directors
in:
• defining and approving risk management
strategies and policies; in connection with the
Risk Appetite Framework (RAF), the Committee
evaluates and makes recommendations for the
Board of Directors to define and approve the
risk objectives (“Risk Appetite”) and the risk
tolerance threshold (“Risk Tolerance”);
• verifying the proper implementation of risk
management strategies, policies and RAF;
• defining the policies and processes to evaluate
corporate activities;
• the preliminary review of the audit plan, the
activity plans of second-level control functions
and the periodic reports of the control functions
to the Board of Directors;
• assessing the adequacy of corporate risk
control functions, the internal control procedures
and the reports necessary to ensure that the
Board of Directors is properly and exhaustively
informed.
The Committee consists of two independent
Directors, who alternate as its chair at the
mid-point of the three-year term of office of
the board. The meetings of the Committee are
attended, without voting rights, by the chairman
of the board of statutory auditors and the head
of Internal Audit, who acts as secretary.
Meetings of the Committee can also be attended,
without voting rights, by two other directors
and by the heads of the second-level control
functions.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the supervisory provisions on
corporate governance, the Nomination
Committee supports the Board of Directors in
the process for the nomination and co-optation
of directors for the Banking Group, in the
process for the nomination and co-optation of
directors for FCA Bank S.p.A., in the process for
the selection and appointment of independent
directors, in the Board’s self-assessment and in
the CEO & General Manager succession process
and in ensuring the effective implementation of
the Talent Review process.
The Committee makes recommendations and
provides opinions to the Board of Directors,
which in turn makes available to it the resources
necessary to perform its tasks with the help of
external consultants, within the limits set by the
budget and through the Company’s departments.
The Committee provides regular reports on
its activities to the Board of Directors and the
shareholders.
The Committee was established on 23 March
2016, pursuant to a resolution of the Board of
Directors, is made up, temporarily, since 30 June
2017 of 3 non-executive directors with voting
rights, including 2 independent members and
one non-executive director designated by one
of the shareholders, with the other shareholder
nominating the fourth director, who has no voting
rights.
The Committee is chaired by an independent
director or, in his absence, by the other
independent director. The chair’s term of office
expires on 30 September of the second year
of the Board’s term of office, with the rotation
into office of the other independent director.
Meetings of the Committee can be attended,
without voting rights, by the Chairman of the
Board of Statutory Auditors (or by a Statutory
Auditor designated by him), the CEO & General
Manager, the heads of the control functions
and the members of the Board of Directors.
The secretary of the Board of Director acts as
secretary of the Committee and may designate a
substitute to replace him in this function.
The Committee’s chair has the casting vote, in
case of a tie. In such a case, the matter voted
will be re-discussed by the Board of Directors,
after it had been briefed by the chair of the
Committee on the different positions adopted by
the members.

Pursuant to the supervisory provisions on
corporate governance, the Remuneration
Committee acts in a consultative and advisory
capacity for the Board of Directors on
remuneration and incentive practices and policies
of the FCA Bank Group.
Specifically, the Committee submits to the Board
of Directors, after consultation with the CEO &
General Manager, proposals on incentives, the
document on remuneration policies and a report
on their application (ex-post disclosure) for
the annual approval by the shareholders at the
general meeting.
The Committee provides regularly to the Board
of Directors and the shareholders adequate
information on the activity performed.
The Board of Directors makes available to it the
resources necessary to perform its tasks with
the help of external consultants, within the limits
set by the budget and through the Company’s
departments.
The Committee, established on 23 March
2016, pursuant to a resolution of the Board of
Directors, is made up, temporarily, since 30 June
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2017 of 3 non-executive directors with voting
rights, including 2 independent members and
one non-executive director designated by one
of the shareholders, with the other shareholder
nominating the fourth director, who has no voting
rights.
The Committee is chaired by an independent
director or, in his absence, by the other
independent director. The chair’s term of office
expires on 30 September of the second year of
the Board’s term of office, with the handover
to the other independent director. Meetings of
the Committee can be attended, without voting
rights, by the Chairman of the Board of Statutory
Auditors (or by a Statutory Auditor designated
by him), the CEO & General Manager, the heads
of the control functions and the members of the
Board of Directors. The secretary of the Board of
Director acts as secretary of the Committee and
may designate a substitute to replace him in this
function.
The Committee’s chair has the casting vote, in
case of a tie. In such a case, the matter voted
will be re-discussed by the Board of Directors,
after it had been briefed by the chair of the
Committee on the different positions adopted by
the members.
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BOARD EXECUTIVE CREDIT
COMMITTEE
The Board of Directors has delegated to the
Board Executive Credit Committee (BECC)
the credit approval decisions with which it is
concerned, which, according to the current
delegation of powers model, are not entrusted
to the corporate bodies. This delegation is given
in all cases where the date of the first scheduled
Board meeting is not compatible with the
urgency of the credit decisions to be made.
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Other committees involved in
the Internal Control System
To strengthen the Internal Control System, the Group established, in addition
to the above functions, the following committees:

INTERNAL CONTROL
COMMITTEE
The mission of the Internal Control Committee
(“ICC”) is to monitor the results of the activities
performed by the Company’s functions
responsible for the internal control system for the
purpose of:
• reviewing the findings of audit activities;
• providing a progress report on action plans;
• submitting the Audit Plan and related progress
reports;
• analyzing any problems and issues arising from
the internal control system.
Moreover, it acts as the anti-fraud committee
with the objective to monitor fraud events, the
effectiveness of the fraud prevention systems in
place and the adequacy of the control systems
related to fraud detection.
The Committee is chaired by the CEO and its
meetings see the participation of the CFO &
Deputy General Manager, representatives of

the internal control functions, the head of Legal
Affairs. Internal Audits acts as secretary. The
ICC meets on a quarterly and on a six-monthly
basis and such meetings can be attended also by
representatives of the internal control function of
the two shareholders.
Such meetings are a time where reports are made
to senior management on the results of secondand third- level activities on progress with
action plans implemented as a result of findings
and recommendations, including findings and
recommendations made after inspections by local
supervision authorities.
The involvement of the CEO and General Manager
guarantees the high degree of effectiveness of
the internal control system, given that he has a
full and integrated overview of the findings of the
audits performed, which permits implementation
of the necessary corrective or remedial actions in
case of flaws or anomalies.
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GROUP INTERNAL RISK
COMMITTEE
The Group Internal Risk Committee (“GIRC”)
engages in policy-setting and monitoring to
ensure that the Group’s internal control system
prevents and manages risks effectively. The
activity carried out is more analytical than that
of the other control committees, as it explores in
great detail the Risk Strategy that every head of
the Group companies develops and submits to
the GIRC every year, pursuant to the Group Risk
Management policy approved by the Board of
Directors.
In addition, the GIRC is convened whenever the
market or the Company faces a liquidity crisis
and - in its restricted form, which is referred to
as NPA committee – evaluates and approves
proposals of new products and activities coming
from the markets.
Meetings of the GIRC - which are chaired by the
Managing Director and General Manager - are
open to senior managers and, when called upon,
to the Heads of the Group companies.

Attendance is also open to the heads of the three
internal control functions, as observers without
voting rights but with the authority, for Risk &
Permanent Control, to provide an opinion on risk
levels in the various areas and any hedging and
mitigation thereof. In addition, in case of approval
of new products and activities, Compliance &
Supervisory Relations may exercise veto rights
in relation to aspects falling within its purview.
Participation of the control functions in this
committee fosters critical interaction with the
business units; accordingly such participation is
both necessary and appropriate, so as to prevent
the creation of an excessive distance between
the control functions and the operational
context, without prejudice to the indispensable
professional autonomy of the control functions.
The absence of voting rights for the control
functions within the GIRC is further evidence,
among others, to the separation between
operational and control functions.

Board of Statutory
Auditors
The board is composed of three members and
two alternates appointed for a period of three
terms.
To the Board of Statutory Auditors are assigned
the tasks referred to in the first paragraph of
art. 2403 of the Italian Civil Code and the rules
governing banking activity.
The Board of Statutory Auditors currently in office
has been appointed by the Ordinary Shareholders
Meeting held on 30 March 2018 for the financial
years 2018 - 2020 and will expire with the
approval of the financial statements of the last
financial year.

FRANCESCO PISCIOTTA
President

PIERGIORGIO RE
Auditor

GIOVANNI OSSOLA
Auditor

VITTORIO SANSONETTI
Alternate Auditor

DAVIDE CHIESA
Alternate Auditor
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Internal control and
risk management

THE INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM
FCA Bank has provided itself with an internal
control system directed towards continuously
detecting, measuring and checking the risks
connected to the performance of its own activity
which involves the Corporate Bodies, the control
functions and committees, the Supervisory Body,
the Auditing Companies, Top Management and all
staff.
The internal control system comprises the
sum of rules, functions, structures, resources,
processes and procedures that aim to ensure the
achievement of the following aims:
• checking the implementation of corporate
strategy and policies;
• the containment of risk within the limits
indicated in the reference framework for
determining the intermediary’s propensity to risk Risk Appetite Framework “RAF”;
• safeguarding the value of the assets and
protection against losses;
• effectiveness and efficiency of corporate
processes;
• reliability and security of corporate information
and IT procedures;
• averting the risk that the intermediary is
involved, even involuntarily, in illegal activities –
with particular reference to those connected with
money laundering, usury and the financing of
terrorism;
• compliance of operations with the law and
supervisory regulations, as well as with internal
policy, regulations and procedures;
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RISK
MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES
FCA Bank attaches great importance to the
measurement, management and control of risks.
In this particular case, the parent company plays
a role of guidance, management and control of
risks at Group level, activating operational plans
of action that allow a reliable coverage of all risk
contexts.
The guiding principles of the risk management and
control system are:
• a clear identification of responsibilities in taking
risks;
• measurement and control systems in line with
Supervisory provisions and with the most widely
adopted solutions at the international level;
• organisational separation between operational
functions and control functions.
Regarding completeness, the activities carried out
in 2017 led to the extension of both the processes
of strategic support to directors and officers
and the risk management processes, which now
address all types of risk considered significant in
regulatory and management terms.
FCA Bank updates every year its risk strategy,
setting the risk levels that the Group considers
adequate to its growth strategy. Through this
strategy, which is submitted for approval to the
Group Internal Risk Committee, the overall limits
(alert thresholds) are set, together with the limits
attributable to each Group entity. This limit and/ort
alert threshold system is submitted for approval
to the Board of Directors of the Parent Company,
FCA Bank.
This framework is designed to ensure consistency
among the business model, the strategic and
budget plan, the ICAAP and the internal control
system, setting maximum risk levels for the
different areas.

During the 2017, Risk & Permanent Control
continued the development of the activities
described above through the steps below:
• Risk and Permanent Control renewed the entire
process of group risk management in order to
define a clear and consistent document structure
• Regarding the Group Risk Management (GRM)
process, Risk and Permanent Control requested
again every Country Manager to revise the annual
Risk Strategies for the subsidiaries under their
stewardship. In this context, Markets prepared
the second-level Risk Appetite Framework, with
metrics and thresholds consistent with the Parent
Company’s.
• as per the “guidelines on ICAAP and ILAAP
information collected for SREP purpose” report,
Risk and Permanent Control has updated its
ICAAP report and introduced a new business
process for the management of the adequacy of
the Group's liquidity (ILAAP)
In light of the above, it is noted that the risk
management processes are based on such key
factors as the defined governance profiles, the
stated risk propensity and the identification of
risk takers and are structured in keeping with
the phases required by rules and regulations
and contemplated by professional practice
(identification, measurement/valuation,
monitoring, reporting, criticality management).
For this reason, the risk management processes
are considered adequate to ensure that company
operations are carried out in keeping with sound
and prudent principles, operational limits, timely
reporting to pre-established hierarchical levels and
that appropriate corrective actions are taken to
address any criticalities.
Furthermore, the adequacy of risk management is
guaranteed by the active participation of Risk and
Permanent Control in specific committees:
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• The Internal Control Committee (ICC), which
coordinates the control functions (IA, C&SR, Risk
And Permanent Control), and the set of internal
control mechanisms;
• The Credit Committee, which performs analyses
and assessments, drives the risk strategy in
managing and monitoring global and operational
credit limits;
• The ALM Meeting, which monitors and controls
all financial risks (market and counterparty in
liquidity management transactions) as well as
interest rate and currency risks;
• The New Product and Activity Committee, with
the task of improving the management of risks
specific to new activities and products that might
change the company’s risk profile.
• The Risk & Audit Committee (R&AC),
established by the Board of Directors on 17
September 2014 in view of the transformation
into a Bank and in accordance with Bank of Italy’s
instructions on corporate governance.
• The Risk & Audit Committee supports the
Board of Directors on risks and the internal
control system and the assessment for the proper
use of accounting standards in consolidated
and separate financial reports. In particular, it is
responsible for all instrumental and necessary
activities for the Board of Director to determine
properly and effectively the Risk Appetite
Framework and risk management policies.
Every foreign company ensures
a suitable
level of risk management in proportion to its
size and activities and in accordance with the
guidelines set out every year by the Parent
Company.
The functioning of the internal control system is
considered effective.
Such effectiveness is preserved over time
thanks to maintenance and upgrading activities
as well as the development of methodologies,
organisational arrangements, processes,
procedures, software applications and tools.
Risk and Permanent Control monitors risks
through its annual control and activity plan,
which includes:
• The identification of areas where existing
procedures need to be upgraded and the
creation and upgrade of new risk management
procedures;
• Monitoring of regulatory developments;
• Analysis and issue of opinions on credit, financial
and operational risks (e.g. NPA, scoring, etc.);
• Training activities to disseminate an integrated
risk culture (second level RAF, BCP, Permanent
Control Tool).

FCA Bank’s risk management framework features
the following aspects:
• verification that company policies and
strategies are implemented;
• curbing of risk within the limits set out in the
Bank’s Risk Appetite Framework (RAF);
• protection of value of assets and against losses.
The foremost safeguard of the internal control
system is the professionalism of the employees
who, within the framework of the corporate
organisational rules and references, are tasked
with the duty of performing control activities,
reviewing the relevant findings and assessing risk
factors and related exposure levels prospectively.
The employees assigned to Risk and Permanent
Control, who are adequate in qualitative terms,
have generally university level education in
economics, mathematics and statistics and
have a good knowledge of the regulatory and
methodological aspects, suitable technical skills
and professional expertise suited for the task.
The methodologies, models and software
applications utilised are common in the banking
industry and are adequately tested and validated
within the company.

NON-FINANCIAL RISKS
In addition to risks typical of the banking
sector, the FCA bank Group is also aware of the
importance of monitoring non-financial risks:
Strategic risk:
It is the risk of incurring operating or capital
losses due to inadequate company decisions,
the wrong implementation of such decisions, an
inappropriate allocation of resources or a lack
of response to changes in the overall company
context.
Reputational risk:
It is the current or prospective risk of operating
or capital losses due to the negative perception
of the bank’s image by customers, counterparts,
shareholders, investors, authorities. The Group
considers this as an “indirect risk” in that it
derives from other risk categories that can have
also consequences for the bank’s image, including
operational risk and compliance risk.
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Compliance risk:
It is the risk of incurring judicial or administrative
sanctions, significant financial losses or damage
to the reputation after the violation of imperative
norms (laws, rules, regulations) or self-regulation
(e.g. articles of association, codes of conduct,
codes of ethics). Thus, this risk can give rise to a
reputational risk.

- 109

Monitoring these risks is a necessary condition to
generate and protect sustainable value over time.
This activity reflects on aspects that the Group
considers as a priority - such as maintenance of
a high service quality and customer satisfaction,
transparency of the information on products and
services, innovation, multichannel engagement,
digitalization and data security - to guarantee
the ethics and integrity of the business and to
protect the brand.

Correlation material topics, main risks
and risk controls
Macro-area

Governance
& Compliance

Material Topic

Main Risks

Risk Controls

Internal control and risk
management

Reputational risk arising
from non-compliance with
rules

Respect of human rights,
ethics and integrity in
managing the business

Operational risk:
Conduct Risk

In relation to these topics, FCA
Bank has second-level controls
in place by the Compliance function, regarding reputational risk,
and Risk & Permanent Control,
regarding Conduct Risk. Internal
Audit performs third-level controls.

Corporate governance

Economic
responsibility

Long-term
value creation

Reputational risk arising from
non-compliance with rules

Financial solidity

Reputational risk resulting
from an estimate of the
potential financial impact
determined by reputational
damage

Transparency towards
the markets
and the authorities
Innovation and
digitalization, Privacy
and data security

Product
responsibility

Service quality and
customer satisfaction
Relationship with
business partners
and dealers

Risk of non-compliance with
regulations on personal data
protection and transparency
in the distribution of banking
and financial services
Operational Risk: Conduct
Risk
IT Risk
Strategic Risk

Transparency of commercial communication and
in client relationship
Development and enhancement of human capital

People
Responsibility

Employee well-being,
health and safety

Transparency with markets and
authorities is guaranteed by the
Compliance Function, through
second-level controls of non-compliance risk. The creation of value in
line with the Bank’s strategic plan
is reviewed by Risk and Permanent
Control through the application
and constant monitoring of the Risk
Appetite Framework approved by
the Board of Directors.
The risk of non-compliance with
regulations on personal data
confidentiality and customer
transactions is managed through
monitoring by the Data Protection
Function.
The risk of non-compliance with
regulations on transparency of banking and financial services is managed through second-level controls
by the Compliance Function.
The product creation process
involves the formalized participation of the various company and
Group functions competent for the
various areas. The associated risk
is managed through second-level
controls by the Risk Management
and Compliance Functions.

Risk of non-compliance
with regulations on the
health and safety of
employees and with
labour laws

First-level controls in relation to
labour laws, including company
benefits, are performed by
Human Resources

Risk of non-compliance
with environmental laws

This risk is managed in cooperation with FCA Group, which
complies with the provisions of
the applicable laws and regulations in force

Diveristy and equal
opportunity

Environmental
responsibility

Management of direct
environmental impacts
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Report on operations
Luca Pollano
Head of
Information & Communication
Technology

The innovative ICT solutions
of FCA Bank to boost
efficiency

Following its conversion into a bona fide
banking institution in 2015, FCA Bank has
chosen a challenging attitude by adopting an
all-digital approach. IT systems are one of the
most important assets for any bank and for
stakeholders having the information they need
whenever and wherever they are, is a factor
capable of generating added value more than
any other, offering the possibility of making wellinformed decisions quickly.
For this reason, short-term solutions are not
enough. Companies seeking strong digital
performance must necessarily transform their
Information & Communication Technology
functions.
FCA Bank has activated a medium-to-long term
plan with the goal of establishing a position
in step with most recent digital news and the
most innovative ICT solutions, in continual
improvement perspective for end customers.
In the strategic ICT solution implement plan,
FCA Bank has launched an initiative to develop a
state-of-the-art integrated platform named CRFS
(Common Retail Financing System) to manage
the retail financing and leasing business, which is
already available in Germany and Austria.
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The current project will include completing the
platform with Point Of Sale, Underwriting and
Data Warehouse components. These are frontend solutions for dealers and back-end solutions
for validating and activating financing contracts.
The delivery plan for Poland was finished in May
2018 with France scheduled for January 2019.
The main beneficiaries will be Dealers and FCA
Bank structures because they will have a tool
which is easy to use and capable of providing
integrated information allowing them to optimise
the creation, approval and management process
of financing contracts as a consequence. It will
imply major improvements in the service offered
to end customers.
Similar objectives and benefits will be achieved
by implementing the Miles platform in the
Netherlands and Belgium.
Miles will be able to manage financing retail
operations on both markets and rental operations
in the Netherlands only. The project has been
recently delivered and the electronic signature
process will be integrated by the end of the year.
The Belgian project also includes starting up
the first SAP S/4 Hana implementation (the
innovative SAP platform) for FCA Bank, for
accounting and controlling processes of the
branch in addition to integration with Miles.
Another key innovation approved in July 2018 has
the potential to revolutionise and improve life in
the company. FCA Bank launched an automation
journey, the so called RPA (Robotic Process
Automation), for some activities performed
manually, such as integrating data from different
systems and sources, with the goal of avoiding
the need for employees to perform repetitive
activities with low added value.
The project is part of a wider initiative currently
in progress in FCA Group and in CACF and which
will provide relevant benefits, such as:
• Risk reduction, by improving control and
tracking of performed activities.
• More personnel satisfaction – by reducing
repeating activities, people will be able to focus
on work of higher cognitive and intellectual value.
• Process costs reduction and productivity
increase.
The innovative ICT solutions of FCA Bank
will increasingly allow to support digital
transformation and boost efficiency in the
company.
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RESPECT OF HUMAN RIGHTS,
ETHICS AND INTEGRITY
IN MANAGING THE BUSINESS
The FCA Group feels that compliance with
internal and external rules and the highest
standards of integrity, honesty and fairness are
key factors for the successful management of the
business.
In particular, compliance with the rules fosters
the creation and maintenance of a healthy
competitive landscape, ensuring the protection
of the rights of customers and contributing to the
development of the territory and the community.
To ensure an adequate, functional, reliable and
complete risk management system, the FCA
Bank has created an internal control system that,
together with the assessment and subsequent
management of risks, might contribute to raise
employee awareness of particularly significant
issues (including the fight against corruption,
prevention of money laundering, combat of
terrorist financing), with special attention to the
dissemination of a compliance culture.

FIGHT AGAINST
CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY
As established by the Group Code of Conduct,
FCA Bank abides by the highest standards of
integrity, honesty and fairness in all relationships,
both within and outside the Company, and does
not tolerate any type of corruption. To this end,
the Group prepares internal rules, procedures and
controls, provides regular training and performs
audit and inspection activities. The Group
develops and maintains its business relationships
solely on the basis of its service offering and the
specific customer requirements and does not
engage in conduct intended, or that might even
appear intended, to secure improper benefits.
In addition, it adopts an approach designed
to prevent corruption episodes in structuring
and performing commercial transactions or
agreements.
The Code of Conduct states that the fight against
corruption is a primary common objective.
Regarding corruption prevention and the use of
illegal influence, the FCA Bank Group must refer
constantly to its values, particularly: honesty,
integrity, openness, transparency and impartiality.
The anti-corruption component contains the
fundamental principles for the implementation of
proper prevention measures, the detection and
thwarting of corrupt practices or the use of illegal
influence, by adopting a zero tolerance approach
to these behaviours. Other themes include gifts
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and invitations, discounts, conflicts of interest,
patronage, sponsorships and lobbying activities.
The Code of Conduct includes 29 principles
grouped in four theme areas and one such areas
if “Fight against corruption”
Specifically, the principles that deal with themes
related to corruption include:
• Fight against corruption
• Fight against the use of illegal influence in the
interaction with public officials
• Fight against bribes

•
•
•
•
•
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Conflicts of interests
Gifts and invitations
Lobbying and payments to political parties
Patronage and charitable activities
Sponsorships

In 2018 no cases of corruption were found.
In particular, in the area of anti-corruption, FCA
Bank adopted the following tools:
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GROUP CODE
OF CONDUCT
On 26 October 2018 FCA Bank’s Board of
Directors approved the Group’s new Code of
Conduct. The Code illustrates the principles
and rules of conduct that guide day-to-day
activities and relationships with internal and
external counterparties, such as the rules of
professional conduct that all Group employees
must follow. In fact, the Code aims to ensure
that all the members of the FCA Bank Group act
with utmost integrity, obeying the laws in force,
building a better future for the Company and the
community in which we operate. The FCA Bank
Group shares, and its Code of Conduct embodies,
the principles of the “Universal Declaration of
Human Rights” of the United Nations (“U.N.”),
the Conventions of the International Labour
Organization (“ILO”) and the Guidelines of
the Organization for Economic Development
and Cooperation (“OECD”) for multinational
companies.
Moreover, the new Code has been created so that
the structure and contents might be more closely
related to the banking sector and reinforce the
concepts of Customer Protection and Customer
Centricity.
The FCA Bank Group’s Code of conduct provides
that no one – director, manager or any other
employee, agent or representative – can, directly
or indirectly, give, offer, request, promise,
authorize, solicit or accept sums of money or
other benefits (including gifts or favors, other
than commercial object of small value, expressly
allowed by the applicable laws and compliant
with the Code and all the existing policies and
procedures), in relation to their activity for the
FCA Bank Group at any time and for any reason
which might, also unintentionally, compromise
independence, impartiality or integrity.

The Code includes a reference to anti-corruption
laws that have taken their inspiration from the
OECD Convention on “Combating bribery of
foreign public officials in international business
transactions”, the OECD’s guidelines and laws
such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
the UK Bribery Act or similar laws, which prohibit
the payment or the promise to pay, directly or
indirectly (e.g. through an intermediary), sums
of money or other benefits to officials/employees
of one’s own or other governments, officials/
employees of political parties or the armed
forces, officials of foreign parties or political
candidates; employees of bodies controlled or
owned by foreign governments; representatives
of international organizations, such as the United
Nations or the World Bank; or bodies /private
individuals, to obtain, maintain or secure any
undue commercial benefit.
In fact, the FCA Bank Group undertakes to
manage relationships (including lobbying
activities) with governments, authorities and
public institutions in accordance with the laws
and applicabkle ethical rules, as well as with
the Code and any Procedure applicable at the
local level. The FCA Bank Group’s relations with
government agencies, other authorities and
public institutions must be managed solely by the
competent offices.
Lastly, any transfer of money and other valuables
(payments, loans or any other transaction) to
public officials or employees are prohibited,
the only exception being the provision of
Company products, provided that such action
is not prohibited by the applicable laws, by the
ethical rules in force and is contemplated in the
Procedures of the FCA Bank Group.
The Code outlines also how the policies and
procedures to record the FCA Bank Group’s
internal accounting data are intended to ensure
that the accurate and complete internal recording
of all the company transactions.
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RESPECT OF HUMAN
RIGHTS AND PROTECTION
OFDIVERSITY

WHISTLEBLOWING GROUP
POLICY

The FCA Bank Group is committed to providing
a fair and non-discriminating work environment,
where employees are evaluated on the basis of
the contribution they make. This is of the essence
for our success as a Company. We can reach this
objective only if all accept their responsibilities
and treat colleagues, customers, suppliers
and visitors with respect and professionalism.
More specifically, each employee must work to
promote fairness and to create a discriminationand harassment-free environment, in accordance
with all the applicable laws. Our performance
evaluation and remuneration system are meritbased and operate in accordance with the laws in
force.

The FCA Bank adopts a Whistleblowing
Procedure to govern the submission, evaluation
and management of tips received by the
Company through dedicated channels. The
process is defined in accordance with articles
52-bis and 52-ter of the Consolidated Finance
Act (TUB) and with the provisions of Circular
285 of the Bank of Italy (Part 1, Title IV, section
VIII), in pursuance of article 71 of CRD IV and
is consistent with law no. 179 of 30 November
2017, concerning “Provisions for the protection of
parties who report offences or irregularities that
have come to their knowledge in public or private
employment”. The Procedure is addressed to
all the FCA Bank Group employees and to all
those who otherwise operate on the basis of
contracts, other than employment, involving
inclusion in the Group’s organization. The Code
of Conduct, the Whistleblowing Group Procedure
and the Compliance Program under Legislative
Decree 231/01 (hereinafter the Compliance
Program) constitute the set of internal rules
on whistleblowing. These documents reiterate
the Group’s commitment to protecting the
anonymity of the whistle-blower (who signs
the report or reports orally an event contrary
to ethical principles) and to ensuring that
employees reporting violations in good faith are
not subject to any kind of retaliation.

The Group values a fresh perspective and the
opinions of its employees and, to that end, it
started a structured project to determine the
perception of confidence and cohesion within the
Group through a survey called a Great Place to
Work. One of the topics surveyed was diversity
management. The high levels of acceptance show
that the internal perception is that people are
treated impartially regardless of ethnic origin,
sexual orientation or disability.
The FCA Bank Group operates with full respect
for human rights. In 2018 there were no
complaints/disputes related to discriminatory
practices against employees.

FCA Bank appointed the Head of Compliance
& Supervisory Relations (hereinafter C&SR) as
Head of the Internal Whistleblowing Systems,
who oversees that the procedure is followed
properly and reports directly and without delay
to management any significant tip received. This
executive prepares also the Annual report on the
proper functioning of the internal whistleblowing
system, approved by the board of directors and
made available to the bank’s staff.
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If a tip refers to any member of the Compliance
and Supervisory Relations staff, the Alternative
Function, within Internal Auditing, will be
activated. The activation of the Alternative
Function entails that none of the members of
C&SR should receive the tip or have a role in the
process to manage it.
The whistleblowing system makes it possible to
report all violations of the Code of Conduct of
the FCA bank Group, and any other domestic and
European rule, law and regulation applicable to
each Group company. In accordance with Circular
285 of the Bank of Italy, the system set up by
the Bank is suited to handle tips by employees
regarding actions or events that might constitute
a violation of the rules governing the banking
activity.
The channels activated by the Company to
submit a tip are the following:
• Dedicated online platform called FCA Bank
“Ethics Helpline”, available on the website and
accessible also through the intranet.
• Dedicated e-mail address.
• Oral or written communication to the Head
of the Internal Whistleblowing Systems (Group
Compliance Officer) or the local Compliance
Officer, who will in turn submit the tip to the
Group Compliance Officer.
• Written note to the Parent Company’s
Supervisory Board or, in case of tips related to
Leasys S.p.A., to the Supervisory Board of the
latter.
FCA Bank gives whistle-blowers the choice as to
whether they want to reveal their identity or not.
It is noted that local regulations might include
limits for anonymous tips.

The parties that receive, review and evaluate tips,
the Head of the internal whistleblowing systems
and any other party involved in the procedure
are required to ensure the confidentiality of the
information received, including that related to the
whistle-blower’s identity.
In keeping with article 52-bis of the TUB, a
whistle-blower’s identity can be revealed only
with his or her consent or when this identity is
paramount to defend the suspect.
FCA Bank undertakes to protect good faith
whistle-blowers against any retaliatory,
discriminating or otherwise unfair conduct as
a result of the tip. In case of proven bad faith,
FCA Bank may subject the whistle-blower to
disciplinary measures considered necessary or to
initiate proceedings in a court of law against him
or her.
Moreover, FCA Bank undertakes to guarantee, in
accordance with the applicable rules, a preferred
treatment to the whistle-blower, if he or she is
complicit in the breach.
Lastly, the Company undertakes to keep nonanonymous whistle-blowers updated on the
process.
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ETHICS PLATFORM
In continuing along its path to achieve a cultural
step change in whistleblowing, starting in June
2016, FCA Bank established the FCA Bank Ethics
Helpline in June 2016, a tool that can be used by
the FCA Bank Group’s employees to report to the
Company – in a complete, secure and confidential
manner – any breaches of the principles
contained in our Code of Conduct or any other
company policy (including suspected frauds,
wrongdoings and other type so inappropriate
behavior on the job), as well as laws, regulations
and banking and EU regulations applicable to the
Bank. It is an internet platform that, through a
simple and intuitive interface, guides the user in
submitting the tip. Its web-based nature makes
the tool highly usable, thanks to a platform that
can be accessed from any device, including
private ones. Moreover, the portal permits the
attachment of any type of file (documents,
videos, images) to support the tip, allowing the
whistle-blower to provide more accurate and
detailed information.
The platform and the data contained therein are
managed by an external supplier, that is why
the data archive is kept solely by the supplier,
ensuring that such data are processed in a

secure environment and in accordance with the
applicable privacy laws. The details of the tips
received are not stored in FCA Bank computers.
In this way, the Company achieves a higher level
of confidentiality and security.
The platform has been extended to all the
markets where local legislation allows it. Thus,
the web address to access the Ethics Helpline is
the same for all the countries. This configuration
makes for a centralized and consistent
management of all the tips, with clear benefits in
terms of internal control and data security.
The System makes it possible also to create a
dedicated communication channel between
the whistle-blower and the Company. In fact,
after a tip has been finalized, the system
returns to the user a dedicated password.
Through this password the user can access, by
clicking the “Follow up” button on the portal
homepage, a section dedicated to his or her tip,
where messages can be sent to the Company,
information can be added and any Company
feedback on the case in question can be viewed.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD AND COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM UNDER LEGISLATIVE DECREE
231/2001
FCA Bank SpA has put in place a Compliance
Program under Legislative Decree 231/2001 and
a Supervisory Board to prevent the perpetration
by its employees of all the offences included in
the list outlined by Legislative Decree 231/01,
including corruption and private-to-private
corruption. In meetings held at least every
quarter, the Supervisory Board oversees the
proper application of the program and monitors
the proper implementation of the audit and
training plan under Legislative Decree 231/01
approved by it. The audit plan, whose findings are
reported to the Supervisory Board, includes the
audits to prevent corruption offences, including:

the review of gifts, public relation expenses and
sponsorships; the review of the activities of the
procurement office; the review of due diligence
activities related to new suppliers; the review of
consulting and auditing expenses; the review of
any conflict of interests.
The Supervisory Board oversees the proper
functioning of, and compliance with, the Program,
reporting directly to the Board of Directors.

OdV FCA Bank

Compliance
& Supervisory
Relations

Internal Audit

External and
Independent
Member
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FIGHT AGAINST MONEY
LAUNDERING AND
THE FINANCING
OF TERRORISM
The FCA Bank Group adopts every measure to
combat money laundering and the financing
of terrorism or other criminal activities. Before
establishing business relations, the FCA Bank
Group and its managers or employees are
required to verify the necessary information
(including financial information) on potential
commercial counterparties, on suppliers and their
employees, to determine the respectability and
lawfulness of their business. The FCA Bank Group
must always comply with all the applicable antimoney-laundering laws and regulations.
In its capacity as a financial intermediary, FCA
Bank adopts suitable and appropriate safeguards,
in keeping with the provisions of the Group
policy and the rules on money laundering and the
financing of terrorism.

RECOGNIZING THE VALUE
OF COMPETITION AS PART
AND PARCEL OF THE
COMPANY CULTURE
The FCA Bank Group recognizes the fundamental
importance of a competitive market and
undertakes to comply with every rule in the area
of antitrust and competition. All of the Group’s
activities must be carried out in accordance with
the rules and regulations on competition and
with the internal policies. The basic principle is
that companies that operate in an open market
must set their own strategies independently. For
this reason, agreements among companies and
exchanges of sensitive information are strictly
prohibited.
To honour its commitment to comply with
antitrust rules and regulations in all the countries
in which it operates, the FCA Bank Group
participates in the Antitrust Compliance Program
of its manufacturing shareholder (or in any
other Antitrust Compliance Program that FCA
Bank should set up in the future), which is to
be regarded as forming an integral part of the
Group’s Code of Conduct.

See chapter “Significant events and strategic
transactions” with reference to the AGCM
procedure.

TRAINING
At FCA Bank training is an important support
tool in the dissemination of a compliance culture
on particularly important and sensitive issues.
Within the scope of the annual training program,
the Group carries out ad hoc training programs
for its employees and the distribution network
also on the following issues.
In the fight against corruption, the company
organizes periodically a mandatory course
for all employees on the Code of Conduct,
Whistleblowing and Legislative Decree 231/01
through an online platform. To raise greater
awareness on the issue at Group level, the course
is extended to all the markets.
Furthermore, the company performs classroom
training activities for all new employees, including
temporary and fixed-term employees as well as
interns, so as to provide basic knowledge on the
main laws applicable to the Bank. Moreover, as
regards Leasys, Legal Affairs holds periodically a
course on corruption for selected staff.
Lastly, certain Group companies hold periodically
for all their employees a course on corruption, in
keeping with the applicable local laws, through
the information system.
Regarding compliance with anti-moneylaundering rules, every year FCA Bank holds
a course on anti-money-laundering and the
financing of terrorism for all its employees and
the distribution network.
With respect to free competition, a course is held
periodically for all of the Group’s employees on
the Protection of Competition and the Market,
to provide additional helpful tools in identifying
and preventing also potentially anti-competitive
conducts.
All the courses held have a final test to determine
the learning level.
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Alberto Grippo
CEO Leasys S.p.A.

New mobility solutions

Within FCA Bank, Leasys is the Group
specializing in the provision of innovative
solutions that, by combining the new forms of
mobility in a full and coherent offering, put the
individual customer at the centre of its growth
strategy.
The market demands innovative mobility
solutions, which can be made available anytime
and anywhere, can provide flexible responses and
are suited to any circumstance. For Leasys this
has typically meant providing rental solutions
combined with a full range of services to relieve
the customer from the burdens and risks of
ownership. This is not enough anymore. Our
customers have constantly changing mobility
habits, expectations and needs and Leasys is
committed to pursuing growth by exploring the
new frontiers of mobility, to continue to respond
effectively to these new requirements.
Our objective is to exceed traditional Customer
Satisfaction standards and to embrace the
deeper concept of Human Satisfaction. This
entails a positive impact on people’s lives,
meeting their requirements in ways that go
well beyond a polite telephone interaction or
complying with a request in a relatively short
period of time. We aim to improve our customers’
Life Experience, not just their Customer

Experience.
Our offering can be summarized with three
words: innovative, integrated and easy-to-use.
In generating innovation, Leasys invests in
leading-edge technologies, both by developing
them internally and in cooperation with partners
that, sharing our passion for making a positive
impact on the consumer’s life, are driven by
the ambition to push forward the frontiers
of mobility in Europe and to set new market
standards with innovative and technologically
advanced solutions.
On the road toward integrated mobility, Leasys
aims to expand its coverage and to integrate its
offering in a seamless and coherent mobility
solution.
Thanks to the acquisition of Win Rent, a leading
Italian short-term car rental company with a
fleet of over 4,000 between passenger and
commercial vehicles and a network of 80 rental
locations, Leasys enhanced substantially its
mobility service offering.
With a view to improving access to and use
of its solutions, Leasys intends to become the
first 1-Stop-Shop Mobility Provider, to provide a
service capable of meeting constantly-changing
mobility requirements. These offerings are not
just innovative but integrated and complete,
capable of meeting with flexibility both structural
and temporary needs.
This is why, in 2018, we developed the U-Go
project, the first integrated car-sharing peer-topeer platform launched in Italy by a car rental
company. U-Go introduced innovative elements
in the car sharing market, for example by
expanding its offering with the vehicles of the car
rental company Win Rent.
With this strategic approach, Leasys is
committed to accelerating the definition of a new
mobility landscape. As such, Leasys intends to
master the new “mobility puzzle” that is taking
shape while it continues to change in lockstep
with the new customer habits in a context
increasingly oriented toward electric mobility.
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Arte 25

Win Rent

Leasys ended 2018 with the inauguration of its
new Italian and European headquarter, “Arte
25”, in the prestigious EUR district in Rome.
The new building accommodates 350 people
in a modern and comfortable environment that
reinforces Leasys’s role as international leader in
the mobility market. The new location conveys
a defined and recognizable image, reinforcing
the identification of resources with the company,
ensuring maximum comfort in terms of space,
brightness and acoustics.
In this headquarter, art is part of the everyday life.
Starting from december 2018, a partnership with
MUSEC, Museum of Cultures of Lugano, directed
by Francesco Paolo Campione, was born.
Artworks within a company can boost goodvibes
in the work environment.

Rome, 1 October 2018: The acquisition of this
short-term car rental company is a further step
in Leasys’s strategy to become a 360-degree
provider of mobility solutions for small and large
companies, government entities, professionals
and individuals.
The high quality level of service, the capillarity of
the network, customer management and a first
level managerial structure has allowed Win Rent
to stand out over the years for competitiveness
and transparency, qualities appreciated by Italian
and international customers.
Leasys will now be able to provide short-term car
rentals, in addition to medium- and long-term car
rentals, fleet management, corporate car sharing,
used car rental and the remarketing of vehicles
through the Clickar platform.
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COMPANY IDENTITY
The FCA Bank Group continues to pay attention
to Visual Identity. In 2018, the magazine FCA
Bank continued to be published. There were two
institutional communication events, at mid-year
and at year end, with the participation – directly
or in streaming – of all employees, where the
CEO and the Management Team illustrated the
Group’s results and performance. Still with a view
to reinforcing Visual Identity and Brand Value, the
Employer Branding project continued, both in Italy
and in foreign markets, to increase the company’s
visibility to the outside world and to improve the
selection and recruiting process through new
interface channels. Cooperation activities with
universities intensified to attract young talents.
In recent years, the impact that the most recent
technological developments in the digital field
will have on the Human Resources world, has
become evident. More frequently associated with
the business, these trends impose to HR different
ideas and approaches, in particular on talent
attraction processes. In short, they require a strong
turn towards the development of data analytics
skills and a more marketing-oriented approach.
Employer Branding is a perfect example of this. It
combines skills in recruiting and communication,
both internal and external, exploiting marketing
technicality and necessarily requires a strategy,
sharing with those who deal with marketing.
The need to attract talent by exploiting digital
channels, reducing time-to-hire, generating
consensus on the quality of experiences that
the employer can offer both to graduates and
professionals, leads to an evolution of the
recruitment concept itself, pushing companies to a
more proactive approach and comparison, through
a culture of feedback and ratings of customers - or
candidates – in an ever increasing manner. In this
scenario, FCA Bank has chosen and developed
digital recruitment processes, for a few years now,

through the careers pages of the official websites,
generating a greater and effective coverage of
the vacancy.
The Monster platform, the chosen ATS (Applicant
Tracking System) technology solution, allows
real-time cross-posting with the most popular job
boards in Europe and, internally, the sharing of
résumés among the different HR managers who
are searching for the ideal candidate. Search and
recruitment timing for all targets, up to the most
experienced middle management profiles, have
been significantly reduced; candidates apply for
FCA Bank positions because they are interested
in the company, resulting also in a significant
cost reduction due to digital recruiting. Moreover,
the system allows statistical and performance
analyses that quickly return useful indicators for
more effective targeting of recruiting actions.
On the external communication front, in terms of
Employer, FCA Bank, on the LinkedIn page, talks
about different types of business that manages
success stories, international recognition by
experts in the field, but also professional and
career paths of employees of different ages,
nationalities and professional background. The
continuous increase of the followers indicates
that the direction is the right one.
FCA Bank is an up to date company, which is
following the digital evolution and diversifying
its business. Although dedicated in particular to
the FCA brands, it has established partnerships
with other brands in the automotive sector
and continues to develop innovative banking
products, arousing the interest of experts in
the field and professionals who are looking for
challenging job opportunities.
Communicating these values provides useful
elements for delineating the DNA of those who
could fully become part of the team. Enthusiasm
and tenacity, the ability to contribute with
innovative ideas that translate into actions,
improvement of customer service, ambition to
maintain the positioning of the brand among
the best performers, are some of the essential
requirements that the ideal candidate must have.
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For those who show this kind of mindset, FCA
Bank offers courses and on-the-job learning
experiences that become the foundation for the
development of their managerial skills through
planned job rotation, including an international
path, and growth in core professional
competences. This is the ideal path to breed the
managers of tomorrow and increase the passion
for the Brand.
With the same passion, FCA Bank transmits the
pride of belonging when meeting with students
and recent graduates and more generally with
those who start to approach themselves the
world of work, finding in FCA Bank a solid reality
in which to grow professionally.
The partnership between HR and Business
in these initiatives is absolutely effective. In
universities or during Career Days, managers
have the ability to describe complex and
technical processes in a simple way, making
the business understandable even to a target
audience with no significant work experience.
FCA Bank is planning various activities aimed
at reaching a wider audience in the recruiting
field. We believe that the best form of Employer
Branding is to communicate exactly what we
are about: a well-established and performing
business reality, with great ambitions and growth
opportunities to offer to those who want to get
involved in a challenging environment.
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ECONOMIC
RESPONSIBILITY
Financial responsibility rests on the FCA Bank Group’s financial strength, a
fundamental condition to ensure the long-term sustainability of the business
and long-term value creation for all the Group’s stakeholders. These topics are
specifically referred to in the RAF and ICAAP documents.

Financial
solidity
OWN FUNDS

LEVERAGE RATIO

Own funds represent the minimum capital
requirements that banks are expected to meet
to deal with risks under Pillar 1 (credit, market,
foreign exchange, operational risk) and Pillar 2
(concentration, interest rate, liquidity, strategic,
reputational risk) and are the main focus of the
Supervisory Authority in judging the stability of
the bank.
As per the applicable regulations, the FCA Bank
Group’s minimum total capital ratio required is
9.96% of risk-weighted assets. At 31 December
2018, the Total Capital Ratio was 14.02%.

The leverage ratio is a measure of a bank debt
vis-à-vis its equity that was introduced to limit
the level of indebtedness of the banking sector.
At 31 December 2018 FCA Bank’s leverage ratio
was 10.22%, above the regulatory requirements.

Common equity tier 1 (CET 1) is made up of highquality components, mainly capital instruments
(e.g. ordinary shares) and reserves. As per the
applicable regulations, FCA Bank is expected to
meet a minimum required CET 1 ratio of 6.46%.
At 31 December 2018 the CET 1 ratio was 12.45%.

RATING
In 23 October 2018, following Italy’s
downgrading, Moody’s lowered the rating on
FCA Bank’s deposits and brought back to stable
(from positive, as raised on 6 July 2018) the longterm outlook. Similarly, on 30 October 2018 S&P
changed the outlook to negative (from stable), as
a result of a similar action on Italy’s rating.

Long-Term
Rating

Outlook

Short-Term
Rating

Long-Term
Deposit Rating

Moody’s

Baa1

Stable

P-2

Baa1

Fitch

BBB+

Stable

F2

-

Standard & Poor's

BBB

Negative

A-2

-

Company
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Long-term
value creation
The statement of economic value generated
and distributed provides an indication of how
the FCA Bank Group created value for its
stakeholders.
In 2018 the Group created economic value for
a total of over ¤900 million, distributing 57%.
About 30% of the distributed economic value
was allocated to employees, suppliers and
service providers. Over 27% was allocated to
Governments in the different jurisdictions in
which the FCA Bank Group operates.

31/12/2018
Economic value generated

902,589,456

100.0%

Economic Value distributed

514,225,202

57.0%

Employees, suppliers and service providers

268,592,944

29.8%

Shareholders

-

0.0%

Governments

245,632,258

27.2%

388,364,254

43.0%

Economic value retained by the Group
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Value-added statement
10. INTEREST INCOME AND SIMILAR REVENUES
20. INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMIALR CHARGES
40. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
50. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES
80. NET INCOME FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILTIES HELD FOR TRADING
90. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS IN HEDGE ACCOUNTING

31/12/2018
903,452,224
(242,050,333)
164,176,459
(54,985,523)
551,077
(1,801,345)

100. GAINS AND LOSSES ON DISPOSAL OF:
a) Profit (Losses) from the sale/repurchase of financial assets at amortized cost

1,161,580

b) Profit (Losses) from the sale/repurchase of financial assets at fair value
with impact on overall profitability
c) Profit (Losses) from the sale / repurchase of financial liabilities

-

130. NET IMPAIRMENT / WRITE-BACKS FOR CREDIT RISK RELATED TO:
a) Financial assets at amortized cost
b) financial assets measured at fair value with an impact on overall profitability
160. NET PREMIUM EARNED
170. NET OTHER OPERATING INCOME/ CHARGES FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES
210. IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE ASSETS
230. OTHER OPERATING INCOME / CHARGES
A. TOTAL ECONOMIC VALUE GENERATED

(20,727,676)
561,018
2,073,347
(363,518,289)
513,696,917
902,589,456

190. ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS:
b) Other administrative costs
220. IMPAIRMENT ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ECONOMIC VALUE DISTRIBUTED TO SUPPLIERS

(88,551,969)
(11,007,635)
(99,559,604)

190. ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS:
a) Payroll costs
ECONOMIC VALUE DISTRIBUTED TO EMPLOYEES AND COWORKERS

(169,033,340)
(169,033,340)

340. MINORITY PORTION OF NET INCOME (LOSS)
PROFIT ATTRIBUTED TO SHAREHOLDERS

-

ECONOMIC VALUE DISTRIBUTED TO SHAREHOLDERS

-

200. NET PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
altre spese amministrative: imposte indirette e tasse

(75,800,385)
(10,603,920)

300. IMPOSTE SUL REDDITO DELL'ESERCIZIO DELL'OPERATIVITÀ CORRENTE

(150,195,146)

300. IMPOSTE SUL REDDITO DELL'ESERCIZIO DELL'OPERATIVITÀ CORRENTE (DIFFERTE)

(9,032,807)

VALORE ECONOMICO DISTRIBUITO ALLA PUBBLICA AMMINISTRAZIONE
other administrative expenses: indirect taxes and duties

(245,632,258)
-

B. TOTAL ECONOMIC VALUE DISTRIBUTED

(514,225,202)

RETAINED PROFITS

(388,364,254)

C. TOTAL ECONOMIC VALUE RETAINED BY THE GROUP

(388,364,254)
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Transparency
towards the markets
and the authorities
FCA Bank is constantly engaged in making
the organizational and technological changes
necessary to adapt to the evolving regulatory
framework of reference, to ensure full compliance
as well as utmost transparency and customer
protection in keeping with the expectations of
the banking and market supervision authorities.
The full cooperation provided by al the Group
companies, also during the audit in 2018 and/or
in connection with requests for information by
such authorities in the countries where FCA Bank
operates, should be set against this backdrop.
For more details, reference is made to the section
on “The customer advocate”, in the Report on
Operations.

For more information on cases of noncompliance with transparency regulations,
reference is made to the section on “Significant
events and strategic transactions”.
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PEOPLE
RESPONSIBILITY
Development and
enhancement
of human capital

Organization and
human resources

FCA Bank is a company of people serving
people.
Our main goal is to attract, retain and motivate
highly qualified employees as well as reward
those who carry, believe in and support company
values with remuneration structures related to
long-term value creation.

As at 31 december 2018, the FCA Bank Group
had a total headcount of 2,258, an increase of 166
employees over the end of the previous year.
This increase is mainly due to the acquisition
of Win Rent S.p.A, to the Retail business lines
growth, to Leasys’s internationalization and to
the reinforcement of the control functions.
The quantitative data are based on the actual
headcount at 31 December 2018.
An analysis of the data shows that the two Italian
companies account for 53% of total employees,
in 2017 they represented 52%.
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268
113
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Switzerland
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45
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At the end of December 2018 female employees
represented 47.5% of the workforce, the average
age of the Group was 46.4 (45.8 for men and
46.8 for women). while average company
seniority was 17.04 (14.41 years for men and 19.69
years for women). At the same date 6.4% of the
workforce (145 employees, of whom 143 women)
worked part-time.
At the end of of December 2017 female emplyees
represented 51% of the workforce, the average
age of the Group was 43.5 (43.7 for men and
43.3 for women) while average company
seniority was 13.3 (13.0 years for men and 14.0 for
women). At the same date 6.1% of the workforce
(127 employees, of whom 125 women) worked
part-time.
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MATERIALITY THRESHOLD
OF THE NUMBER
OF NON-EMPLOYEES
The materiality threshold of the number of nonemployees – who perform the same activities as
employees – as a share of the total workforce is
set at 15% at group level. This threshold has never
been reached.

Total number of employees – Breakdown by employment contract and sex
Female

Male

Total

17

27

44

Permanent employment contract

1,103

1,111

2,214

Total

1,120

1,138

2,258

Fixed-term contract

Turn-over
Exits
%

31/12/2018
Termination rate

9.3

Motivation
N.

Resignations

N.

Dismissal

15

N.

Solidarity fund

-

N.

working contract expiration(fixed term)

35

N.

Retirement

25

N.

Other

30

104

By age
N.

<30 years

42

N.

30 - 50 years

123

N.

>50 years

44

By gender
N.

Women

116

N.

Men

93

By professional group
N.

Hierarchy managers

82

N.

White collar

127
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Training
Also for 2018, total training expenses for the
Group’s employees were adequate, even though
close attention continued to be paid to costs.
In addition to the usual emphasis placed om
technical and Compliance training, in Italy and in
the markets a specific training program was held
on antitrust. A total of 4,000 training days were

held, with an average of 2.2 days per employee.
Management training (soft skills) activities
continued, together with activities designed for
employee development, with special attention to
current and future middle management.

Training
N.

N.

Number of employees trained

2,258

of wich women

1,120

Number of people trained (training sessions by employee)

9,474

of which women

4,997

hour Total training hours
of which women
hour Average training hours per employee
of which women
¤

¤

31/12/2018

39,493
21,102
17
19

Total training cost provided

560,014

of which women

299,228

Average training cost per employee

248

of which women

267
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Management
development tracks
STRATEGIC THINKING
It’s ended the strategic thinking path, born in
2017, aimed to develop new business ideas in
FCA Bank’s dynamic spirit. We started from
the need to reflect on new ideas and ways to
do business, by combining pragmatism and
innovation. The intent is to understand and
discuss how cultural factors, needs, trends
and business developments translate into
unexpected opportunities. This path has been
conceived for a large and heterogeneous group
of people, 33 participants divided in five groups
including country managers, senior and middle
managers and a few young people who can make
a contribution by using their curiosity and a
different approach. We intend to develop critical
thinking in the following areas: banking products,
customer relationship management, digital area,
Leasys’s growth and new mobility. The program
consisted of three main phases. During the initial
workshop a conceptual framework is developed
to encourage participants to ask themselves
questions about the five strategic theme areas
for the development of the business.
In the second phase, the participants divided
in sub-groups worked on the questions and
provided consistent, concrete and innovative
answers by identifying areas for improvement
and innovation. The final product of every group
will be presented at a final meeting attended also
by FCA Bank’s management. In 2018, the working
groups worked on the final business case, which
was presented to FCA Bank’s management in the
second half of the year. The projects illustrated
are now in the implementation phase. The
process included an empowerment program for
the communication aspects, to improve virtual
collaboration in multicultural contexts.
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PERFORMANCE LEADERSHIP
MANAGEMENT
Through the PLM process, the FCA Bank Group
guarantees the engagement of individual
behaviors in view of the annual and long-term
objectives of the company and the Shareholders.
The idea is to establish a transparent and bilateral
communication process with all employees,
to show them how they can contribute to the
organization’s performance, how they are
working to achieve effectively the agreed-upon
objectives and, lastly, to provide them adequate
support for their improvement and growth.
The “Performance and Leadership Management”
program rests on two planks, focusing on
the objectives and related results and on the
individual attitudes and behaviors, so as to make
people accountable and involving them directly
in their growth process.
In 2018, the CEO & General Managers and all
the Material Risk Takers took part in the PLM,
together with the rest of the staff, to engage
each employee in reaching the strategic
objectives.

EVALUATION
People evaluated in the year

31/12/2018

%

Hierarchy managers

100%

%

Women

34%

%

Men

66%

% White collars

100%

%

Women

46%

%

Men

54%
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CROSS PATH PROJECT
In 2016, the Company launched the Cross-Path
project, an international and interfunctional
growth program designed to identify people with
high growth potential to be groomed in terms of
leadership and interdisciplinary knowledge. The
program’s duration is six years and involves tens
of people who, through two-year assignments,
are rotated in three markets and three different
functions: Credit, Finance and Sales & Marketing.
At the end of the program, the participants will
have developed a solid knowledge of FCA Bank’s
business and processes, thanks to their exposure
to management and the skills and competencies
developed through customized training. The key
features of the program are:
• People involved: international mind-set,
dynamic and open to the change that is typical in
our business;
• Rotation and mobility: an interdisciplinary path
in FCA Bank’s key functions;

• International exposure: international
assignments in the markets in which the Group
operates;
• Training: during the program the people receive
training not only on compliance and risk but
also on knowledge of company activities and
skill development. During the process, special
attention is paid to management training;
• Tutoring: the trainees are assigned a mentor
selected from FCA bank’s management team,
who follows them for the entire work period and
guides them on their growth path;
• Work on projects: on themes of strategic
importance for the company.
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EMPLOYEE
WELL-BEING,
HEALTH AND SAFETY
Human resource management
Regarding the management of human resources,
attention is called to the following activities
performed during the year:

ORGANIZATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
The year under review continued to witness
the strengthening of central control over
different processes related to human resource
management and governance mechanisms
linked to the transformation into a bank. Special
attention was paid to the following activities:
• The allocation of the FCA Bank/Leasys
Data Protection function to FCA Bank S.p.A.’s
first-level structure for greater focus on data
protection matters. In particular, the head acts as
Data Protection Officer vis-à-vis the Controlling
Representatives, that is the CEO and General
Manager of FCA Bank for the Holding and the
head of FCA Bank Italia for the Italy market; in
addition, the head reports functionally to the
Group Data Protection Policies & Methodologies
unit in the Compliance & Supervisory Relations
department;
• The merger between the “Process Governance
& Procurement” and “Digital, Data Governance
& Communication” (excluding Comunication
activities) departments, to give rise to the
new Digital, Process & Data Governance and
Procurement department;

• The Communication activities have
been assigned to the Sales & Marketing
department, for greater integration with the
Marketing activities;
• The transformation of FCA Capital Belgium
into an FCA Bank branch;
• The acquisition of Win Rent S.p.A. by Leasys
and related set up of a Short-Term Rental
unit;
• The reinforcement of the control functions
in the Italy market, with the set up of
dedicated control units (Internal Audit,
Compliance, Legal and Finance).
From a business point of view of the, the
year just ended continued the “Leasys
internationalization” project started in 2017,
with the objective of creating shareholder
value via the creation of a pan-European
rental group through the Leasys brand.
Accordingly, a Leasys España, German and
Belgian Branches were opened and was
rebranded companies in France and UK. In
January 2018 was opened Leasys Nederland
subsidiary.
In addition, Leasys’s function play a
competence lines role in relation to the
branches/rental entities and, as such, they
are responsible for issuing guidelines (e.g.
budget, commercial incentives…), sharing
best practices in terms of know-how,
processes and systems and for managing and
developing people’s competencies.
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Health and safety
at work
All the Group companies follow closely the rules
and regulations on safety at work.
During the reporting period, the Group witnessed
in the Group 31 injuries (18 men and 13 women),
of which 14 at work and 17 during the commute
to and from work, in Italy and in the countries
where the Group operates.
In addition, please note: no case of death as a
result of an accident, no case of occupational
disease.
None of the accidents occurred had any serious
consequences on the employees’ health and life.
The work activity within the Group (computer
terminal employees) does not include individual
protection devices (IPD) and collective
protection devices (CPD).

Injury rate

31/12/2018

Total number of injuries

31

- of which women

18

- of which men

13

During the commute to and
from work injuries

17

At work injuries

14

Frequency index

5.49

(injuries # *1,000,000)/worked hours

During 2017 total injuries were 28, of which:
• 17 injuries occurred to women
• 11 injuries occurred to men
• 22 in itinere injuries
• 6 injuries in workplace

TIPOLOGIA DI INFORTUNI
PER MERCATO

UK

Poland

Total

Women

Men

Number of injuries

4

3

1

of which at work

3

3

of which in itinerere

1

Number of injuries

1

1

of which at work

1

1

6

1

5

6

1

5

Number of injuries

6

4

2

of which at work

4

3

1

of which in itinerere

2

1

1

Number of injuries

3

3

1

of which in itinerere
Switzerland

Number of injuries
of which at work
of which in itinerere

France

Germany

Italy

of which at work

3

3

of which in itinerere

0

0

Number of injuries

11

6

of which at work

3

3

of which in itinerere

8

3

Other markets in which the Group operates are excluded as no accidents were recorded.

5
5
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Diversity and equal
opportunity
All the Group companies respect and act to
guarantee the right to diversity and equal
opportunity for all employees.

the Guidelines of the Organization for Economic
Development and Cooperation (“OECD”) for
multinational companies.

The FCA Bank Group shares, and its Code
of Conduct embodies, the principles of the
“Universal Declaration of Human Rights” of the
United Nations (“U.N.”), the Conventions of the
International Labour Organization (“ILO”) and

The percentage of employees covered by
the collective labour agreement should be
considered in light of the fact that the analysis is
performed within contexts governed by different
labour laws.

DETAILS OF STAFF AND
FEMALE PRESENCE
31/12/2018
N. Total
N. Average age
N. Females

2,258
44
1,120

N. Hierarchy managers

161

N. Impiegati

959

N. Part-time (102
N. Employees with part-time contract
- of which women

145
143

N. Rate of return to work and maintenance of employment after parental leave
N. Number of employees who have required parental leave
- of which women

74
65

N. Number of clients who have returned from parental leave
confirming the same position

68

- of which women

59

N. Collective bargaining and unionization

21

N. Employees covered by collective labor agreement

1,466

%

65%
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PRODUCT
RESPONSIBILITY
Innovation and digitalizzation.
Privacy and data security
FCA Bank has a clear objective: to enhance the value of its services by providing a large number of
benefits to end customers, dealers and FCA Bank itself, showing that it marches in lockstep with the
great strides of the digital revolution. The roadmap to the digital transformation, which started in
2013 with the development of a financial calculator and has the ambitious objective of introducing an
e-commerce platform by 2020, focused on two very important aspects of the customer journey: the
first contact of the customer with the Bank and the finalization of the selected financing solution.

DIGITAL ONBOARDING

DIGITAL PRESCORING

Dematerialization, electronic signature and
digital archiving are of the essence for the digital
onboarding project, whose activities began in
2017 and were introduced in 2018 in 5 markets of
great interest for the Bank: Italy, Spain, Portugal,
Germany, Austria and UK. The new process is
completed in a few clicks; all the dealer has to
do is select the digital signature option, obtain
the customer’s ID and fill in the necessary
information.

Knowing the customer before he becomes one
has always been the objective of companies,
regardless of the sector or size. The Bank’s
response to this need translated into a panEuropean project, launched in the year, to preevaluate a loan or a lease before the customer
sets foot in the dealer’s showroom.

After the digital signature, the electronic
documentation is sent to the customer by e-mail.
In the year under review, the ambitious objective
of reaching 100% of dealers that were given the
option to adopt the new process was met. The
markets’ response was very positive, thereby
confirming the operational and time efficiency. To
date, over 70% of financing contracts have been
signed digitally in Spain, the first market to adopt
the solution, representing a great success for
FCA Capital Spain after only a few months from
launch.

• access a private area through which they can
submit their financing application, which will be
evaluated automatically by accessing the scoring
rules of every single market and searching public
and private databases

Belgium, France, Greece, Netherlands, Poland
and Switzerland will introduce the new process in
early 2019.

Once the vehicle is selected, customers will be
given the option, through a dedicated platform,
to:

• select a dealer with which to continue the
selection and purchase process, so as to be
contacted directly and to be able to finalize the
sale process;
• upload from a remote location personal ID and
proof of income to expedite the completion of
the documentation;
The benefits of the solution are twofold: on
one side the customer will be able to receive
an assessment before visiting the dealer and
the dealer will have already all the information
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necessary to finalize the contract, given that it
knows in advance the customer’s preferences.
The achievement of these results in such a short
time is definitely reason for great satisfaction but
for FCA Bank it is not the and of the digitaization
road.
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Digitalization will not be a mere tribute to
the golden calf of modernization at all costs
but a true revolution in the way the Bank and
customers interact, with the final objective of
eliminating paper and to save all types of energy,
of whatever nature, employed in the process.

The ongoing and constant review of processes is
intended for two specific objectives: ensure that
customers find in the simplicity and immediacy of
the procedures a friendly system that takes them
step by step until their desires and expectations
are met and, in the second place, to have
increasingly streamlined and rapid processes with
clear benefits in terms of costs.

DATA PROTECTION AND
CYBER SECURITY
Within the changed economic and technological
context, FCA Bank pays special attention to the
protection of information processed within its
organization and information systems, protecting
the rights and interests of its customers and
employees. Key functions for this goal are Data
Protection Officers appointed within operating
markets. Personal data protection is moving
towards a business habit, implementing the
“Privacy by Design” principle on a daily basis.
Following the entry into force of the General Data
Protection Regulation (25 May 2018), two main
pillars have been considered as cornerstones:
• Organization: specific work has been
conducted in order to re-engineer corporate
governance with the aim of distributing privacy
responsibilities within the organization;
• Training: specific training sessions have been
conducted in order to improve awareness
on operational viewpoint, share policies and
procedures and disseminate a culture of data
protection.
To disseminate and expand the attention to
personal data protection themes and to mitigate
the risks related to confidentiality, integrity,
availability and traceability of data, FCA Bank
designed and implemented a robust system of IT
security policies and procedures.

In-depth analyses of new threats are regularly
performed by applying industry best practices
to curb the risks detected. Employee awareness
of these issues has been further enhanced also
thanks to specific IT security training activities.
A specific overlook has been taken for improving
incident management plans, with special
attention to personal data breaches.
The company has also implemented internal
procedures and tools to grant to the data
subjects the possibility to exercise own rights.
At group level, a very limited number of incident
have been mapped. In particular, 5 complaints
have been received from outside parties and
substantiated by the organization and no
complaints have been received from regulatory
bodies. The number of incidents involving
personal data was 21, which mainly occurred on
the Italian and British market.
In this way FCA Bank continues with its
commitment to address the need for constant
improvement of the architecture of the
information technology system and the internal
control system (ICS), to identify and prevent
failures and breaches of procedures and internal
and sector rules.
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Service quality
and customer satisfaction
Over the years FCA Bank has developed
processes for sales, contract management during
the life of the financing and re-contact in the
contract renewal phase with a view to achieving
customer satisfaction and constant improvement.
Against this backdrop, loyalty development
has been one of the pillars of FCA Bank’s
commercial strategy. In the past few years, within
the different available offerings, products that
encourage the replacement of the car at the
end of the contract, as an alternative to the final
balloon payment, have become increasingly
important.
FCA Bank has distributed a digital platform in
every country in which it operates, integrated
with the Customer Relationship Management
(CRM) of the brand of reference, to manage in
the best possible way the time when customers
with contracts near the expiration date are
contacted with new financing proposals, thereby
fostering brand loyalty.
The financial information of every customer is
handled in a secure manner through FCA Bank’s
systems while the connection with the industrial
partner’s system allows its integration in the
standard customer re-contact process by the
dealer.
Thanks to these activities and the integrated
CRM systems, FCA Bank’s customer retention
rate in its main markets is around 60% (source:
New Car Buyer Survey 2017). This means that
more than half of those who purchased an FCA
group vehicle, with financing from FCA Bank, has
eventually bought another Group vehicle. This
percentage is well above the customer retention
rate observed in the case of customers who used
a different type of payment (51%) (source: New
Car Buyer Survey 2017).
FCA Bank developed a complete market
research system on the entire lifecycle of the
customer, to monitor constantly the quality of its
offering as perceived by customers and dealers.
One such market research is the Customer
Satisfaction Survey, one of the oldest tools used
by FCA Bank to check on an ongoing basis
its customers’ satisfaction with both FCA and

Jaguar Land Rover. The survey covers a wide
range of sources of information on customers’
habits and their satisfaction areas, such as: the
reasons for choosing the payment method, the
“shopping around”, the means of communication
utilized to obtain information on the chosen
car, the assessment of the seller’s behavior, the
satisfaction with the financing solution adopted
and the service received from FCA Bank. The
survey makes it possible to have a substantial
time series, with certain key areas always present
and other sections constantly updated to cope
with new fact-gathering analyses. The survey
format is the same for all the countries involved,
making it possible to monitor the markets’
performance on key issues and to compare
quality levels.
In 2017 about 13,000 FCA customers and 1,200
JLR customers were interviewed by phone.
In 2018, approximately 8,000 FCA customers
and about 1,100 JLR customers were interviewed
by telephone. The results confirm a constant
improvement of the overall evaluation. The
average satisfaction for the main markets is
higher than 4, in continuity with 2017, on a 1-5
scale with the positive threshold at 3.7.
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SUSTAINABILITY
FOR FCA BANK GROUP
FCA Bank is aware that, to be highly competitive
and to build long-term relationships with
customers, a financial company must run its
business taking into account the economic,
environmental and social impact deriving from it.
In view of sustainable development, FCA Bank
is committed to providing its customers access
to responsible credit based on the principles
of fairness, responsibility and attention and
offered on adequate terms and conditions and
shown in a transparent and comprehensible
manner, in full compliance of the applicable rules
and regulations. This approach is monitored
systematically in customer satisfaction surveys,
which include a special focus on the fairness and
transparency of the dealer’s salespeople when
the financing solution is proposed.
In relation to training activities, personnel’s
awareness is constantly raised on the importance
of using a clear and comprehensible language
in the presentation of financial and insurance
products.

On the websites in the markets in which it
operates, FCA Bank makes available financial
instruments that allow customers to calculate
loan instalments and to work out independently
repayment schedules more in keeping with
one’s circumstances, in relation also the vehicle
selected.
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Relationship with business
partners and dealers
FCA Bank its relations with dealers by providing
financing products that support sales of the
brands of reference.
With that in mind, every year FCA Bank performs
a Dealer Satisfaction survey of the entire dealer
network, with reference to the retail and dealer
financing businesses, thus monitoring the quality
of the service and verifying the standards
offered.
In this survey the dealers have a chance to
express their opinion on FCA Bank, in general
and for every phase of the service process, also
with reference to the main market competitors.
This makes it possible to create a detailed
analysis of FCA Bank’s performance vis-à-vis the
competition. In addition, suggestions on new
products and services are received which help to
improve FCA Bank’s products and services.
In 2018, approximately 625 FCA dealers, 180 JLR
dealers were interviewed.
In 2017 about 600 FCA dealers, 210 JLR dealers
and 60 Maserati dealers were interviewed.
The results confirm a constant improvement of
the overall evaluation. The average satisfaction
for the main markets is higher than 4, in
continuity with 2017, on a 1-5 scale with the
positive threshold at 3.7.

SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT
OF SUPPLIERS
The FCA Group interacts with its suppliers on
the basis of transparency, fairness and equal
treatment, in line with the Code of Conduct
approved by FCA Bank’s Board of Directors,
which sets out the principles that inspire the
Group’s conduct in business.
Based on the contracts signed with the Group,
suppliers are required to abide by the Group’s
Code of Conduct
Goods and services are purchased locally under
the responsibility of each Group company. At the
Parent Company level, the Procurement function
guides and monitors, through the Group policy,
the purchases of goods and services and checks
compliance with local procedures.
Specifically, regarding the management of
suppliers, the Group policy sets out specific
guidelines intended to evaluate and select new
suppliers and to monitor regularly the existing
ones.
Regarding the selection of suppliers, the Group
policy calls for a number of background checks,
with a financial and reputational focus, based
on pre-defined criteria and formalized through
specific evaluation matrices.
As to monitoring, the policy contemplates
periodic reviews based on the analysis of existing
relationships, with the ensuing resolution of
possible criticalities through formal action plans,
monitored over time.
The Group manages the purchase of goods
and services through two specific centralized
software applications. Of these, one is managed
at the Parent Company level, for ICT purchases,
and the other, which has been operational for
sometime now in Italy, is being introduced in
all the European subsidiaries to purchase other
goods and services.
The application managed at the local level, on a
central platform, allows for the standardization
of the purchase process, from the request for
approval of the expenditure to the issue of the
purchase order.
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Transparency of commercial
communication and in client relationship
POLICIES FOR THE PROPER
DESIGN AND SALE OF
FINANCIAL SERVICES AND
PRODUCTS
FCA Bank applies policies and internal
procedures intended to ensure that the products
offered to customers are in keeping with
their interests, objectives and characteristics.
In addition, these procedures describe the
processes and tools implemented to prevent
potentially damaging risks for customers and
possible conflicts of interest. In particular, FCA
Bank has adopted specific group policies that

govern all the phases of a product lifecycle,
starting from its creation, to its offering and
ongoing monitoring. In particular, rules are set for
the aspects related to the creation, launch and
distribution of new products, to relationship.
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COMPLAINTS
In accordance with the EBA guidelines, FCA
Bank SpA has adopted an internal policy for
the management of complaints that aims to
guarantee prompt and exhaustive responses
to customers who file a complaint. Generally, a
complaint means an expression of dissatisfaction
presented by a natural or legal person with
reference to the banking services listed in the
Annex I of the CRD (Capital Requirements
Directive - Directive 2013/36 / EU).

Complaints by geographical area
N.

Italy

%
N.

Germany
UK
France
Spain
Switzerland
Poland
Austria
Netherlands
Danemark
Portugal

7
43
1.0%

Greece

%
N.

1

0.2%

%
N.

45

0.0%

%
N.

15

1.1%

%
N.

18

0.4%

%
N.

25

0.4%

%
N.

43

0.6%

%
N.

820

1.0%

%
N.

124

19.3%

%
N.

3,059

2.9%

%
N.

31/12/2018

72.2%

%
N.

All complaints have been sent to the competent
departments and solved within the terms set by
local rules and regulations in every country (for
example, local rules call for 30 days in Italy, 56 in
the UK, 60 in Germany and France).

28
0.7%

Ferrari Financial Services

%

11
0.3%

Total complaints

4,239
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ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSIBILITY
Management of direct
environmental impacts
Even though the business does not entail
particular direct impacts on the environment, the
FCA Bank Group is aware that the issue is topical
and becomes increasingly so by the day.
The Group is sensitive to the issue of
environmental protection and orients its
decisions in such a way as to ensure compliance
with current regulations on the subject.
To mitigate environmental impacts, the FCA Bank
Group undertook a number of actions:
• Ample use is made of telepresence, with a total
of 4,400 hours in 2018, with the objective of
limiting as much as possible physical transfers
between the Group’s offices.
• The digital onboarding project (which so far has
resulted in the dematerialization of the contracts
and their digital archiving) has made it possible
in 2018 – in Italy, Germany, Spain, Portugal and
Austria – to achieve incremental savings related
to paper consumption. In November 2018 alone,
approximately 5,000 of the 24,000 contracts
entered into were signed digitally.
• In 2018, Leasys, the mobility and car rental
company of the FCA Bank Group, inaugurated its
“Arte25” headquarters in Rome, in the prestigious
EUR district. The building is Leed Platinum
certified.

ENERGY CONSUMPTION
AND CO2 EMISSIONS
The main environmental impacts of the FCA
Bank Group are related to the offices of the
subsidiaries and the Headquarters located in
the industrial complex of Mirafiori in Turin, in the
storied office building of corso Giovani Agnelli.
Starting from 2018, the Group monitors its
direct CO2 emissions determined by its direct
consumption of energy. The emissions calculation
has been effectuated through the “locationbased” approach: for each country have been
used average factors emissions referred to the
specific national energetic mixes of electric
energy on the basis of the guidelines foreseen
in the European Residual Mixes - Results
of the calculation of Residual Mixes for the
calendar year 2017 issued by the Issuing Bodies
Association and updated at July 2018. The Group
regards the use of water resources as nonsignificant, considering the company’s activities
and characteristics. In fact, this report makes no
distinction between the use of energy resources
from renewable and that from non-renewable
sources.
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Companies operating in leased offices in Fiat Chrysler
Automobiles Group are not included in energy
consumption calculation because the organization is
not yet structured to measure this companies from an
environmental point of view..

EMISSIONS

CO2 Emissions

31/12/2018

tCo2

Electric energy

2,480

tCo2

Total

2,480

CONSUMI ENERGETICI

Energy consumption
KWh

Electric energy

Gj

Total

31/12/2018
5,519,886
19,871
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GRI content index
GRI Standard

Disclosure

Page number

GRI 102: GENERAL DISCLOSURE
Organizational profile
102-1		

Name of the organization

89

102-2		

Activities, brands, products, and services

20

102-3		

Location of headquarters

89

102-4		

Location of operations

89

102-5		

Ownership and legal form

88

102-6		

Markets served

89

102-7		

Scale of the organization

67

102-8 a,b,c,d,e,f Information on employees and other workers

130

102-9		

Supply chain

144

102-11		

Precautionary Principle or approach

107

Statement from senior decision-maker

86

Strategy
102-14

Ethics and integrity
102-16		

Values, principles, standards, and norms of behavior

114

102-18		

Governance structure

93

Stakeholder involvement
102-40		

List of stakeholder group

90

102-41		

Collective bargaining agreements

139

102-42		

Identifying and selecting stakeholders

90

102-43		

Approach to stakeholder engagement

90

Reporting procedures
102-45		

Entities included in the consolidated financial statements

24

102-46		

Defining report content and material topics perimeter

84

102-47		

List of material topics

91

102-48		

Restatements of information

84

102-49		

Significant changes in material topics and their perimeter

84

102-50		

Reporting period

84

102-51		

Date of most recent report

84

102-52		

Reporting cycle

84

102-56		

GRI content index

402
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Disclosure

Page number

GRI 200: ECONOMIC SERIES
Economic performance
103			Management approach

126

201-1 a			

127

Direct economic value generated and distributed

Anti-corruption
103			Management approach

112

205-3			

113

Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

Anticompetitive practices
103			Management approach
206-1			

Legal actions for anticompetitive behavior, anti-trust,

			and monopoly practices

GRI Standard

120

Disclosure

120

Page number

GRI 300: ENVIRONMENTAL SERIES
Energy
103			Management approach

147

302-1 c (i)i		

148

Energy consumption within the Organization

Emissions
103			Management approach

147

305-2 a, e		

148

GRI Standard

Direct GHG emissions

Disclosure

Page number

GRI 400: SOCIAL SERIES
Employment
103			Management approach

139

401-3 b, c		

139

Parental leave		

Occupational health and safety
103			Management approach
403-2 a			

Types of injury and rates of injury, occupational diseases,

			

lost days, and absenteeism, and number of workrelated

138
138

Training and education
103			Management approach

134

404-1 a, (i)		

Average hours of training per year per employee

134

404-3			

Percentage of employees receiving regular performance

			

and career development reviews

134

Diversity and equal opportunities
103			Management approach

139

405-1			

139

Diversity of governance bodies and employees
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Page number

GRI 400: SOCIAL SERIES
Non-discrimination
103			Management approach

115

406-1			

115

Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken

Customer privacy
103			Management approach

141

418-1			

141

Complaints related to privacy violation and customer data loss

Social and economic compliance
103			Management approach

129

419-1			

Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and economic area

129

GRI Standard

Disclosure

Page number

Financial Solidity
N/A			

- Own Funds

126

			- Leverage ratio
			- Rating Moody's
Service quality and customer satisfaction
			Customer Satisfaction

142

Relationship with business partner and dealers
N/A			Dealer Satisfaction

144

Transparency of commercial communication and in client relationship
N/A			

Number of complaints

146

New employee hires and employee turnover

133

Employment
N/A			

152 -

Consolidated financial statment December, 31 2018

OTHER
INFORMATION
PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNCERTAINTIES
The specific risks that can give rise to obligations
for the Company are evaluated when the relevant
provisions are made and are reported in the
notes to the financial statements, together with
significant contingent liabilities. In this section,
reference is made to risk and uncertainty factors
related essentially to the economic, regulatory
and market context which can produce effects
for the Company’s performance.
The Company’s financial condition, operating
performance and cash flows are affected first
of all by the various factors that make up the
macroeconomic picture in which it operates,
including increases and decreases in gross
domestic product, consumer and business
confidence levels, trends in interest, exchange
and unemployment rates.
The Group’s activity is mainly linked to the
performance of the automotive sector, which
is historically cyclical. Bearing in mind that it is
hard to predict the breadth and length of the
different economic cycles, every macroeconomic
event (such as a significant drop in the main
end markets, the solvency of counterparties,
the volatility of financial markets and interest
rates) can impact the Group’s prospects and its
financial and operating results.
The FCA Group abides by the laws and
regulations of every country in which it operates.
Most of the legal proceedings we are involved
in relate to disputes due to missed payments
by customers and dealers in the course of our
ordinary business activities.
Our provisions “for risks and charges”, and the
close monitoring of the legal proceedings under
way, allow us to assess quickly their possible
effects on our accounts.

It is worth noting that on 15 July 2014, the Swiss
Anti-Trust Authority (Wettbewerbskommission)
announced the opening of an inquiry into the
vehicle financing activities of captive financial
companies (nine in total) in Switzerland. FCA
Capital Suisse S.A. is one of the companies
involved in the investigation. In case of significant
breach of competition laws, under the applicable
laws in force the commission can impose a fine.
Such fine depends on the duration and the
nature of the violation. The potential maximum
amount of the fine can total as much as 10% of
the total revenues generated by the company in
the past three years. Based on discussions with
the Secretariat of ComCo, the Directors believe
that an amount of CHF 4.5 million is likely to be
payable by the Company. Notwithstanding the
fact that the Company, whilst respecting the
work of the ComCo, firmly believes that it has not
harmed the competition in the relevant market, it
has decided to raise a provision corresponding to
that amount.
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BREXIT
At the date of preparation of this document, the
Brexit process might have one of three possible
outcomes. The one with the lowest impact
sees the UK remain in the European Union, an
occurrence that might take place only after a
significant political event (new elections, second
referendum) where voters are called again to
the polls. The impact would be low, because
there would not be significant changes in the
regulations and in the legal relationships linking
the UK to the EU and the single European
partners.
The second outcome would entail a deal between
the European Union and the UK, whereby the
parties would agree to the gradual exit of the
United Kingdom. This is in keeping with the
agreement signed on 14 November 2018, after
protracted negotiations between the parties,
which requires approval of the European and
UK Parliaments and lays down the framework
against which future relationships should be set.
In this case, Brexit would take place in March
2019, but the current market conditions would be
subjected to a long transition period (currently
proposed until December 2020), to allow the
parties to define the treaty governing future
trade relations between the UK and the Union.
A possible variation would entail the extension
of article 50 of the Treaty on European Union,
governing the withdrawal of a member state,
with the reopening of the negotiation phase. This
variation, however, does not appear very realistic,
in light of the EU’s position against it.
The third outcome would represent the most
extreme situation, which would involve the
UK’s exit from the EU at the end of March
2019, with no deal between the parties. The
materialization of this alternative would entail a
chaotic transition to a new standard and would
cause extreme uncertainty in the market. Trade
rules in this case would be simply replaced
by the standards of the WTO (World Trade

Organization).
The materialization of this scenario still seems
unlikely, because both parties seem seriously
intent on avoiding it.
With reference to the activities of FCA Bank,
present on the UK market through 3 companies
covering the retail, dealer financing and rental
businesses, a risk assessment has been launched
in accordance with the Opinion dated 25 June
2018 of the European Banking Authority (EBA),
"Opinion of the European Banking Authority on
preparations for the withdrawal of the United
Kingdom from the European Union" (EBA/
Op/2018/05).
The Board of Directors of the Company also
examined a specific assessment on the English
market prepared by the management, which,
starting from a stress scenario defined by the
Bank of England, focused on 3 specific items:
the trend of registrations, the impact on residual
values and the foreseeable evolution of credit
risk in a "hard Brexit" scenario. At the assessment
date no relevant economic impacts have been
observed with reference to the Group english
subsidiaries.
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DIRECTION AND
COORDINATION ACTIVITIES
FCA Bank S.p.A. is not subject to the direction
and coordination activities of any company or
entity. Pursuant to article 2497 of the Italian
civil code, the direct and indirect subsidiaries
have indicated FCA Bank S.p.A. as the party
that exercises direction and coordination
activities. These activities involve setting the
overall strategic and operational guidelines
which translate into the implementation of
financial management, human resources
and communication policies. In addition, the
Group’s coordination includes centralized cash
management and internal audit activities. The
foregoing allows the subsidiaries, which preserve
their management and operational autonomy,
to achieve economies of scale thanks (where
appropriate) to specialized professionals and
services with rising qualitative levels and to focus
their resources on the management of the core
business.

DIVIDEND AND RESERVE
DISTRIBUTIONS
No dividends were paid in 2018

OTHER REGULATORY
DISCLOSURES
In line with Bank of Italy’s instructions on the
preparation of banks’ financial statements, it is
noted that:
a) in the period under review the Group did
not carry out any significant research and
development activities;
b) the Group does not hold and did not purchase
and/or sell shares or interests of the controlling
companies in the period under review.

Report on operations

- 155

156 -

Consolidated financial statment December, 31 2018

Consolidated income statement details and
reconciliation with reclassified income statement (€/mln)
10

INTEREST INCOME AND SIMILAR REVENUES

80

NET INCOME FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILTIES HELD FOR TRADING

40

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
FINANCIAL REVENUE

		
100

of which insurance

31/12/2018

Reclassified
Income
Statements Items

903
1
164
1.068
242

PROFITS (LOSSES) ON DISPOSAL OR REPURCHASE
OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

1

160

NET PREMIUM EARNED

1

170

NET OTHER OPERATING INCOME/ CHARGES FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

2

TOTAL FINANCIAL REVENUE

1.072

NBI

20

INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR CHARGES

(242)

NBI

90

FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS IN HEDGE ACCOUNTING

(2)

NBI

50

FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES

(55)

Fee and commission expenses

(43)

NBI

Insurance credit cost

(12)

COR

TOTAL FINANCIAL COST
130

(299)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS

(21)

Impairment losses on loans

(19)

COR

(1)

NBI

Impairment losses on loans

752

180

NET PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

190

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

(268)

Administrative costs

(270)

NOE

Administrative costs

2

NBI

200

NET PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
Net provisions for risks and charges

1

NBI

Net provisions for risks and charges

7

NOE

(84)

OTH

Net provisions for risks and charges
210

(76)

IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE ASSETS

(364)

Depreciation of rental assets (rental business)

(361)

NBI

Depreciation of tangibles asset

(2)

NOE

220

IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE ASSETS

(11)

NOE

230

OTHER OPERATING INCOME / CHARGES

514

Rental income/charges (rental business)

528

NBI

Expense recoveries and credit collection expenses

(1)

NOE

Impairment of rental receivables (rental business)

(13)

COR

(1)

OTH

Other

(205)

240

OPERATING COSTS

290

TOTAL PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

548

300

TAX EXPENSE RELATED TO PROFIT OR LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(159)

330

NET PROFIT OR LOSS

388

340

MINORITY PORTION OF NET INCOME (LOSS)

(5)

350.

HOLDINGS INCOME (LOSS) OF THE YEAR

383

TAX
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31/12/2018
954

NBI

Net Operating Expenses

(277)

NOE

Cost of risk

(44)

COR

Other income / (expense)

(85)

OTH

Profit before tax

548

Tax expense

(159)

Net profit

388

Net Banking Income

Turin, 22nd February 2019

TAX

On behalf of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer and General Manager
Giacomo Carelli
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

362,536

476

-

100

-

100

9,634

9,594

25,744,698

23,351,441

2,156,691

2,097,642

23,588,007

21,253,799

35,940

67,119

27,417

5,124

44

44

9,596

11,321

2,546,620

1,959,430

247,098

237,023

183,183

181,824

274,013

269,253

a) current tax assets

84,294

110,269

b) deferred tax assets

189,719

158,984

1,278,860

1,276,052

30,536,456

27,186,977

ASSETS (¤/thousand)
10. Cash and cash balances
20. Financial assets at FV with effects on P&L
a) Financial assets held for trading
30. Financial assets designated at fair value with effects on comprehensive income
40. Financial assets valued at amortized cost
a) Loans and receivables with banks
b) Loans and receivables with customers
50. Hedging derivatives
60. Changes in fair value of portfolio hedge items (+/-)
70. Investments in associates and joint ventures
80. Insurance reserves attributable to reinsures
90. Property, plant and equipment
100. Intangible assets
of which:
- goodwill
110. Tax assets

130. Other assets
Total assets
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31/12/2018

31/12/2017

26,207,022

23,375,339

a) deposits from banks

9,807,112

8,555,557

b) deposits from customers

1,822,725

1,483,490

c) debt certificates including bonds

14,577,185

13,336,292

3,729

5,603

40. Hedging derivatives

53,920

43,309

60. Tax liabilities

192,392

166,658

51,335

55,559

141,057

111,098

927,779

871,348

11,626

11,947

251,818

187,790

43,121

45,280

208,697

142,510

10,662

12,579

120. Revaluation reserves

(35,608)

(29,961)

150. Reserves

1,588,613

1,328,740

-

(100,000)

192,746

192,746

700,000

700,000

48,397

43,322

383,360

377,557

30,536,456

27,186,977

10. Financial liabilities valued at amortized cost

20. Financial liabilities held for trading

a) current tax liabilities
b) deferred tax liabilities
80. Other liabilities
90. Provision for employee severance pay
100. Provisions for risks and charges
b) pensions and other post retirement benefits obligations
c) other reserves
110. Insurance reserves

155. Interim dividends
160. Share premium
170. Issued capital
190. Minorities (+/-)
200. Net Profit (Loss) for the year (+/-)
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

903,452

854,953

891,299

846,962

(242,050)

(266,183)

661,402

588,770

164,176

132,753

(54,986)

(49,357)

109,191

83,396

551

(2,210)

(1,801)

(1,900)

1,162

(12)

1,162

-

-

(12)

120. Operating income

770,504

668,044

130. Net impairment/reinstatement for credit risk

(20,728)

(32,588)

a) Financial asstets valued at amortized cost

(20,728)

(32,588)

749,776

635,456

561

763

2,073

2,850

752,411

639,069

(268,189)

(251,743)

(169,033)

(159,313)

b) other administrative costs

(99,156)

(92,430)

200. Net provisions for risks and charges

(75,800)

5,098

(75,800)

5,098

(363,518)

(309,569)

220. Impairment on intangible assets

(11,008)

(9,143)

230. Other operating income/charges

513,698

447,405

(204,819)

(117,952)

-

(53)

547,592

521,064

(159,228)

(138,536)

310. Total profit or loss after tax continuing

388,364

382,528

330. Net profit or loss

388,364

382,528

(5,004)

(4,971)

383,360

377,557

Item (¤/thousand)
10.

Interest income and similar revenues
of which: interest income calculated using effective interest method

20.

Interest expenses and similar charges

30.

Net interest margin

40.

Fee and commission income

50.

Fee and commission expenses

60.

Net fee and commission

80.

Net income financial assets and liabilities held for trading

90.

Fair Value adjustments in hedge accounting

100. Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of
a) Financial asstets valued at amortized cost
b) Financial assets measured at fair value with an impact on total profitability

150. Net profit from financial activities
160. Net premium earned
170. Net other operating income/charges from insurance activities
180. Net profit from financial and insurance activities
190. Administrative costs
a) payroll costs

b) other net provisions
210. Impairment on tangible assets

240. Operating costs
250. Profit (loss) on equity investments
290. Total profit or loss before tax from continuing operations
300. Tax expense related to profit or loss from continuing operations

340. Minority portion of net income
350. Holding income (loss) of the year

Consolidated financial statements

- 163

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
Description (¤/thousand)

2018

2017

388,364

382,528

to profit or loss

1,710

2,987

Defined-benefit plans

1,710

2,987

(7,369)

(10,735)

110. Exchange rate differences

(4,332)

(13,665)

120. Cash flow hedge

(3,037)

2,930

170. Total other items of comprehensive income after taxes

(5,659)

(7,748)

382,705

374,780

4,990

4,919

377,715

369,861

10.

Profit (loss) for the year
Other items of comprehensive income after taxes that will not be reclassified

70.

Other items of comprehensive income after taxes that may be reclassified
to profit or loss

180. Comprehensive income (loss) (item 10+170)
190. Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non - controlling interests
200. Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to owners of the parents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS OF 31/12/2018 AND 31/12/2017
(¤/thousands)

Special dividends paid

Equity at 31/12/2018

Equity attributable to Parent
Company's shareholders as at
31/12/2018

Non-controlling interests as at
31/12/2018

-

703,389

700,000

3,389

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

195,623

192,746

2,877

282,528

(207)

-

-

-

-

1,625,784

1,588,613

37,171

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(35,651)

(35,608)

(43)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Stock options

Derivatives on shares

Other changes

Changes in equity
instruments

Changes in reserves

Equity transactions

Consolidated comprehensive
income for 2018

Share buyback
-

Dividends and other allocations

New share issues

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

-

Reserves

Balance as at
01/01/2018

Changes in opening
balance

Closing balance as at
31/12/2017

ALLOCATION
ON PROFIT
FROM PREVIOUS YEAR

Share capital:

a) common
shares

703,389

703,389

-

b) other shares

-

-

-

Share premium
reserve

195,623

195,623

Reserves:
- retained
earnings
- other
Valuation
reserve
Equity
instruments

1,360,856

(17,393)

1,343,463

-

-

-

-

(29,992)

-

(29,992)

-

-

-

(100,000)

(100,000)

Treasury shares

-

-

Profit (loss) for
the period

382,528

-

382,528

(382,528)

Equity

2,512,404

(17,393)

2,495,011

-

Equity
attributable to
parent
Company's
shareholders

2,469,082

(17,494)

2,451,588

43,322

101

43,423

Interim
dividends

Non controlling
interests

-

-

-

100,000

-

-

-

-

(5,659)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

388,364

388,364

383,360

5,004

(207)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

382,705

2,877,509

-

-

-

(191)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

377,715

-

2,829,111

-

-

(16)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,990

-

-

48,397
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(¤/thousands)

Share buyback

Special dividends paid

Equity as at
31/12/2017

Equity attributable to Parent
Company's shareholders as at
31/12/2017

Non-controlling interests as at
31/12/2017

-

-

-

703,389

700,000

3,389

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

195,623

192,746

2,877

1,360,856

1,328,740

32,116

-

-

-

(29,992)

(29,961)

(31)

-

-

-

(100,000)

(100,000)

-

-

-

-

382,528

382,528

377,557

4,971

Stock options

Derivatives on shares

Other changes

Changes in equity
instruments

Equity transactions

Consolidated comprehensive
income for 2017

New share issues

CHANGES DURING THE PERIOD

Changes in reserves

Dividends and other allocations

Reserves

Balance as at
01/01/2017

Changes in
opening balance

Closing balance as at
31/12/2016

ALLOCATION
ON PROFIT
FROM PREVIOUS YEAR

Share capital:

a) common
shares

703,389

703,389

-

b) other shares

-

-

-

-

Share premium
reserve

195,623

195,623

-

-

Reserves:
- retained
earnings
- other
Valuation
reserve

1,045,364

-

1,045,364

311,560

-

-

-

-

(18,101)

-

(18,101)

3,932

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,143)

(7,748)

Equity
instruments

-

Interim
dividends

-

Treasury shares

-

Profit (loss) for
the period

311,560

-

311,560

(311,560)

Equity

2,237,835

-

2,237,835

-

-

(211)

-

-

(100,000)

-

-

-

-

374,780

2,512,404

-

-

Equity
attributable to
parent
Company's
shareholders

2,199,314

-

2,199,314

-

-

(93)

-

-

(100,000)

-

-

-

-

369,861

-

2,469,082

-

38,521

-

38,521

-

-

(118)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,919

-

-

43,322

Non controlling
interests

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(100,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOW (DIRECT METHOD)
(¤/thousands)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

1. Business operations

490,402

862,841

- interest income (+)

1,014,790

949,546

- interest expense (-)

(270,468)

(281,413)

109,191

83,396

(154,126)

(144,587)

561

670

2,073

2,850

(878,100)

(422,534)

816,677

791,376

(150,195)

(116,462)

(2,088,239)

(3,590,303)

100

2,239

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

- fee and commission income (expense) (+/-)
- personnel expenses (-)
- Net earned premiums (+)
- Other insurance income/expenses (+/-)
- other expenses (-)
- other revenue (+)
- taxes and levies (-)
2. Cash flows from increase/decrease of financial assets
- financial assets held for trading
- financial assets at fair value with impact on other comprehensive income

(40)
(2,521,988)

(3,424,811)

433,690

(167,731)

2,956,539

3,610,057

2,860,102

3,621,789

(1,874)

(1,395)

98,311

(10,337)

1,358,702

882,595

342,481

247,346

342,434

247,346

47

-

(1,339,123)

(1,029,641)

(1,316,179)

(1,010,967)

(20,798)

(18,674)

(2,146)

-

(996,642)

(782,295)

- dividend and other distributions

-

(100,000)

Cash generated by / (used for) financing activities

-

(100,000)

362,060

300

- financial assets at amortized cost
- other assets
3. Cash flows from increase/decrease of financial liabilities
- fiancial liabilities at amortized cost
- financial liabilities held for trading
- other liabilities
Cash flows generated by/(used for) operating activities
B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flows generated by
- sales of property, plant and equipment
- sales of intangible assests
2. Cash flows used for
- purchases of financial assets held to maturity
- purchases of property,plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets
Cash generated by / (used for) investing activities
C. FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH GENERATED /(USED) DURING THE YEAR
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RECONCILIATION
(¤/thousands)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

476

176

Cash generated (used) during the year

362,060

300

Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance

362,536

476

Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance
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PART A
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A1 – GENERAL INFORMATION

Section 1
Statement of
compliance with
International
Financial Reporting
Standards
The consolidated financial statements as of and
for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been
prepared in accordance with the International
Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) and the related interpretations by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC), as endorsed by the EU
Commission with Regulation no 1606 of 19 July,
2002 and transposed into the Italian legal system
with Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February
2005, up to 31 December 2018.
Banca d’Italia, whose powers in relation to the
accounts of banks and financial companies
subject to its supervision were laid down by
Legislative Decree no. 87/92 and confirmed
by the above-mentioned Legislative Decree,
established the formats of the accounts and the
notes used to prepare these financial statements
through circular no. 262 of 22 December 2005, as
amended.
These amendments derive essentially from the
mandatory application, from 1 January 2018, of
the following international financial reporting
standards:
• IFRS 15 “Revenues from contracts with
customers”, endorsed by the European
Commission through Regulation 1905/2016,
which led to the cancellation and replacement

of IAS 18 “Revenues” and IAS 11 “Construction
contracts”;
• IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, issued by the
IASB in July 2014 and endorsed by the European
Commission through Regulation 2067/2016,
which replaced IAS 39 concerning the rules for
the classification and measurement of financial
instruments, as well as the related impairment
process.

IFRS 15
The European Commission endorsed the IFRS
15 “Revenues from contracts with customers”
through Regulation 1905/2016, which led to
the cancellation and replacement of IAS 18
“Revenues” and IAS 11 “Construction contracts”.
IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
IFRS 15 establishes the principles that an entity
applies when reporting information about
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows from a contract with a
customer. Applying IFRS 15, an entity recognizes
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revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to the customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services.
With regard to the introduction of IFRS 15, we
conducted an analyses at FCA Bank Group level
and we found that the accounting treatment of
the main cases of revenues from contracts with
customers was already in line with the provisions
of the new standard and, consequently, no
impacts were identified at accounting level

IFRS 9
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” replaced IAS
39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” starting from 1 January 2018,
and it has brought together all three aspects
related to accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting.
With reference to hedge accounting, the
standard allows to continue accounting in
accordance with IAS 39, until the project on
macro hedging is completed. FCA Bank Group
has adopted this option for both macro hedging
and micro hedge accounting.
With regard to the methods of presentation
of the effects of first-time adoption of the
standard, the Group has decided to exercise
the option established in paragraph 7.2.15
of IFRS 9, according to which – subject to
the retrospective application of the new
measurement and presentation rules required
by the standard – there is no requirement for
the compulsory restatement on a like-for-like
basis of the comparative information in the
financial statements of first-time adoption
of the new standard. In order to allocate the
comparative figures as at 31 December 2017 to
the new consolidated financial statement layouts
established in the 5th update of the Bank of Italy
Circular no. 262, in force from 1 January 2018,
the necessary reconciliations have been made,
without changing the values, to enable their
inclusion in the new captions:

• the previous captions relating to loans to
customers, loans to banks and financial assets
held to maturity are all classified under caption
“40. Financial assets measured at amortized
cost”;
• those relating to financial assets held for trading
and financial assets at fair value are classified in
caption “20. Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss;
• those relating to financial assets available
for sale are classified in caption “30. Financial
assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income;
• the previous captions relating to amounts
due to banks, amounts due to customers and
securities issued have all been allocated to the
caption “10. Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost”.
Attached to the half-yearly consolidated financial
statements are the reconciliation statements that
show the details of the allocations made from
the previous captions of the official financial
statement layouts to the new financial statement
layouts established by Circular 262.
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IFRS 16
IFRS 16 replaced the requirement of IAS 17
Leases and related interpretations, and became
mandatorily applicable from 1 January 2019.
The objective of IFRS 16 is to report information
that faithfully represents lease transactions and
provides a basis for users of financial statements
to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of
cash flows arising from leases.
Under IFRS 16 the lessor accounting requirements
are substantially carried forward compared to
IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify
its leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases
differently.
On the contrary, IFRS 16 introduces a single
lessee accounting model and requires a lessee
to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases
with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is
required to recognize:
• a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
the underlying leased asset and
• a lease liability representing its obligation to
make lease payments.
A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly
to other non-financial assets (such as property,
plant and equipment) and lease liabilities
similarly to other financial liabilities. As a
consequence, a lessee recognizes depreciation
of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease
liability. The depreciation would be on a straightline basis. In the statement of cash flows, a lessee
separates the total amount of cash paid into
principal (presented within financing activities)
and interest (presented within either operating
or financing activities) in accordance with IAS 7.
The lease asset is the right to use the underlying
asset and is presented in the statement of
financial position either as part of property, plant
and equipment or as its own line item.

Transition approach
FCA Bank Group will not pursue the early
adoption of the standard and will first apply IFRS
16 starting from 1 January 2019.
IFRS 16 foresees the following transition
provisions:
• Existing finance leases will continue to be
treated as finance leases.
• Existing operating leases foresee the option for
full or modified retrospective transition to reflect
the requirements of IFRS 16.
FCA Bank Group will adopt the modified
retrospective approach, that permits the entity
not to reassess if a contract is, or contains,
a lease at the date of initial application. As a
consequence FCA Bank Group will not recognize
any FTA amount with equity impact.
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Exemptions
IFRS 16 does not require a company to recognize
assets and liabilities for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The conventionally
defined thresholds are 12 months or less with
reference to the lease term and 5 thousand euros
for the underlying asset.
Moreover, the IASB decided to expand the shortterm lease exemption to include leases for which
it is not reasonably certain that the term will be
more than 12 months, considering the likelihood
of exercise of extension and termination options.
FCA Bank Group will apply both exemptions.
Quantification of the expected impact
During 2018, a project was conducted by
a working party of FCA Bank Group under
Consolidated Financial Reporting Department, in
order to identify all leases and assess the relevant
information for each contract.
The macro-stages of the project can be
summarized in the following activities:
• Preliminary analysis carried out at central level
(mainly accounting related);
• Specific training on IFRS 16 provided to all legal
entities of FCA Bank Group;
• Survey filled out by each legal entity and data
collection;

• Review of the results and identification of the
types of contracts (right of use) involved;
• Analysis of the contractual clauses for the
definition of the inclusion/exclusion cases by the
application of IFRS 16;
• Estimation of the impact resulting from the
IFRS 16 adoption at consolidated level.
As a results of the analysis conducted, the
estimated impact of IFRS 16 on consolidated
total assets is lower than 1%.
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Section 2
Basis
of preparation
The consolidated financial statements consist of
the Statement of financial position, the Income
statement, the Statement of comprehensive
income, the Statement of changes in equity, the
Statement of cash flows and the Notes as well as
a board of directors’ report on Group operations.
The financial statements and the notes show the
amounts for the year just ended at 31 December
2018 well as the comparative figures at 31
December 2017.
The FCA Bank Group’s consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with IAS
1 and the guidelines of Banca d’Italia’s circular
no. 262 of 22 December 2005, 5th update of 22
December 2017. In particular:
• Formats of the consolidated Statement of
financial position, Income statement and notes.
The statement of financial position and the
income statement do not contain items with
zero balances in the year just ended and in the
previous one.
• Statement of comprehensive income.
The statement of comprehensive income reflects,
in addition to net profit for the year, other items
of income and expenses divided between those
that can be reversed and those that cannot be
reversed to income statement.
• Statement of changes in consolidated equity.
The statement of changes in equity shows
the composition and changes in equity for
the year under review and the comparable
period. The items are allocated between the
amounts attributable to the Parent Company’s
shareholders and non-controlling interests.
• Consolidated statement of cash flows.
The Statement of cash flows was prepared under
the direct method.
• Unit of account.
Amounts in the financial statements and the
notes are in thousands of euros.
• Going concern, accrual basis of accounting
and consistency of presentation of financial
statements.

The Group is expected to remain viable in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 were prepared on the assumption that the
Company is a going concern, in accordance with
the accrual basis of accounting and consistent
with the financial statements for the previous
year.
There were no departures from the application of
IAS/IFRSs.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
RELATED TO THE USE
OF ESTIMATES
In accordance with IFRSs, management is
required to make assessments, estimates and
assumptions which affect the application of
IFRSs and the amounts of reported assets,
liabilities, costs and revenues and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates
and the relevant assumptions are based on
past experience and other factors considered
reasonable under the circumstances and are
adopted to determine the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities.
In particular, estimates were made to support
the carrying amounts of certain significant items
of the consolidated financial statements as of
31 December 2018, in accordance with IAS/
IFRSs and the above-mentioned guidelines.
Such estimates concerned largely the future
recoverability of the reported carrying amounts
in accordance with the applicable rules and
based on a going concern assumption.
Estimates and assumptions are revised regularly
and updated from time to time. In case
performance fails to meet expectations, carrying
amounts might differ from original estimates and
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should, accordingly, be changed. In these cases,
changes are recognized through profit or loss in
the period in which they occur or in subsequent
years.
The main areas where management is required to
make subjective assessments include:
• recoverability of receivables and, in general,
financial assets and the determination of any
impairment;
• determination of the fair value of financial
instruments to be used for financial reporting
purposes; in particular, the use of valuation
models to determine the fair value of financial
instruments not traded in active markets;
• quantification of employee provisions and
provisions for risks and charges;
• recoverability of deferred tax assets and
goodwill.

Section 3
Scope and methods
of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements as of 31
December 2018 include the accounts of the
Parent Company, FCA Bank S.p.A., and its direct
and indirect Italian and foreign subsidiaries, as
required by IFRS 10.
They reflect also the entities, including structured
entities, in relation to which the Parent Company
has exposure or rights to variable returns and the
ability to affect those returns through power over
them.
To determine the existence of control, the Group
considers the following factors:
• the purpose and design of the investee, to
identify the entity’s objectives, the activities that
give rise to its returns and how such activities are
governed;
• the power over the investee and whether the
Group has contractual arrangements, which
attribute it the ability to govern the relevant
activities; to this end, attention is paid only

to substantive rights, which provide practical
governance capabilities;
• the exposure to the investee to determine
whether the Group has arrangements with the
investee whose returns vary depending on the
investee’s performance.
If the relevant activities are governed through
voting rights, control may be evidenced by
considering potential or actual voting rights, the
existence of any arrangements or shareholders’
agreements giving the right to control the
majority of the voting rights, to appoint the
majority of the members of the board of
directors or otherwise the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of the entity.
Subsidiaries may include any structured entities,
where voting rights are not paramount to
determine the existence of control, including
special purpose vehicles (SPVs). Structured
entities are considered subsidiaries where:
• the Group has the power, through contractual
arrangements, to govern the relevant activities;
• the Group is exposed to the variable returns
deriving from their activities.
The Group does not have any investments in joint
ventures.
The table below shows the companies included in
the scope of consolidation.
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1. Investments in controlled subsidiaries
NAME

REGISTERED
OFFICE

FCA Bank S.p.A.

Turin - Italy

Leasys S.p.A.

Turin - Italy

COUNTRY OF

TYPE OF

INCORPORATION RELATIONSHIP

PARENT COMPANY
(***)

SHARING
%

(*)

(**)

Roma - Italia

1

100.00
100.00

FCA Capital France SA

Trappes - France

1

Leasys France SAS

Trappes - France

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

FCA Leasing France SNC

Trappes - France

1

FCA Capital France SA

99.99

Heilbronn - Germany

1

100.00

FCA Automotive Services UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

100.00

Leasys UK Ltd

Slough - UK

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

1

Leasys S.p.A.

100.00

FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH

Win Rent S.p.A.

Bolzano - Italy

Fiumicino Italy

FCA Capital España EFC SA

Alcala de Henares - Spain

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services España SA

Alcala de Henares - Spain

1

100.00

FCA Capital Portugal IFIC SA

Lisbon - Portugal

1

100.00

FCA Dealer Services Portugal SA

Lisbon - Portugal

1

100.00

Schlieren - Switzereland

1

100.00

FCA Leasing Polska Sp Zoo

Warsaw - Poland

1

100,00

FCA-Group Bank Polska SA

Warsaw - Poland

1

100.00

Lijnden - Netherlands

1

100.00

FCA Capital Danmark A/S

Glostrup - Denmark

1

100.00

FCA Capital Belgium S.A.

Auderghem - Belgium

1

100.00

Vienna - Austria

2

50.00

Pullach - Munchen

1

50.0001

FCA Leasing GmbH

Vienna - Austria

1

100.00

FCA Capital Hellas SA

Athens - Greece

1

99.99

FCA Insurance Hellas SA

Athens - Greece

1

FCA Capital Re DAC

Dublin - Ireland

1

FCA Capital Sverige AB

Sweden

1

FCA Capital Danmark A/S

100.00

FCA Capital Norge AS

Norway

1

FCA Capital Danmark A/S

100.00

FCA Capital Suisse SA

FCA Capital Netherlands B.V.

FCA Bank GmbH
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH

(*) If different from Registered Office
(**) Relation Type:

1 = majority of voting rights at ordinary meetings
2 = dominant influence at ordinary meeting

FCA Capital Hellas SA

99.99
100.00

(***) If different from FCA Bank S.p.A.
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The structured entities related to securitization transactions, whose details
are provided below, are fully consolidated:

COUNTRY

NAME
A-BEST SIXTEEN U.G.

Frankfurt am Main - Germany

A-BEST TEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) – Italy

A-BEST ELEVEN UG

Frankfurt am Main - Germany

A-BEST TWELVE S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST THIRTEEN FT

Madrid - Spain

A-BEST FOURTEEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

A-BEST FIFTEEN S.r.l.

Conegliano (TV) - Italy

NIXES SIX Plc

London - UK

NIXES SEVEN B.V.

Amsterdam - the Netherlands

ERASMUS FINANCE LIMITED S.r.l.

Dublin - Ireland

FAST 3 S.r.l.

Milan - Italy

2. Investments in subsidiaries with
significant non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests, availability of non-controlling interests’ voting rights and dividends paid to
non-controlling interests

Name

Non-controlling interests
(%)

Availability of non-controlling interests' voting
tights (%)

Dividends distributed to
non-controlling interests

FCA Bank GmbH (Austria)

50%

50%

-

Ferrari Financial Services
GmbH (Germania)

49.99%

49.99%

-

Pursuant to IFRS 10, FCA Bank GmbH (Austria), a 50%-held subsidiary and Ferrari Financial Services
GmbH a 50.0001%-held subsidiary are included in the consolidation area.
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Investments in subsidiaries
with significant non-controlling
interests.
The table below provides financial and operating
highlights of FCA Bank GmbH and of Ferrari
Financial Services GmbH before intercompany
eliminations required by IFRS 12:

(amounts in thousands of euros)

FCA BANK GMBH (AUSTRIA)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

311,175

295,997

Financial assets

308,899

293,230

Financial liabilities

258,386

249,855

Equity

46,520

41,574

8,105

6,971

322

1,028

Banking income

8,427

8,000

Net result from investment activities

8,730

8,303

Net result from investment and insurance activities

8,730

8,303

(2,274)

(2,054)

Profit (loss) before taxes from continuing operations

6,455

6,249

Net profit (loss) for the period

4,738

4,527

Total assets

Net interest income
Net fee and commission income

Operating costs
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(amounts in thousands of euros)

FERRARI FINANCIAL SERVICES GMBH (GERMANY)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Total assets

611,351

514,796

Financial assets

602,167

507,901

Financial liabilities

546,630

457,857

Equity

49,969

44,705

Net interest income

18,522

16,076

Net fee and commission income

(147)

42

Banking income

18,408

16,175

Net result from investment activities

17,272

14,980

Net result from investment and insurance activities

17,272

14,980

(8,968)

(8,419)

Profit (loss) before taxes from continuing operations

8,304

6,561

Net profit (loss) for the period

5,330

4,873

Operating costs
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CONSOLIDATION METHODS
In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the financial statements of the
parent company and its subsidiaries, prepared
according to IAS/IFRSs, are consolidated on a
line-by-line basis by aggregating together like
items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses.
The carrying amount of the parent’s investment
in each subsidiary and the corresponding
portions of the equity of each such subsidiary are
eliminated.
Any difference arising during this process – after
the allocation to the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary – is recognized as goodwill on first
time consolidation and, subsequently, among
other reserves.
The share of net profit pertaining to noncontrolling interests is indicated separately,
so at to determine the amount of net
profit attributable to the parent company’s
shareholders.
Assets, liabilities, costs and revenues arising from
intercompany transactions are eliminated.

The financial statements of the Parent Company
and those of the subsidiaries used for the
consolidated financial statements are all as of the
same date.
For foreign subsidiaries, which prepare their
accounts in currencies other than the euro, assets
and liabilities are translated at the exchange
rate prevailing on the balance sheet date while
revenues and costs are translated at the average
exchange rate for the period.
Exchange differences arising from the conversion
of costs and revenues at the average exchange
rate and the conversion of assets and liabilities at
the reporting date are reported in profit or loss in
the period.
Exchange differences arising from the equity of
consolidated subsidiaries are recognized in other
comprehensive income and reversed to profit and
loss when loss of control over the subsidiaries’
occurs.
The exchange rates used to translate the financial
statements at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

31/12/2018

Medium
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Medium
31/12/2017

Polish Zloty (PLN)

4.301

4.261

4.177

4.257

Danish Crown(DKK)

7.467

7.453

7.445

7.439

Swiss Franc (CHF)

1.127

1.155

1.170

1.112

GB Pound (GBP)

0.895

0.885

0.887

0.877

Norwegian Krone (NOK)

9.948

9.597

9.840

9.327

Moroccan Dirham (MAD)

10.951

11.083

11.219

10.961

Svedish Krona (SEK)

10.255

10.258

9.844

9.635
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OTHER INFORMATION
To prepare the consolidated financial statements
use was made of the following:
• financial statements at 31 December 2018 of the
Parent Company FCA Bank S.p.A.;
• accounts as of 31 December 2018, approved
by the competent bodies and functions, of the
other fully consolidated companies, as adjusted
to take into account the consolidation process
and, where necessary, to comply with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Section 4
Subsequent
events
No events occurred after the balance sheet
date which should result in adjustments of
the consolidated financial statements as of
31 December 2018. A description of the most
significant events occurring after the balance
sheet date is provided in the specific section in
the Report on operations.

Section 5
Other information
The consolidated financial statements and the
Parent Company’s financial statements were
audited by Ernst&Young S.p.A. pursuant to
Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ENDORSED
BY THE EUROPEAN UNION, WITH EFFECT APPLICABLE AS OF 1
JANUARY 2018

EC endorsement

Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

2067/2016

29 November 2016

1 January 2018

Description of standard/amendment

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments
The document reflects the results of the phases related to classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting of IASB's plan to replace IAS 39. The standard introduces
new criteria to classify and measure financial assets and liabilities. In particular, for the financial assets the new standard
uses a single approach based on the management of financial
instruments and the characteristics of the contractual cash
flows of the financial assets to determine their measurement
method, replacing the different methods provided for by IAS
39.
On the other hand, for financial liabilities the main change concerns the accounting treatment of changes in the fair value of
a financial liability designated as a financial liability recognized
at fair value through profit or loss, in case these changes are
due to changes in the issuer's credit rating at fair value. Under
the new standard, these changes must be recognized through
other comprehensive income and no longer through profit or
loss.
With reference to the impairment model, the new standard
requires loan loss estimates be made on the basis of the
expected loss model (not on the incurred loss model) using
supportable information, available without unreasonable costs
or efforts that would include historical, current and prospective data. The standard requires that this model be applied to all
financial instruments, that is to all financial assets measured at
amortized cost, to those recognized at fair value through other
comprehensive income, to receivables arising from rental contracts and to trade receivables.
Lastly, the standard introduces a new model of hedge accounting to modify the requirements of the current IAS 39, which
sometimes are considered too strict and unsuited to reflect
entities' risk management policies. The main developments of
the document concern:
- increase in the number of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, including also the risks of non-financial assets/liabilities eligible for hedge accounting treatment;
- change of accounting treatment of forward contracts and
options when they are embedded in a hedge accounting relationship, to reduce the volatility of the income statement;
- amendments to the effectiveness test by replacing the current procedure based on the 80%-125% range with the concept
of "economic relationship" between hedged item and hedging
instrument. A retrospective assessment of effectiveness of the
hedging relationship will no longer be required.
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Description of standard/amendment

EC endorsement

Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

1905/2016

29 October 2016

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers including
amendments to IFRS 15
The objective of IFRS 15 is to establish a new revenue recognition model which will apply to all contracts entered into
with customers except those that fall within the scope of other
IFRSs/IAS, such as leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. The key steps to account for revenue according to
the new model include:
- identify the contract(s) with the customer;
- identify the performance obligations of the contract;
- determine the transaction price;
- allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract;
- recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
On the 12th April 2016 the Board has issued amendments to
the Revenue Standard, clarifying some requirements and providing additional transitional relief for companies that are implementing the new Standard. The amendments clarify how to:
- identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a
good or a service to a customer) in a contract;
- determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of
a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for
the good or service to be provided);
- determine whether the revenue from granting a license
should be recognized at a point in time or over time.
In addition to the clarifications, the amendments include two
additional reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company
when it first applies the new Standard.
The adoption of the new standard didn’t have any impact on
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1905/2016

9 November 2017

1 January 2018

Insurance contracts - Amendments to IFRS 4
On 12 September 2016 the IASB published “Applying IFRS 9
Financial instruments with lFRS 4 Insurance Contracts”, which
introduced amendments to deal with the criticalities for the insurance sector deriving from the misalignment of the different
dates for the application of the new standard on financial instruments and that on insurance contracts. The amendments
are intended to address the concerns of certain interested parties, particularly the insurance sector, deriving from the different dates of application of IFRS 9 and the upcoming standard
on insurance contracts. Application of IFRS 9 as of 1 January
2018 should have the following criticalities: - additional volatility
in profit or loss due to the application of the SPPI test; greater
costs deriving from the first-time adoption of IFRS 9 without
an IFRS on technical reserves and a subsequent amendment
to the standard in connection with the application of IFRS 17; two significant changes for financial statement users in a short
period of time.
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Description of standard/amendment

EC endorsement

Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

1987/2017

9 November 2017

1 January 2018

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 15 to address several implementation issues discussed by the Joint
Transition Resource Group for Revenue Recognition. As such,
the amendments:
- Clarify when a promised good or service is distinct within the
context of the contract;
- Clarify how to apply the principal versus agent application
guidance, including the unit of account for the assessment,
how to apply the control principle in service transactions and
reframe the indicators;
- Clarify when an entity’s activities significantly affect the intellectual property (IP) to which the customer has rights, which is
a factor in determining whether the entity recognizes revenue
for licenses over time or at a point in time;
- Clarify the scope of the exception for sales-based and usage-based royalties related to licenses of IP (the royalty constraint) when there are other promised goods or services in
the contract;
- Add two practical expedients to the transition requirements
of IFRS 15 for: (a) completed contracts under the full retrospective transition approach; and (b) contract modifications
at transition.

519/2018

3 April 2018

1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
IFRIC 22 provides requirements about which exchange rate to
use in reporting foreign currency transactions when payment
is made or received in advance.

800/2018

15 March 2018

1 January 2018

Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property
The amendments concern the application of paragraph 57 of
IAS 40 Investment Property, which provides guidance on transfers to, or from, investment properties.
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Description of standard/amendment

EC endorsement

Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

289/2018

27 February 2018

1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
The Board issued amendments to IFRS 2, clarifying how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions.
The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for:
- the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
- share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations;
- a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction
from cash-settled to equity-settled.

182/2018

8 February 2018

1 January 2017
1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle
The improvements concern:
- IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; the issue is
related to clarify the scope of the disclosure requirements by
specifying that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other
than those in paragraphs B10–B16, apply to interests that are
classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. The date
of application is 1 January 2017.
- IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; the objective of this project is to delate some
of the short-term exemptions from IFRSs in Appendix E of
IFRS 1, after those short-term exemptions have served their
intended purpose. The date of application is 1 January 2018.
- IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures; the
issue is to clarify whether an entity has an investment-by- investment choice for measuring investees at fair value in accordance with IAS 28 by a venture capital organization, or a
mutual fund, unit trust or similar entities including investment
linked insurance funds. Additionally, an entity that is not an
investment entity may have an associate or joint venture that
is an investment entity. The Board noted that paragraph 36A
of IAS 28 permits such an entity the choice to retain the fair
value measurements used by that investment entity associate
or joint venture when applying the equity method. The date of
application is 1 January 2018.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS ANF IFRS AND IFRIC
INTERPRETATIONS EDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION, NOT
YET MANDATORILY APPLICABLE AND NOT ADOPTED EARLY BY
THE GROUP AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Description of standard/amendment

EC endorsement

Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

1986/2017

9 November 2017

1 January 2019

IFRS 16 Leases
The new standard constitutes an innovation in that it established that leases be reported in entities' balance sheets, thus
enhancing the visibility of their assets and liabilities.
IFRS 16 repeals the distinction between operating leases and
finance leases (for the lessee), requiring that all lease contracts
be treated as finance leases.
Short-term contracts (12 months) and those involving low value
items (e.g. personal computers) are exempted from this treatment.
The new standard will take effect on 1 January 2019, Early adoption is permitted provided that also IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is applied.

498/2018

26 March 2018

1 January 2019

Amendments to IFRS9
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI
criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9
clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless
of the event or circumstance that causes the early termination of
the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract.
The amendments specified that the early termination can result
from a contractual term or from an event outside the control of
the parties, such as a change in law or regulation leading to the
early termination of the contract.
The amendments must be applied retrospectively; earlier application is permitted.
The amendment provides specific transition provisions if it is
only applied in 2019 rather than in 2018 with the remainder of
IFRS 9.
The amendments are intended to apply when the prepayment
amount approximates to unpaid amounts of principal and interest plus or minus an amount that reflects the change in a benchmark interest rate.
This implies that prepayments at current fair value or at an
amount that includes the fair value of the cost to terminate an
associated hedging instrument, will normally satisfy the SPPI criterion only if the other elements of the change in fair value, such
as the effects of credit risk or liquidity, are small.
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI
criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9
clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless
of the event or circumstance that causes the early termination of
the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract.
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Date

Date

Regulation

of publication

of application

1595/2018

24/10/2018

1 January 2019
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Description of standard/amendment

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The standard clarifies the accounting treatment for uncertainties in accounting for income tax. The entity needs to evaluate
the probability that the relevant tax authority accepts the accounting treatment of income tax. If it is probable that the tax
authority does not accept the accounting treatment, IFRIC 23
proposes two methods to reflect the uncertainty in the calculation of income tax:
- the most likely amount that the tax authority will accept
(e.g. in case of a binary choice – cost deduction accepted or
rejected totally);
- the sum of amounts weighted by the probability that the tax
authority will accept each one of them (e.g. when there are
different possible answers by the authority).
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION
Description of standard/amendment

Standard/

Date of issue

Date

amendment

(IASB)

of application

IFRS 17 - Insurance
contracts

18 May 2017

1 January 2021

On 18 May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts
which applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021.
The new standard, which deals with accounting for insurance contracts (previously known as IFRS 4), intends to improve
the understanding of investors, among others, of insurers’ risk
exposure, operating performance and financial position. The
IASB published a final version after a long consultation phase.
IFRS 17 is a complex standard which will include certain key
differences from the current accounting treatment regarding
the measurement of liabilities and the recognition of profits.
IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts. The accounting model of reference, the General Model, is based on the present
value of expected cash flows, the identification of a risk adjustment and a contractual service margin (“CSM”), which cannot be negative and represents the present value of unearned
profit, to be released to profit or loss in each period with the
passage of time.

Amendment to
IAS 28

12 October 2017

1 January 2019

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is not applied.
In applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any
losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognized as adjustments to the
net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from
applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
To illustrate how entities apply the requirements in IAS 28 and
IFRS 9 with respect to long-term interests, the IASB also published an illustrative example.
The amendments are applied retrospectively, with certain
exceptions. Early application of the amendments is permitted
and must be disclosed.
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(IASB)
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Description of standard/amendment

IFRS 3 Business Combinations - The amendments clarify that,
when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint
operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring previously held
interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at
fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint operation. An entity applies
those amendments to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier
application is permitted.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - A party that participates in, but
does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain
joint control of the joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3. The
amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that
joint operation are not remeasured. An entity applies those
amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier application is permitted.
IAS 12 Income Taxes - The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to
past transactions or events that generated distributable profits
than to distributions to owners. Therefore, an entity recognizes
the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or equity according to where the
entity originally recognized those past transactions or events.
An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier application
is permitted. When an entity first applies those amendments,
it applies them to the income tax consequences of dividends
recognized on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period.
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of
the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its intended
use or sale are complete. An entity applies those amendments
to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those
amendments. An entity applies those amendments for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier
application is permitted.
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Description of standard/amendment

Date of issue

Date

amendment

(IASB)

of application

Amendments
to IAS 19: Plan
Amendment,
Curtailment or
Settlement

7 February 2018

1 January 2019

Amendments to IAS19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19) specifies how companies determine pension expenses when changes to a defined benefit
pension plan occur. IAS 19 - Employee Benefits specifies how a
company accounts for a defined benefit plan. When a change
to a plan - an amendment, curtailment or settlement—takes
place, IAS 19 requires a company to remeasure its net defined
benefit liability or asset.
The amendments require a company to use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting
period after the change to the plan. Until now, IAS 19 did not
specify how to determine these expenses for the period after
the change to the plan. By requiring the use of updated assumptions, the amendments are expected to provide useful
information to users of financial statements. The amendments
are effective on or after 1 January 2019.

Amendments to
References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards

29 March 2018

1 January 2020

The IASB issued on on 29 March 2018 a revised version of its
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting that underpins
IFRSs. This instrument helps to ensure that the Standards are
conceptually consistent and that similar transactions are treated the same way, providing useful information for investors
and others. The Conceptual Framework also assists companies in developing accounting policies when no IFRS Standard
applies to a particular transaction; and it helps stakeholders
more broadly to understand the Standards better. The revised
Conceptual Framework includes: a new chapter on measurement; guidance on reporting financial performance; improved
definitions and guidance - in particular the definition of a liability; and clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of
stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting.

Amendments
to IFRS 3

22 October 2018

1 January 2020

The IASB, in the updated version of IFRS 3 - Business combinations, changed the definition of company.
The new definition shows that the purpose of the company is
to provide products and services to customers, while the previous definition focused on the purpose of producing outcome
in the form of dividends, lower costs or other benefits economic for investors or others.
Companies apply to business combinations the new definition
starting from the operations having date of stipulation later
than 1 January 2020.

Amendment
to IAS 1 and
IAS 8

31 October 2018

1° January 2020

The IASB clarified in IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” the definition of “material” and aligned
such definition with that used in the Conceptual Framework
and in the IFRS.
Information is material if omitting or misstating it could reasonably affect the decisions that the primary users of financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

- 191

Transition
to IFRS 9

The new IFRS 9, issued by the IASB in July 2014
and endorsed by the European Commission
through Regulation 2067/2016, has replaced IAS
39, which until 31 December 2017 had governed
the classification and measurement of financial
instruments, with effect from 1 January 2018.
This disclosure has been prepared to allow an
adequate understanding of the transition from
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, which has been applied until 31
December 2017, to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments.
It summarizes the most significant aspects of
the new standard and describes the transition
process at the FCA Bank Group. It also provides
information on the first-time adoption of IFRS 9
in terms of qualitative and quantitative impacts.
In 2015 the FCA Bank Group started the project
to implement IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments,
the new financial reporting standard that has
replaced IAS 39 for the classification and
measurement of financial instruments as well
as for the calculation of impairments. The
project is designed to explore the different
areas of application of the new financial
reporting standard in relation to “Classification
and Measurement”, “Impairment” and “Hedge
Accounting” and to define its quantitative
impacts.
The project was conducted by a working party
under the joint stewardship of the Finance and
Risk & Permanent Control departments. The
working party includes representatives from all
company functions, with the creation of theme
sub-groups on the basis of the ramifications of
IFRS 9 and the Group’s activity segments.

The working parties listed below followed the
three themes affected by IFRS 9:
• Classification and measurement (C&M);
• Impairment;
• Hedge Accounting.
For each theme, use was made of the same
methodological approach in light of the following
macro-stages of activity:
• preliminary analyses and choices (mainly
accounting and model related);
• design of the target operational model and
definition of the related IT impacts;
• application and organizational development
and impact analysis.
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CLASSIFICATION AND
MEASUREMENT
The entity’s Business Model reflects the
objectives that management intends to pursue
by holding financial assets. More specifically:
• “Hold To Collect” (HTC), if the objective is the
collection of contractual cash flows, by holding
the instrument to maturity;
• “Hold to Collect and Sell” (HTC&S), if the
financial assets are held to collect both the
relevant contractual cash flows throughout their
life and the proceeds from their sale;
• “Other”, if the objectives are different from
those described above, such as, among others,
collecting cash flows through the sale of the
financial assets.
• Contractual cash flow characteristics
indicate whether cash flows are based solely
on payment of principal and interest (SPPI)
or they depend also on other variables (e.g.
dividends or repayment of invested capital
based on the financial performance of the issuer
etc.). Contractual cash flow characteristics are
determined on the basis of tests known as SPPI
tests.
The combination of the business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics give rise to
the following accounting items:
• financial assets measured at amortized cost,
which include debt instruments (loans and
financial instruments falling within the “Hold
to Collect” model, where cash flows are based
solely on payment of principal and interest (SPPI
test is met);

• financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, with cumulative
gains or losses recycled to profit or loss. These
include debt instruments (loans and securities)
falling within the “Hold to Collect and Sell”
business model, where cash flows are based
solely on payment of principal and interest (SPPI
test is met);
• financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss, which include all financial
assets held for trading, including non-hedging
derivatives, and, regardless of the business
model, such assets as are measured mandatorily
at fair value given that the relevant cash flows
are not based solely on payment o principal
and interest (SPPI not met). Accordingly,
they include all equity instruments, unless the
entity elects irrevocably to recognize them as
financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, without recycling
cumulative gains and losses to profit or loss
(except for dividends that continue to be
recognized through profit or loss).
In addition to the above categories, use can be
made of “Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss”. This election is irrevocable
and can be used only to eliminate or significantly
reduce a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing
the gains and losses on them on different bases
(“accounting mismatch”).
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IMPAIRMENT

Based on the above, upon transition to IFRS
9, the Group defined the classification of
financial instruments on the basis of the new
accounting items set out by IFRS 9 – considering
the business model as of 1 January 2018 and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the instrument on initial recognitions– and to
recognize them on the basis of the relevant
measurement criteria.
Regarding the SPPI test of financial assets, the
methodology to be used has been defined and
the analysis of the composition of the existing
financial instrument and loan and receivable
portfolios were completed, so as to classify them
properly when IFRS 9 is adopted.
In the context of the project, modular analyses
were performed for loans and receivables taking
into account the significance of the portfolios,
their consistency and the various activity
segments. In this respect, consistent approaches
have been used for the retail and corporate
segments of the loan and receivable portfolio.
The analyses revealed that all the financial assets
passed the SPPI test.
Regarding the second method to classify
financial assets (business model), the analysis
conducted with retail and corporate counterparts
showed that there is a single Hold-to-Collect
business model.
Financial instruments classified previously as
HTM have been allocated to financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) without recycling to profit or loss.

According to IFRS 9, all financial assets that
are not measured at fair value through profit or
loss, representing debt instruments and loans,
and off-balance-sheet exposures (commitments
and guarantees issued) are subject to the new
impairment model based on expected credit
losses (ECL). The objective of the new approach
is to ensure a timelier recognition of expected
losses compared to the IAS 39 model, whereby
losses had to be recognized only in the presence
of objective evidence obtained after the initial
recognition of the asset (i.e. incurred loss model).
More specifically, the impairment model
introduced by IFRS 9 is based on the concepts
of 12-month expected credit loss (Stage 1) and
lifetime expected credit loss (stage 2 and stage
3). In particular, the model requires classification
in three different stages, with different ECL
measurement methods:
• Stage 1 calls for a 12-month expected credit
loss. Stage 1 includes performing financial assets,
for which no significant credit risk increase has
occurred since their initial recognition;
• Stage 2 calls for a lifetime expected credit
loss. Stage 2 includes all financial assets that
experienced a significant credit risk increase
since their initial recognition:
- retail business: FCA Bank determines the
significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition based on days of expiry; the transfer
to Stage 2 incurres when the contract has days of
expiry greater than or equal to 1;
- dealer financing business: FCA Bank determines
the significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition based on days of expiry
(greater than 30 days) or if the customer is
assigned some of the risk parameters included in
the observation list determined by the company
(Watch-list).
• Stage 3 calls for a lifetime expected credit loss
based on a 100% probability of default. Stage 3
includes non-performing financial assets.
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Under the expected credit loss model, losses are
recognized not only with reference to objective
evidence of impairment arisen at the reporting
date but also on the basis of expected future
losses that have not materialized yet, which must
reflect:
• the probability of occurrence of different
scenarios;
• the effect of discounting with the effective
interest rate;
• historical experience and assessment of current
and future conditions.
To implement the above requisites:
• parameters have been defined to determine
the significant credit risk increase, for the
proper allocation of exposures to stage 1 or
stage 2. These parameters are consistent with
company credit analysis policies. Non-performing
exposures, which are allocated to stage 3, are
considered such in accordance with prudential
rules;
• models have been designed, inclusive of
forward-looking information, for stage allocation
(regarding the use of lifetime PD, as indicator of
relative impairment) and to calculate 12-month
ECL (for stage 1 exposures) and lifetime ECL (for
stage 2 and 3 exposures).
The methods considered for the measurement of
exposures to be transferred between stages are
based on qualitative and quantitative elements
within the scope of the standard.
Regarding the new impairment model, the key
elements completed were the following:
• The definition of parameters to determine
the significant increase of credit risk, for the
proper allocation of exposures in stage 1 or stage
2. These parameters are consistent with the
Bank’s credit analysis policies. Non-performing
exposures, allocated in stage 3, have been
considered such in keeping with prudential rules;

• The determination of the short-term and
lifetime PD;
• The definition of the forward-looking models.
The criteria considered for the purposes of
the considerations on the transfers between
stages are based on qualitative and quantitative
elements, in accordance with the standard.

HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Regarding hedge accounting, the new rules
introduced by IFRS 9 are intended to ensure
greater alignment between he recognition of
accounting hedges and the underlying risk
management logic. However, these rules do not
apply to macro hedging, in relation to which an
ad hoc project has been undertaken, separately
from IFRS 9, which has not yet produced an
accounting standard.
The hedging operations will continue to be
managed in accordance with the provisions of
IAS 39 currently in force.

ORGANIZATIONAL IMPACTS
In parallel with the implementation in the
information systems, similar analyses and actions
are under way in relation to the organization.
Specifically, the main organizational impacts
concern the review and adaptation of the
existing operational processes, the design
and implementation of new processes and
the review of the dimensioning and expansion
of the responsibilities available within the
different operational, administrative and control
departments.
Specifically, the actions related to the
Classification and Measurement area concern,
in the first place, the Marketing function, to
identify the Business Models and to define the
operational and monitoring processes for the
SPPI test, with special emphasis on the process
for the development of new products.
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GROUP’S ELECTIONS

THE EFFECTS OF FIRST-TIME
ADOPTION (FTA) OF IFRS 9

Regulation EU 2017/2395 “Transitional
arrangements for mitigating the impact of the
introduction of IFRS 9 on own funds”, enacted
on 12 December 2017, allows banks – in article
473 a “Introduction to IFRS 9” – to mitigate
the effects on own funds deriving from the
introduction of IFRS 9 over a five-year transition
period (from March 2018 to December 2022),
softening the impact in CET 1 with the application
of decreasing percentages over time.

As stated in the Accounting Policies paragraph
relating to the Criteria for the preparation of the
Interim Statement, the Group has decided to
exercise the option, provided by IFRS 9, of not
restating the comparative information for the
IFRS 9 first-time adoption financial statements. In
order to assign the 2017 comparative information
to the accounting captions established in the
new Circular 262 official financial statement
layouts, the necessary reconciliations have
been made, without changing the values, based
on the criteria indicated in the Accounting
Policies paragraph, which readers are referred
to. This section shows the reconciliations of the
accounting balances as at 1 January 2018 as a
result of the application of the new classification
and measurement rules required by IFRS 9.

The Group elected not to use the transitional
regime for the gradual computation in CET 1 of
the provisions required with the application of
IFRS 9.
Regarding the reporting of the effects of firsttime adoption, the Group has elected to apply
the exemption in paragraph 7.2.15 of IFRS 9
whereby, without prejudice to the retrospective
application of the new measurement and
recognition methods required by the standard,
it will not restate prior periods in the year of
initial application of the standard. According to
guidance of the 5th update of Circular 262 of
Bank of Italy, “Banks’ financial statements: layout
and preparation”, banks that elect to apply the
exemption from the obligation to restate prior
periods should in any case include in the first
financial statements prepared on the basis of
the new circular 262 a statement indicating the
method utilized and the reconciliation between
the figures of the latest approved financial
statements and the first financial statements
prepared with the new standard. The form and
content of this disclosure are left to the individual
entity management’s discretion.
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Reconciliation between the Financial Statements published in
the 2017 Annual Report and the IFRS 9 Financial Statements
(new Circular 262) as at 1 January 2018 (reclassification of IAS
39 balances)

110. Insurance Reserves Attributable
To Reinsurers

120. Tangible Assets

130. Intangible Assets

140. Tax Assets

160. Other Assets

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10

23,325

-

2,098

21,227

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,325

67

-

-

-

67

-

-

-

-

-

-

67

60. Changes In Fair Value
Of Portfolio Hedge Items
(+/-)

5

-

-

-

-

5

-

-

-

-

-

5

80. Insurance Reserves
Attributable To Reinsurers

11

-

-

-

-

-

11

-

-

-

-

11

1,959

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,959

-

-

-

1,959

100. Intangible Assets

237

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

237

-

-

237

110. Tax Assets

280

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

280

-

280

1,276

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,276

1,276

67

5

11

1,959

237

280

1,276

27,170

30. Financial Assets Designated
At Fair Value With Effects
On Comprehensive Income
40. Financial Assets Valued
At Amortized Cost
50. Hedging Derivatives

90. Tangible Assets

130. Other Assets

Total

10

27,170

60. Loans And Receivables
With Banks

IAS 39 (¤/mln)

IFRS 9 (¤/mln)

10

70. Loans And Receivables
With Customers

10

Assets

50. Held To Maturity Investments

90. Changes In Fair Value
Of Portfolio Hedge Items (+/-)

to IAS 39) are reconciled to the new accounting
captions, according to the reclassifications
required as a result of the new classification
criteria introduced by IFRS 9 and based on
the analyses carried out (already described
above), but without the application of the new
measurement criteria and, therefore, with the
same amount of total assets and total liabilities.

80. Hedging Derivatives

The schedules below show the reconciliations
between the Financial Statements as per the
2017 Annual Report and the Financial Statements
introduced by the new Bank of Italy Circular
262, which incorporates the adoption of the
presentation criteria established by IFRS 9. In
these statements, the accounting balances as at
31 December 2017 (figures determined according

2,098 21,227

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

With reference to the new Circular 262, the FCA
Bank Group carried out the new reclassifications
to comply with the new reporting criteria:
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• reclassification of items 60 – Due from banks
and 70 – Due from customers to item 40 –
Financial assets recognized at amortized cost.

• reclassification of held-to-maturity financial
assets to item 30 – Financial assets recognized at
fair value through comprehensive income for ¤10
million;

40. Derivati di copertura

80. Tax Liabilities

100. Other Liabilities

110. TProvision For Employee
Severance Pay

130. Insurance Reserves

Total

13,336

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,375

-

-

-

6

-

-

-

-

-

-

6

6

120. Provision For Risks
And Charges

60. Hedging derivatives

1,483

30. Debt Securities in Issue

40. Financial Liabilities Held
For Trading

20. Financial Liabilities Held
For Trading

23,375

20. Deposits From Customers

IFRS 9 (¤/mln)

10. Financial Liabilities
Valued At Amortized Cost

8,556

10. Deposits From Banks

IAS 39 (¤/mln)

Liabilities

43

-

-

-

-

43

-

-

-

-

-

43

60. Tax Liabilities

168

-

-

-

-

-

168

-

-

-

-

168

80. Other Liabilities

871

-

-

-

-

-

-

871

-

-

-

871

12

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12

-

-

12

188

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

188

-

188

12

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12

12

1,483

13,336

6

43

168

871

12

188

12

24,675

90. Provision For Employee
Severance Pay
100. Provisions For Risks
And Charges
110. Insurance Reserves

Total

24,675

8,556
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Reclassifications under circular 262 were made
also for liabilities and equity.
In fact, all amounts reported in items “10 –
Deposits from banks”, “20 – Deposits from
customers”, and “30 – Debt securities in issue”
have been reclassified to “10 – Financial liabilities
valued at amortized cost”.

180. Share Premium

210. Minority Interests (+/-)

220. Net Profit Or Loss (+/-)

Total

(30)

(30)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(30)

150. Reserves

1,311

-

1,311

-

-

-

-

-

1,311

(100)

-

-

(100)

-

-

-

-

(100)

193

-

-

-

193

-

-

-

193

700

-

-

-

-

700

-

-

700

42

-

-

-

-

-

42

-

42

378

-

-

-

-

-

-

378

378

(30)

1,311

(100)

193

700

42

378

2,495

IAS 39 (¤/mln)
IFRS 9 (¤/mln)

155. Interim Dividends (-)

160. Share Premium

170. Share Capital

190. Minority Interests (+/-)

200. Net Profit Or Loss (+/-)

Total

2,495

190. Share Capital

175. Interim Dividends (-)

120. Revaluation Reserves

140. Revaluation Reserves

170. Reserves

Equity

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Reconciliation between the Balance Sheet as at 31 December
2017 (which incorporates the new IFRS 9 presentation rules)
and the Balance Sheet as at 1 January 2018 (which incorporates
the new IFRS 9 measurement and impairment rules)
The schedules below show the Reconciliation
between the Balance Sheet as at 31 December
2017 (former IAS 39), which incorporates the
reclassification required by the classification
rules established by IFRS 9, described above,
and the Balance Sheet as at 1 January 2018
(IFRS 9). In these schedules, the accounting

Assets (¤/000)

balances as at 31 December 2017 (amounts
determined in accordance with IAS 39) have
been modified as a result of the application of
the new measurement and impairment rules,
to determine the IFRS 9 compliant opening
balances.

31/12/2017

Impairment

01/01/2018

10.

Cash And Cash Balances

476

476

20.

Financial Assets At FV With Effects On P&L

100

100

a) Financial Assets Held For Trading

100

100

9,594

9,594

30.

Financial Assets Designated At Fair Value
With Effects On Comprehensive Income

40.

Financial Assets Valued At Amortized Cost

23,351,441

a) Loans And Receivables To Banks

2,097,642

b) Loans And Receivables To Customers

21,253,799

(26,522)

23,324,919
2,097,642

(26,522)

21,227,277

67,119

67,119

5,124

5,124

44

44

11,321

11,321

1,959,430

1,959,430

237,023

237,023

- Goodwill

181,824

181,824

110.

Tax Assets

269,253

130.

Other Assets

50.

Hedging Derivatives

60.

Fair Value Changes Of The Hedged Items I
n Portfolio Hedge (+/-)

70.

Equity Investments

80.

Insurance Reserves Attributable To Reinsurers

90.

Tangible Assets

100.

Intangible Assets
Of Which:

Total Assets

10,255

1,276,052

1,276,052
27,186,977

279,508

(16,267)

27,170,710
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CLASSIFICATION AND
MEASUREMENT
The transition to IFRS 9 did not have any impact
on the Group's consolidated shareholders' equity
due to the new classification and measurement
of financial assets and liabilities. In particular, the
most significant items of financial assets have
been included in the “Hold to collect” model
business and measured at amortized cost, as in
the past. Financial liabilities also continue to be
measured at amortized cost.

IMPAIRMENT
The application of the new impairment rules
(expected credit losses) on the financial assets
measured at amortized cost resulted in an impact
of euro 26.5 million.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Liabilities/Equity (¤/000)
31/12/2017
10.

Impairment 01/01/2018

Financial Liabilities Valued At Amortized Cost

23,375,339

23,375,339

a) Deposits From Banks

8,555,557

8,555,557

b) Deposits From Customers

1,483,490

1,483,490

c) Debt Securities in Issue

13,336,292

13,336,292

5,603

5,603
43,309

20.

Financial Liabilities Held For Trading

40.

Hedging Derivatives

43,309

60.

Tax Liabilities

166,658

80.

Other Liabilities

871,348

871,348

90.

Provision For Employee Severance Pay

11,947

11,947

100.

Provision For Risks And Charges

187,790

187,790

b) Pensions And Other Post Retirement Benefits Obligations

45,280

45,280

c) Other

142,510

142,510

110.

Insurance Reserves

12,579

12,579

120.

Revaluation Reserves

(,.961)

(29,961)

150.

Reserves

1,328,740

155.

Interim Dividends

(100,000)

(100,000)

160.

Share Premium

192,746

192,746

170.

Share Capital

700,000

700,000

190.

Minority Interests (+/-)

43,322

200.

Net Profit Or Loss (+/-)

377,557

Total Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity

IMPAIRMENT
The application of the new impairment rules
(expected credit losses) on the financial assets
measured at amortized cost resulted in an impact
on equity of euro 17.5 million.

27,186,977

1,126

(17,494)

101

167,784

1,311,246

43,423
377,557

(16,267)

27,170,710
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Reconciliation between IAS 39
Shareholders' Equity and IFRS
9 Shareholders' Equity
The schedule below shows the reconciliation
between the IAS 39 Consolidated Shareholders’
Equity as at 31 December 2017 and the opening
IFSR 9 Consolidated Shareholders' Equity as at 1
January 2018.

Items (¤/000)
Equity IAS 39 - 31/12/2017
of which: Parent Company

IFRS 9 Adoption
impact
2,512,404
2,469,082
43,322

of which: Minority Interests
IMPAIRMENT
New impairment model (ECL) related to receivables v
alued at amortized cost:
Loans and receivables with customers

- 26,522
9,129

Tax impact
Total IFRS 9 Adoption impact 01/01/2018
Of which IFRS 9 Adoption impact on Minority Interests
Equity IFRS 9 - 01/01/2018
of which: Parent Company
of which: Minority Interests

-

17,393
101

2,495,011
2,442,406
43,423

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

On 1 January 2018 the FCA Bank Group adopted
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and, as such,
it reclassified financial assets and liabilities in
accordance with the new standard and the 5th
update of Circular 262.
The impacts of the introduction of IFRS 9 on own
funds and risk-weighted assets have been limited
(for both the Group and the Parent Company
alone). In terms of reported equity, the transition
to IFRS 9 entailed a reduction of ¤17.4 million,
equal to 0.7% of Group equity.
On 12 December 2017, the European Parliament
and the Council enacted Regulation (EU)
2017/2395 “Transitional arrangements for
mitigating the impact of the introduction of IFRS
9 on own funds”, which amended Regulation
575/2013 CRR with the inclusion of new article
473a “Introduction of IFRS 9”, which allows banks
to mitigate the impact of the introduction of IFRS
9 on own funds over a transitional 5-year period
(from March 2018 to December 2022), offsetting
the impact on CET 1 with the application of
decreasing percentage rates over time.
On this aspect, it is worthy of note that FCA Bank
chose not to use the foregoing transitional period
and that, as a result, the calculation of Own Funds,
equity absorptions and capital ratios reflect fully
the impact of the application of IFRS 9.

- 203

The transition to IFRS 9 generated the following
impacts:
• A reduction of Group equity of ¤17.4 million;
• A reduction of risk-weighted assets of ¤11.7
million due to the increase of the loan and lease
adjustments (reduction of RWA for ¤17.4 million),
to the impact on tax assets (increase of RWA for
¤6 million) and on equity investments (reduction
of RWA for ¤0.3 million);
• A pro forma impact on fully loaded ratios at 1
January 2018, considering the effects under items
1 and 2, of – 8 basis points, with a CET1 ratio of
11.87% (the CET1 ratio at 31 December 2017 was
11.98%).

IFRS 9
Regulatory capital as at
31/12/2017

Regulatory capital "fully
loaded" as at 1/1/2018

FTA
Impact

Amount as at
1/1/2018

2,469

2,469

(17)

2,452

and deductions

(96)

(102)

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1)

2,373

2,367

4

5

2,377

2,372

335

337

Own Funds

2,712

2,709

(17)

2,691

Risk-Weighted Assets (RWA)

19,807

19,807

(12)

19,795

11,98%

11,95%

¤ mln

Shareholders’ equity - Group
Regulatory capital adjustments

Additional Tier 1 Capital (AT1)
Tier 1 Capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1)
Other Tier 2 Capital items

(102)
(17)

2,350
5

(17)

2,355
337

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital /
Risk-Weighted Assets (CET1 ratio)

11,87%
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Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets (¤/000)

01/01/2018

10. Cash And Cash Balances

476

20. Financial Assets At FV With Effects On P&L

100

a) Financial Assets Held For Trading
30. Financial Assets Designated At Fair Value With Effects On Comprehensive Income
40. Financial Assets Valued At Amortized Cost

100
9.594
23,324,919

a) Loans And Receivables To Banks

2,097,642

b) Loans And Receivables To Customers

21,227,277

50. Hedging Derivatives

67,119

60. Fair Value Changes Of The Hedged Items In Portfolio Hedge (+/-)

5,124

70. Equity Investments
80. Insurance Reserves Attributable To Reinsurers
90. Tangible Assets
100. Intangible Assets

44
11,321
1,959,430
237,023

of which:
- Goodwill

181,824

110. Tax Assets

279,508

130. Other Assets

1,276,052

Total Assets

27,170,710

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Liabilities / Equity (¤/000)
10.

Financial Liabilities Valued At Amortized Cost
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01/01/2018
23,375,339

a) Deposits From Banks

8,555,557

b) Deposits From Customers

1,483,490

c) Debt Securities in Issue
20. Financial Liabilities Held For Trading

13,336,292
5,603

40. Hedging Derivatives

43,309

60. Tax Liabilities

167,784

80. Other Liabilities

871,348

90. Provision For Employee Severance Pay
100. Provision For Risks And Charges

11,947
187,790

b) Pensions And Other Post Retirement Benefits Obligations

45,280

c) Other

142,510

110. Insurance Reserves

12,579

120. Revaluation Reserves

(29,961)

150. Reserves

1,311,246

155. Interim Dividends
160. Share Premium
170. Share Capital

(100,000)
192,746
700,000

190. Minority Interests (+/-)

43,423

200. Net Profit Or Loss (+/-)

377,557

Total Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity

27,170,710
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A2 – MAIN ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
This section shows the accounting policies
adopted to prepare the consolidated report as of
31 December 2018. Such description is provided
with reference to the recognition, classification,
measurement and derecognition of the different
assets and liabilities.

1. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)
This category includes the financial assets that
meet both the following conditions:
• the financial asset is held under a business
model whose objective is achieved both through
the collection of expected contractual cash
flows and through sale (Hold to Collect and Sell
business model), and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI Test”
passed).
This caption also includes equity instruments,
not held for trading, for which the option
was exercised upon initial recognition of
their designation at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
In particular, this caption includes:
• debt securities that can be attributed to a Hold
to Collect and Sell business model and that have
passed the SPPI test;
• equity interests, that do not qualify as
investments in subsidiaries, associates or
joint ventures and are not held for trading,
for which the option has been exercised of
their designation at fair value through other
comprehensive income;
• loans that are attributable to a Hold to Collect
and Sell business model and have passed the
SPPI Test, including the portions of syndicated
loans subscribed that are originally intended to
be sold and are part of a Hold to Collect and Sell
business model.

According to the general rules established by
IFRS 9 on the reclassification of financial assets
(except for equity instruments, for which no
reclassification is permitted), reclassifications
to other categories of financial assets are not
permitted unless the entity changes its business
model for those financial assets. In such cases,
which are expected to be highly infrequent,
the financial assets may be reclassified from
those measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income to one of the other two
categories established by IFRS 9 (Financial
assets measured at amortized cost or Financial
assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss). The transfer value is the fair value at
the time of the reclassification and the effects
of the reclassification apply prospectively
from the reclassification date. In the event
of reclassification from this category to the
amortized cost category, the cumulative gain
(loss) recognized in the valuation reserve is
allocated as an adjustment to the fair value of the
financial asset at the reclassification date. In the
event of reclassification to the fair value through
profit or loss category, the cumulative gain (loss)
previously recognized in the valuation reserve
is reclassified from shareholders’ equity to net
income (loss).
Initial recognition of financial assets occurs at
settlement date for debt securities and equity
instruments and at disbursement date for loans.
On initial recognition, assets are recorded at fair
value, including transaction costs and revenues
directly attributable to the instrument.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

After initial recognition, the Assets classified at
fair value through other comprehensive income,
other than equity instruments, are measured at
fair value, with the recognition in profit or loss of
the impact resulting from the application of the
amortized cost, the impairment effects and any
exchange rate effect, whereas the other gains
and losses resulting from a change in fair value
are recognized in a specific shareholders’ equity
reserve until the financial asset is derecognized.
Upon the total or partial sale, the cumulative gain
or loss in the valuation reserve is transferred, in
whole or part, to the income statement.
Equity instruments, for which the choice has
been made to classify them in this category,
are measured at fair value and the amounts
recognized in Other comprehensive income
cannot be subsequently transferred to profit
or loss, not even if they are sold. The only
component related to these equities that
is recognized through profit or loss is their
dividends. Fair value is determined on the basis
of the criteria already described for Financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss.
For the equities included in this category,
which are not quoted on an active market, the
cost approach is used as the estimate of fair
value only on a residual basis and in a small
number of circumstances, i.e., when all the
measurement methods referred to above cannot
be applied, or when there are a wide range of
possible measurements of fair value, in which
cost represents the most significant estimate.
For more information regarding the criteria for
the determination of fair value, see the Section
“A.4 – Information on Fair Value” of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements in the
2017 Annual Report, as there were no significant
changes in this regard following the introduction
of IFRS 9.
Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income – both in the form
of debt securities and loans – are subject to the
verification of the significant increase in credit
risk (impairment) required by IFRS 9, in the same
way as Assets measured at amortized cost, with
the consequent recognition through profit or
loss of a value adjustment to cover the expected
losses. More specifically, for instruments classified
as stage 1 (i.e., financial assets at origination,
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when not impaired, and instruments for which
there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition date), a
12-month expected loss is recognized on the
initial recognition date and at each subsequent
reporting date. For instruments classified as
stage 2 (performing for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition date) and as stage 3 (creditimpaired exposures), a lifetime expected loss
for the financial instrument is recognized. Equity
instruments are not subject to the impairment
process.
Financial assets are derecognized solely if the
sale leads to the substantial transfer of all the
risks and rewards connected to the assets.
Conversely, if a significant part of the risks and
rewards relative to the sold financial assets is
maintained, they continue to be recorded in
financial statements, even though their title
has been transferred. When it is not possible to
ascertain the substantial transfer of risks and
rewards, the financial assets are derecognized
where no control over the assets has been
maintained. If this is not the case, when control,
even partial, is maintained, the assets continue
to be recognized for the entity’s continuing
involvement, measured by the exposure to
changes in value of assets disposed and to
variations in the relevant cash flows. Lastly,
financial assets sold are derecognized if the
entity retains the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows of the asset, but signs a simultaneous
obligation to pay such cash flows, and only such
cash flows, without significant delay to third
parties.

208 -

Consolidated financial statment December, 31 2018

2. Financial assets
measured at
amortized cost
This category includes the financial assets (in
particular loans and debt securities) that meet
both the following conditions:
• the financial asset is held under a business
model whose objective is achieved through the
collection of expected contractual cash flows
(Hold to Collect business model), and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI Test”
passed).
More specifically, the following are recognized in
this caption:
• loans to banks in their various forms that meet
the requirements referred to in the paragraph
above;
• loans to customers in their various forms
that meet the requirements referred to in the
paragraph above;
• debt securities that meet the requirements
referred to in the paragraph above.
This category also includes the operating loans
and receivables connected to the provision
of financial activities and services as defined
by the Consolidated Law on Banking and the
Consolidated Law on Finance (e.g. for the
distribution of financial products and servicing
activities).
According to the general rules established by
IFRS 9 on the reclassification of financial assets,
reclassifications to other categories of financial
assets are not permitted unless the entity
changes its business model for those financial
assets. In such cases, which are expected to be
highly infrequent, the financial assets may be
reclassified from the amortized cost category
to one of the other two categories established
by IFRS 9 (Financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income or
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss). The transfer value is the fair
value at the time of the reclassification and the
effects of the reclassification apply prospectively
from the reclassification date. Gains and losses
resulting from the difference between the

amortized cost of a financial asset and its fair
value are recognized through profit or loss in
the event of reclassification to Financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss
and under Shareholders’ equity, in the specific
valuation reserve, in the event of reclassification
to Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income.
Initial recognition of the financial asset occurs
at settlement date for debt securities and
at disbursement date for loans. On initial
recognition, assets are recorded at fair value,
including transaction costs and revenues directly
attributable to the instrument. In particular, for
loans, the disbursement date is usually the same
as the date of signing of the contract. Should this
not be the case, a commitment to disburse funds
is made along the subscription of the contract,
which will cease to exist upon disbursement
of the loan. The loan is recognized based on
its fair value, equal to the amount disbursed
or subscription price, inclusive of the costs/
revenues directly attributable to the single loan
and determinable from inception, even when
settled at a later date. Costs that, even with the
aforementioned characteristics, are reimbursed
by the borrower or are classifiable as normal
internal administrative costs are excluded.
After the initial recognition, these financial
assets are measured at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method. The assets
are recognized in the balance sheet at an
amount equal to their initial carrying amount
less principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization (calculated using the
effective interest rate method referred to above)
of the difference between this initial amount and
the amount at maturity (typically attributable
to costs/income directly attributable to the
individual asset) and adjusted by any provision
for losses. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments of the asset, as principal and interest,
to the amount disbursed inclusive of the costs/
revenues attributable to that financial asset. This
measurement method uses a financial approach
and allows distribution of the economic effect
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of the costs/income directly attributable to a
financial asset over its expected lifetime. The
amortized cost method is not used for assets,
measured at historical cost, whose short duration
makes the effect of discounting negligible, or for
assets without a definite maturity or revocable
loans. The measurement criteria are closely linked
to the inclusion of these instruments in one of
the three stages of credit risk established by IFRS
9, the last of which (stage 3) consists of nonperforming financial assets and the remaining
(stages 1 and 2) of performing financial assets.
With regard to the accounting representation
of the above measurement effects, the value
adjustments for this type of asset are recognized
in profit or loss:
• on initial recognition, for an amount equal to
the 12-month expected credit loss;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset, when
the credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, in relation to changes
in the amount of adjustments for the 12-month
expected credit losses;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset, when
the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, in relation to the recognition
of adjustments for expected credit losses over
the contractually agreed remaining lifetime of the
asset;
• on subsequent measurement of the asset,
where – after a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred since initial recognition – the
increase is no longer “significant” due to the
alignment of the cumulative value adjustments
to take account of the change from a lifetime
expected credit loss to a 12-month expected
credit loss for the instrument.
These financial assets, when they are
performing, are subject to an assessment,
aimed at establishing the value adjustments
to be recognized in the financial statements,
at the level of individual loan (or “tranches” of
securities), according to the risk parameters
consisting of Probability of Default (PD), Loss
Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default
(EAD), derived from the AIRB models, and duly
adjusted to take account of the provisions of
IFRS 9.
If, in addition to a significant increase in
credit risk, there is also objective evidence of
impairment, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount
of the asset – classified as “non-performing”,
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like all the other relationships with the same
counterparty – and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, discounted using the
original effective interest rate. The amount of the
loss, to be recognized through profit or loss, is
established based on individual measurement or
determined according to uniform categories and,
then, individually allocated to each position, and,
takes account of forward-looking information
and possible alternative recovery scenarios.
Non-performing assets include financial assets
classified as bad, unlikely-to-pay or past due by
over ninety days according to the rules issued by
the Bank of Italy, in line with the IAS/IFRS and
EU Supervisory Regulations. The expected cash
flows take into account the expected recovery
times and the estimated realizable value of
any guarantees. The original effective rate of
each asset remains unchanged over time even
if the relationship has been restructured with a
variation of the contractual interest rate and even
if the relationship, in practice, no longer bears
contractual interest. If the reasons for impairment
are no longer applicable following an event
subsequent to the registration of impairment,
recoveries are recorded in the income statement.
The size of the recovery must not lead the
carrying value of the financial asset to exceed
the amortized cost had no impairment losses
been recognized in previous periods. Recoveries
on impairment with time value effects are
recognized in net interest income.
In some cases, during the lifetime of these
financial assets, and of loans in particular,
the original contractual conditions may be
subsequently modified by the parties to the
contract. When the contractual clauses are
subject to change during the lifetime of an
instrument, it is necessary to verify whether the
original asset should continue to be recognized in
the balance sheet or whether, instead, the original
instrument needs to be derecognized and a new
financial instrument needs to be recognized.
In general, changes to a financial asset lead to its
derecognition and the recognition of a new asset
when they are “substantial”.
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DERECOGNITION
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position)
when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive

cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

3. Hedging
transaction
Hedging transactions are intended to offset
potential losses/gains on a specific item or
group of items, attributable to a specific risk,
through the gains/losses generated on another
instrument or group of instruments in the event
that the specific risk in question materializes.
The FCA Bank Group hedges its exposure to
the interest rate risk associated with receivables
arising from instalment loans and bonds issued
at fixed interest rates with derivatives designated
as fair value hedges. Derivatives entered into to
hedge the variable interest rate risk associated
with the debt of the companies engaged in longterm rental are designated as cash flow hedges.
Only derivatives entered into with a counterparty
not belonging to the Group may be treated as
hedging instruments.
Hedging derivatives are stated at fair value.
Specifically:
• in the case of cash flow hedges, derivatives are
recognized a their fair value. Any change in the
fair value of the effective part of the hedge is
recognized through OCI, in item 120. “Valuation
reserve” while any change in the fair value of
the ineffective part of the hedge is recognized
through profit or loss in item 90.
• in the case of fair value hedges, any change
in the fair value of the hedging instrument is
recognized through profit or loss in item 90.
“Net result of hedging activity”. Any change in
the fair value of the hedged item, attributable to
the risk hedged with the derivative instrument,

is recognized through profit and loss as an
offsetting entry of the change in the carrying
amount of the hedged item.
The fair value of derivative instruments is
calculated on the basis of interest and exchange
rates quoted in the market, taking into account
the counterparties’ creditworthiness, and reflects
the present value of the future cash flows
generated by the individual contracts.
Gains or losses on derivatives hedging interest
rate risk are allocated either to “Interest and
similar income” or “Interest and similar expenses”,
as the case may be.
A derivative contract is designated for hedging
activities if there is a formal document of the
relationship between the hedged instrument and
the hedging instrument and whether the hedge
is effective since inception and, prospectively,
throughout its life.
A hedge is effective (in a range between 80%
and 125%) when the changes in the fair value (or
cash flows) of the hedging financial instrument
almost entirely offset the changes in hedged item
with regard to the risk being hedged.
Effectiveness is assessed at every year-end or
interim reporting date by using:
• prospective tests, to demonstrate an
expectation of effectiveness in order to qualify
for hedge accounting;
• retrospective tests, to ensure that the hedging
relationship has been highly effective throughout
the reporting period, measuring the extent
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4. Investments
to which the achieved hedge deviates from a
perfect hedge.
If the tests fail to demonstrate hedge
effectiveness, hedge accounting, as indicated
above, is discontinued and the derivative contract
is reclassified to held-for-trading financial assets
or financial liabilities and is therefore measured
in a manner consistent with its classification.
In case of macro hedging, IAS 39 permits the
establishment of a fair value hedge for the
interest rate risk exposure of a designated
amount of financial assets or liabilities so that
a group of derivative contracts can be used to
offset the changes in fair value of the hedged
items as interest rates vary.
Macro hedges cannot be applied to a net position
being the difference between financial assets and
liabilities.
Macro hedging is considered highly effective
if, like fair value hedges, at inception and in
subsequent periods the changes in fair value of
the hedged amount are offset by the changes in
fair value of the hedging derivatives in the range
of 80% to 125%.

Investments in joint ventures (IFRS 11) as well as
in companies subject to significant influence (IAS
28) are recognized with the equity method.
The carrying amount of the investment is
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s
share of net assets of the associate or joint
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill
relating to the associate or joint venture
is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is not tested for impairment
separately.
The statement of profit or loss reflects the
Group’s share of the results of operations of the
associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI
of those investees is presented as part of the
Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and the associate or joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associate or joint venture.
Under the equity method, the investment in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognized
at cost.
If there is any evidence that the value of an
investment has been impaired, the recoverable
value of the investment is estimated, taking
account the present value of the future cash
flows that it will generate, including its disposal
value.
If the recovery value is lower than book value, the
difference is recorded in the income statement.
In subsequent periods, if the reasons for the
impairment cease to exist, the original value may
be restored through the income statement
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5. Tangible
assets
This item includes furniture, fixtures, technical
and other equipment and assets related to the
leasing business.
These tangible assets are used to provide goods
and services, to be leased to third parties, or for
administrative purposes and are expected to be
utilized for more than one period.
This item consists of:

recorded in the income statement as incurred.
Subsequently, tangible assets are recognized
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis
considering the remaining useful life and value of
the asset.

• assets for use in production

At every reporting date, if there is any evidence
that an asset might be impaired, the book value
of the asset is compared with its realizable value
– equal to the greater of fair value, net of any
selling costs, and the value in use of the asset,
defined as the net present value of future cash
flows generated by the asset.
Any impairment losses and adjustments are
recorded in the income statement, item 210
“Impairment/reinstatement of tangible assets”.
If the reasons that gave rise to the impairment
no longer apply, then the loss is reversed for the
amount that would restore the asset to the value
that it would have had in the absence of any
impairment, less accumulated depreciation.
Initial direct costs incurred in the negotiation and
execution of an operating agreement are added
to the leased assets in equal instalments, based
on the length of the agreement.
Tangible assets are derecognized upon disposal
or when they are retired from production and
no further economic benefits are expected from
them. Any difference between the selling price
or realizable value and the carrying amount
is recognized through profit or loss, item 280
“Gains (losses) from the sale of investments”.

• assets held for investment purposes.
Assets held for use in production are utilized
to provide goods and services as well as for
administrative purposes and are expected to be
used for more than one period. Typically, this
category includes also assets held to be leased
under leasing arrangements.
This item includes also assets provided by the
Group in its capacity as lessor operating lease
agreements.
Assets leased out include vehicles provided
under operating lease agreements by the
Group’s long-term car rental companies. Trade
receivables to be collected in connection with
recovery procedures in relation to operating
leases are classified as “Other assets”. Operating
lease agreements with a buyback clause are also
included in “Other assets”.
Tangible assets comprise also leasehold
improvements, whenever such expenses are value
accretive in relation to identifiable and separable
assets. In this case, classification takes place in
the specific sub-items of reference in relation to
the asset.
Asset held for investment purposes refer to
investment property as per IAS 40, i.e. properties
held (owned or under a finance lease) in order to
receive rental income and/or an appreciation of
the invested capital.
Tangible assets are initially recognized at cost,
inclusive of purchase price and all the incidental
charges incurred directly to purchase and to put
the asset in service. Costs incurred after purchase
are only capitalized if they lead to an increase in
the future economic benefits deriving from the
asset to which they relate. All other costs are
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6. Intangible
assets
Intangible assets are non-monetary longterm assets, identifiable even though they are
intangible, controlled by the Group and which are
likely to generate future economic benefits.
Intangible assets include mainly goodwill,
software, trademarks and patents.
Goodwill arising in a business combination is
initially measured at cost (being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the amount recognized for non-controlling
interests) and any previous interest held over the
fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.
In the case of software generated internally
the costs incurred to develop the project are
recognized as intangible assets provided that the
following conditions are met: technical feasibility,
intention to complete, future usefulness,
availability of sufficient technical and financial
resources and the ability to measure reliably the
costs of the project.
Intangible assets are recognized if they are
identifiable and originated from legal or
contractual rights.
Intangible assets purchased separately and/or
generated internally are initially recognized a
cost and, except for goodwill, are amortized on a
straight line basis over their remaining useful life.
Subsequently, they are measured at cost net of
accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses. The useful life of intangible
assets is either definite or indefinite.
Definite-life intangibles are amortized over
their remaining useful life and are tested for
impairment every time there is objective
evidence of a possible loss of value. The
amortization period of a definite-life intangible
asset is reviewed at least once every year, at
year end. Changes in the useful life in which the

future economic benefits related to the asset will
materialize result in changes in the amortization
period and
are considered as changes in estimates. The
amortization of definite-life intangible asset is
recognized in the income statement in the cost
category consistent with the function of the
intangible asset.
Indefinite-life intangible assets, including
goodwill, are not amortized but are tested every
year for impairment both individually and at
the level of cash generating units. Every year
(or whenever there is evidence of impairment)
goodwill is tested for impairment. To this end,
the cash generating unit to which goodwill is
to be attributed is identified. The amount of
any impairment is calculated as the difference
between the carrying amount of goodwill and its
recoverable value, if lower. Recoverable value is
equal to the greater of the fair value of the cash
generating unit, less any selling costs, and the
relevant value in use.
Any adjustments are recognized in the income
statement, item 270. “Goodwill impairment”. No
reversal of impairment is permitted for goodwill.
Intangible assets are derecognized upon disposal
or when and no further economic benefits are
expected from them. Any difference between the
selling price or realizable value and the carrying
amount is recognized through profit or loss, item
280 “Gains (losses) from the sale of investments”.
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7. Current and
deferred taxation

• current tax assets, that is payments in excess of
taxes due under applicable national tax laws;

equity, such as those related to gains or losses
on available-for-sale financial assets and those
related to changes in the fair value of cash flow
hedges, whose changes in value are recognized,
on an after-tax basis, directly in the statement of
comprehensive income in the “Valuation reserve”.
Current tax assets are shown in the balance
sheet net of current tax liabilities whenever the
following conditions are met:

• current tax liabilities, or taxes payable under
applicable national tax laws;

• existence of an enforceable right to offset the
amounts recognized;

• deferred tax assets, that is income taxes
recoverable in future years and related to:

• the parties intend to settle the assets and
liabilities in a single payment on a net basis or to
realize he asset and simultaneously extinguish
the liability.
Deferred tax assets are reported in the Statement
of financial position net of deferred tax liabilities
whenever the following conditions are met:

Tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position in
line item 110. “Tax assets” on the asset side and
line item 60. “Tax liabilities” on the liability side.
In accordance with the balance sheet method,
current and deferred taxes are accounted for as
follows:

• deductible timing differences;
• unused tax loss carry-forwards; and
• unused tax credits carried forward;
• deferred tax liabilities, that is income tax
amounts payable in future years due to the
excess of income over taxable income due to
timing differences.
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are
calculated by applying national tax laws in force
and are accounted for as an expense (income)
in accordance with the same accrual basis of
accounting applicable to the costs and revenues
that generated them.
Generally, deferred tax assets and liabilities arise
in the cases where the deductibility of a cost
or the taxability of a revenue is deferred with
respect to their recognition.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
on the basis of the tax rates that, at the balance
sheet date, are expected to be applicable in the
year in which the asset will be realized or the
liability extinguished, on the basis of the tax
legislation in force, and are periodically revised to
take account of any change in legislation.
Deferred tax assets are recognized, to the extent
that they can be recovered against future income.
In accordance with IAS 12, the probability that
there is sufficient taxable income in future should
be verified from time to time. If the analysis
reveals that there is no sufficient future income,
the deferred tax assets are reduced accordingly.
Current and deferred taxes are recognized in
the income statement, item 300 “Income tax
on continuing operations”, with the exception
of those taxes related to items recognized, in
the current or in another year, directly through

• existence of a right to offset the underlying
current tax assets with current tax liabilities; and
• both deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes applied by the same tax jurisdiction
on the same taxable entity or on different taxable
entities that intend to settle the current tax
assets and liabilities on net basis (typically in the
presence of a tax consolidation agreement).
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8. Provisions for
risks and charges
Post-employment benefits and similar
obligations
Post-employment benefits are established in
accordance with labor agreements and are
qualified as defined-benefit plans.
Obligations associated with employee definedbenefit plans and the relevant pension costs
associated to current employment are recognized
based on actuarial estimates by applying
he projected unit credit method. Actuarial
gains/losses resulting from the valuation of
the liabilities of the defined-benefit plan are
recognized through Other Comprehensive
Income (OCI) in the “Valuation reserve”. Such remeasurements
are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.”
The discount rate used to calculate the present
value of the obligations associated with postemployment benefits changes depending on
the country/currency in which the liability is
denominated and is set on the basis of yields, at
the balance sheet date, of bonds issued by prime
corporates with an average maturity consistent
with that of the liability. Net interest is calculated
by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability or asset.”
Other provisions
Other provisions for risks and charges relate
to costs and charges of a specified nature and
existence certain or probable but whose amount
or date of payment is uncertain on the balance
sheet date. Provisions for risks and charges are
made solely whenever:
a) there is a current (legal or constructive)
obligation as a result of a past event;
b) fulfilment of this obligation is likely to be
onerous;

c) the amount of the liability can be reliably
estimated.
When the time value of money is significant, the
amount of a provision is calculated as the present
value of the expenses that will supposedly be
incurred to extinguish the obligation.
This item includes also long-term benefits to
employees whose expenses are determined
with the same actuarial criteria as those of the
defined-benefit plans. Actuarial gains or losses
are all recognized as incurred through profit or
loss.
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9. Debts, securities
outstanding and
other liabilities

10. Financial
liabilities held for
trading

The items Bank borrowings, Due to customers
and Securities outstanding include the financial
instruments (other than financial liabilities held
for trading and recognized at their fair value)
issued to raise funds from external sources. In
particular, securities outstanding reflect bonds
issued by Group companies and securities
issued by the SPEs in relation to receivable
securitization transactions.
These financial liabilities are recognized on the
date of settlement at fair value, which is normally
the amount collected or the issue price, less any
transaction costs directly attributable to the
financial liability.
Subsequently, these instruments are recognized
at their amortized cost, on the basis of the
effective interest method. The only exception is
short-term liabilities, as the time value of money
is negligible, which continue to be recognized on
the basis of the amount collected.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they
reach maturity or are extinguished. Derecognition
takes place also in the presence of a buyback
of previously issued securities. The difference
between the carrying amount of the liability
and the price paid to buy it back is recognized
through profit or loss, item 100.c) “Gains (Losses)
on buyback of financial liabilities”.

Financial liabilities held for trading include mainly
derivative contracts that are not designated as
hedging instruments.
These financial liabilities are recognized initially
at their fair value initially and subsequently
until they are extinguished, with the exception
of derivative contracts to be settled with the
delivery of an unlisted equity instrument whose
fair value cannot be determined reliably and that,
as such, are recognized at cost.
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11. Insurance assets
and liabilities
IFRS 4 defines insurance contracts as contracts
under which one party (the insurer) accepts
significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate
the policyholder (or a party designated by the
policyholder) if a specified uncertain future
event (the insured event) adversely affects the
policyholder.
The Group’s insurance activity concerns the
reinsurance of life and non-life insurance policies
sold by insurance companies to customers
of consumer credit companies to protect the
payment of the debt.
The items described below reflect, as prescribed
by paragraph 2 of IFRS 4, the operating and
financial effects deriving from the reinsurance
contracts issued and held.
In essence the accounting treatment of such
products calls for the recognition:
• in items 160. “Net premiums” and 170. “Income
(losses) from insurance activities” of the income
statement, (i) of the premiums, which include the
premiums written for the year following the issue
of contracts, net of cancellations; (ii) changes in
technical provisions, reflecting the variation in
future obligations toward policyholders arising
from insurance contracts; (iii) commissions for
the year due to intermediaries; (iv) cost of claims,
redemptions and expirations for the period;
• in item 110. “Technical provisions”, on
the liability side, of the obligations toward
policyholders, calculated individually for every
contract with the prospective method, on the
basis of demographic/financial assumptions
currently used by the industry;
• in item 80. “Technical provisions ceded to
reinsurers”, on the asset side, the obligations
attributable to reinsurers.
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12. Other
information
Employee Severance Fund
The FCA Bank Group has established different
defined-benefit and defined-contribution pension
plans, in line with the conditions and practices in
the countries in which it carries out its activities.
In Italy, the Employee Severance Fund is treated
as “post-employment benefits”, classified as:
• “defined-contribution plan” for the severance
amounts accrued to employees as of 1 January
2007 (effective date of Legislative Decree no.
252 on the reform of supplementary pension
funds), both in case the employee exercised the
option to allocate the sums attributable to him/
her to supplementary pension funds and in case
the employee opted for the allocation of these
sums to INPS’s Treasury fund. For these sums,
the amount accounted for as personnel expenses
is determine on the basis of the contributions due
without applying actuarial calculation methods;
• “defined-benefit plan”, recognized on the basis
of its actuarial value as determined by using the
projected credit unit method, for the severance
amounts accrued until 31 December 2006.
These amounts are recognized on the basis of
their actuarial value as determined by using the
projected credit unit method. To discount these
amounts to present value, the discount rate
was determined on the basis of yields of bonds
issued by prime corporates taking into account
the average remaining duration of the liability,
as weighted by the percentage of any payment
and advance payment, for each payment date, in
relation to the total amount to be paid and paid
in advance until the full amount of the liability is
extinguished.
Costs related to the employee severance fund
are recognized in the income statement, item
no. 190.a) “Administrative expenses: personnel
expenses” and include, for the part relating to
the defined-benefit plan (i) service costs related
to companies with less than 50 employees; (ii)
interest cost accrued for the year, for the definedcontribution part; (iii) the severance amounts
accrued in the year and credited to either the
pension funds or to INPS’s Treasury fund.
On the Statement of financial position, item 90

“Employee severance fund” reflects the balance
of the fund exiting at 31 December 2006, minus
any payment made until 30 June 2018. Item
80 “Other liabilities” – “Due to social security
institutions” shows the debt accrued at 30 June
2018 relating to the severance amounts payable
to pension funds and INPS’s Treasury fund.
Actuarial gains and losses, reflecting the
difference between the carrying amount of the
liability and the present value of the obligation
at year-end, are recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income without
reclassification to profit or loss (that is through
equity in the Valuation reserve), in accordance
with IAS 19 Revised.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
is recognized, when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company and the
amount can be reliably quantified. In particular,
for all financial instruments measured at
amortized cost, such as loans and receivables
to customers and banks, and interest-bearing
financial assets classified as AFS, interest income
is recorded using the effective interest rate
(EIR) and classified under “Interest and similar
income”.
Commissions receivable upon execution of a
significant act or upon the rendering of a service
are recognized as revenue when the significant
act has been completed or when the services
are provided. On the other hand, commissions
related to origination fees received by the
entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a
financial asset are deferred and recognized as an
adjustment to the effective rate of interest.
Revenues from services are recognized when the
services are rendered.
Dividends are recognized in the year in which
their distribution is approved.
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Cost recognition
Costs are recognized as they are incurred. Costs
attributable directly to financial instruments
measured at amortized cost and determinable
since inception, regardless of when the relevant
outlays take place, flow to the income statement
via application of the effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are recognized as incurred.
Finance leases
Lease transactions are accounted for in
accordance with IAS 17.
In particular, recognition of a lease agreement as
a lease transaction is based on the substance that
the agreement on the use of one or more specific
assets and whether the agreement transfers the
right to use such asset.
A lease is a finance lease if it transfers all the
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the leased asset; if it does not, then a lease is an
operating lease.
For finance lease agreements where the FCA
Bank Group acts as lessor, the assets provided
under finance lease arrangements are reported
as a receivable in the statement of financial
position for a carrying amount equal to the net
investment in the leased asset. All the interest
payments are recognized as interest income
(finance component in lease payments) in the
income statement while the part of the lease
payment relating to the return of principal reduce
the value of the receivable.

Operating leases
The assets granted under operating leases
include vehicles leased to customers by the
Group long-term rental companies. Current
trade receivables relating to operating leases,
characterized by commercial nature, are
classified under the item. "Other activities".
Operating lease contracts with buy-back clause
are also classified in the item "Other assets".
Revenues from operating lease assets and related
costs are classified in the item "Other operating
income/charges".

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are entered, upon
initial recognition, in the reference currency by
applying to the foreign currency amount the
exchange rate prevailing on the transaction
date. At every interim and year-end reporting
date, items originated in a foreign currency are
reported as follows:
• cash and monetary items are converted at the
exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date;
• non-monetary items, recognized at historical
cost, are converted at the exchange rate
prevailing on the date of the transaction;
• non-monetary items, recognized at fair value,
are converted at the exchange rate prevailing at
the reporting date.
Exchange rate differences arising from the
settlement of monetary items and the conversion
of monetary items at exchange rates other than
the initial ones, or those used to translate the
previous year’s accounts, are recognized in the
income statement as incurred. When a gain or a
loss related to a non-monetary item is recognized
through OCI, the exchange rate difference related
to such item is also recognized through OCI.
By converse, when a gain or a loss is recognized
through profit or loss, the exchange rate
difference related to such item is also recognized
through profit or loss.
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Use of estimates
Financial reporting requires use of estimates and
assumptions which might determine significant
effects on the amounts reported in the Statement
of financial position and in the Income statement,
as well as the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The preparation of these
estimates implies the use of the information
available and subjective assessments, based on
historical experience, used to make reasonable
assumptions to record the transactions. By their
nature the estimates and assumptions used may
vary from one year to the next and, as such, so
may the carrying amounts in the following years,
significantly as well, as a result of changes in the
subjective assessments made.
The main cases where subjective assessments are
required include:
• quantification of losses on loans and
receivables, investments and, in general, on
financial assets;
• evaluation of the recoverability of goodwill and
other intangible assets;
• quantification of employee provisions and
provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions on the recoverability
of deferred tax assets.
The estimates and assumptions used are
periodically and regularly updated by the
Group. Variations in actual circumstances could
require that those estimates and assumptions
are subsequently adjusted. The impacts of
any changes in estimates and assumptions
are recognized directly in profit or loss in the
period in which the estimates are revised, if the
revision impacts only that period, or also in future
periods, if the revision impacts both the current
and future periods.
Following are the key considerations and
assumptions made by management in applying
IFRS and that could have a significant impact
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements or where there is significant
risk of a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities during a
subsequent financial period.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets
The Group had deferred tax assets on deductible
temporary differences and theoretical tax
benefits arising from tax loss carryforwards.
The Group has recorded this amount because it
believes that it is likely to be recovered.
In determining this amount, management has
taken into consideration figures from budgets
and forecasts consistent with those used
for impairment testing and discussed in the
preceding paragraph on the recoverable amount
of non-current assets.
Moreover, the contra accounts that have
been recognized (i.e. deferred tax assets not
recognized to the extent that it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can
be utilized) are considered to be sufficient to
protect against the risk of a further deterioration
of the assumptions in these forecasts, taking
account of the fact that the net deferred assets
so recognized relate to temporary differences
and tax losses which, to a significant extent, may
be recovered over a very long period, and are
therefore consistent with a situation in which
the time needed to exit from the crisis and for
an economic recovery to occur extends beyond
the horizon implicit in the abovementioned
estimates.
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Pension plans and other post-employment
benefits
Employee benefit liabilities with the related
assets, costs and net interest expense are
measured on an actuarial basis, which requires
the use of estimates and assumptions to
determine the net liabilities or net assets.
The actuarial method takes into consideration
parameters of a financial nature such as the
discount rate and the expected long term rate of
return on plan assets, the growth rate of salaries
as well as the likelihood of potential future events
by using demographic assumptions such as
mortality rates, dismissal or retirement rates.
In particular, the discount rates selected
are based on yields curves of high quality
corporate bonds in the relevant market. The
expected returns on plan assets are determined
considering various inputs from a range of
advisors concerning long-term capital market
returns, inflation, current bond yields and other
variables, adjusted for any specific aspects of the
asset investment strategy. Salary growth rates
reflect the Group’s long-term actual expectation
in the reference market and inflation trends.
Changes in any of these assumptions may have
an effect on future contributions to the plans.

Liabilities and contingent liabilities
The Group makes provisions for pending disputes
and legal proceedings when it is considered
probable that there will be an outflow of funds
and when the amount of the losses arising
therefrom can be reasonably estimated. If an
outflow of funds becomes possible but the
amount cannot be estimated, the matter is
disclosed in the notes. The Group is the subject
of legal and tax proceedings covering a range of
matters
which are pending in various jurisdictions. Due
to the uncertainty inherent in such matters, it is
difficult to predict the outflow of funds which
will result from such disputes. Moreover, the
cases and claims against the Group often derive
from complex and difficult legal issues which
are subject to a different degree of uncertainty,
including the facts and circumstances of each
particular case, the jurisdiction and the different
laws involved. In the normal course of business
the Group monitors the stage of pending legal
procedures and consults with legal counsel and
experts on legal and tax matters. It is therefore
possible that the provisions for the Group’s legal
proceedings and litigation may vary as the result
of future developments of the proceedings under
way.
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13. Financial
instruments as at
December 31, 2017
Nell’esercizio chiuso al 31 dicembre 2017 sono
stati utilizzati i criteri contabili dello IAS 39 nella
classificazione e misurazione degli strumenti
finanziari e di seguito sono riportati i criteri
applicati.

13.1 HELD FOR
TRADING FINANCIAL
ASSETS
This item includes financial assets held in
the trading portfolio, reflecting essentially
the positive value of derivative contracts not
designated as hedging instruments.
Derivatives are recognized as assets if their fair
value is positive and as liabilities if their fair value
is negative. Assets and liabilities arising from
transactions with the same counterparty can be
offset only if there is the legally enforceable right
to offset the amounts recognized and the parties
intend to settle on a net basis (see IAS 32).
No reclassifications to other financial asset
categories are permitted, save for the existence
of unusual events that can hardly take place
again in the short term. In these cases, debt and
equity instruments that are no longer held for
trading can be reclassified only for in particular
situations, under IAS 39 (Financial assets held
to maturity, Available for sale financial assets,
Receivables). These assets are transferred at their
fair value at the time of reclassification.
Initial recognition takes place on the date of
settlement for debt and equity instruments and
on the execution date for derivative contracts.
Held-for-trading assets are initially recognized
at their fair value, which is normally the price
paid, without considering transaction costs and
income attributable to the instrument.
After initial recognition, held-for-trading financial
assets and liabilities are measured at their fair
value. Any changes in fair value are recognized

through profit or loss under item 80. “Net result
of trading activities”.
The fair value of derivative contracts quoted
in an active market is determined on the basis
of the market value of such contracts at the
end of the period. In the absence of an active
market, use is made of estimation methods and
valuation models that take into account the risk
factors associated to the instruments and based
on market data, such as interest rates. Equity
instruments, units of UCITS and derivatives with
equity instruments as underlying not quoted in
an active market, for which the fair value cannot
be determined reliably according to the above
guidelines, are reported at cost.
Held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities
are derecognized when the contractual rights to
the cash flows deriving therefrom expire or when
the financial asset or liability is sold, substantially
transferring all related risks and rewards.
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13.2 AVAILABLE FOR
SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS
These are financial assets other than derivatives
which are not classified as receivables, financial
assets held to maturity or assets recognized
at their fair value. These assets are held for an
indefinite period of time and can be sold to
generate liquidity or to meet changes in interest
rates, exchange rates and prices.
Available-for-sale financial assets include money
market, debt and equity instruments; they
include non-controlling equity interests that do
not qualify as investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures or associated companies.
Debt and equity instruments are recognized as
financial assets on the settlement date while
receivables are recognized on the disbursement
date.
Financial assets are initially recognized at their
fair value, including transaction costs and income
attributable directly to the instrument. Financial
assets reclassified from Financial assets held to
maturity are initially recognized at their fair value
at the time of transfer.
Subsequently, Available-for-sale financial
assets are measured at their fair value. Interest,
calculated with the amortized cost method
is recognized in the income statement while
changes in fair value are recognized through
equity, in item 140 “Valuation reserve”. Changes
in fair value are reported also in the Statement of
comprehensive income.
Fair value is determined on the basis of the
criteria already illustrated for held-for-trading
financial assets.
Equity instruments not quoted in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be
determined due to lack of reliable information
are recognized at cost, which reflects the latest
reliably measured fair value.
Tests to determine the existence of objective
evidence of impairment are conducted at yearend or interim reporting dates.
When there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss – measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognized in the
statement of profit or loss – is removed from OCI
and recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reported in item 130.b)
“Impairment/reinstatement of value of availablefor-sale financial assets”.
If the reasons for the impairment no longer apply,
following the occurrence of an event after the
recognition of the relevant loss, the impairment
loss previously recognized is reversed through
profit or loss, in the case of debt instruments, and
through OCI, in the case of equity instruments.
The amount of the reinstatement cannot, under
any circumstance, exceed the amortized cost
that the instruments would have had in the
absence of previous impairments.
In case of disposal of the financial asset,
cumulative gains and losses are released to the
income statement to item 100.b) “Gains (losses)
on disposal or buyback of available-for-sale
financial assets”.
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13.3 FINANCIAL ASSETS
HELD TO MATURITY
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative
financial assets that have either fixed or
determinable payments and a fixed maturity –
other than those that can be classified as loans to
banks or loans to customer - and for which there
is the ability and the intention to hold to maturity.
If during the year a significant amount of such
investments is sold or reclassified, before their
maturity, the remaining financial assets held to
maturity would be reclassified as available-forsale financial assets and use of this category
would be precluded for the following two years,
unless the sales or reclassifications:
- are so close to the maturity date or the date
of the option for the repayment of the financial
asset that interest rate fluctuations would not
have a significant effect on the fair value of the
asset;
- take place after the collection of substantially all
the original capital of the financial asset through
planned or advance repayments;
- are attributable to an isolated, uncontrollable
event that is not recurring and could not be
reasonably predicted.
Initial recognition of these financial instruments
takes place at the settlement date. Financial
assets held to maturity are initially recognized
at their fair value, including any income and
transaction costs that are directly attributable.
Subsequently, they are measured at amortized
cost by using the effective interest rate method.
Gains or losses related to financial assets held to
maturity are recognized through profit or loss
when such assets are derecognized or impaired
or through the amortization of the difference
between the initial carrying amount and the
amount repayable at maturity.
Tests to determine the existence of objective
evidence of impairment are conducted at yearend or interim reporting dates. In the presence of
such objective evidence, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows, as discounted
at the original effective interest rate. Impairment
losses are reported in item 130.c) “Impairment/
reinstatement of value of financial assets held to
maturity”.
If the reasons for the impairment no longer apply,
following the occurrence of an event after the
recognition of the relevant loss, the impairment
loss previously recognized is reversed through

profit or loss. The amount of the reinstatement
cannot, under any circumstance, exceed the
amortized cost that the instruments would have
had in the absence of previous impairments.
Financial assets held to maturity are
derecognized when the contractual rights to the
cash flows deriving therefrom expire or when the
financial asset is sold, substantially transferring
all related risks and rewards. In case of disposal/
derecognition of the financial asset, cumulative
gains and losses are released to the income
statement to item 100.c) “Gains (losses) on
disposal or buyback”.
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13.4 LOANS AND
RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, and
are not recognized as “Assets held for trading”
or designated as “Available-for-sale assets” or
“Assets held to maturity”.
“Loans to customers” include receivables
originated from instalment loans, finance
leases and loans disbursed, in connection with
the factoring business, on a recourse basis.
Regarding receivables sold on a non-recourse
basis, these are reported in the presence
of contractual clauses that do not transfer
substantially the relevant risks and rewards.
Lease agreements are classified as finance leases
whenever the relevant terms and conditions are
such as to transfer substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership from the lessor to the
lessee. All the other leases are operating leases.
The amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recognized as receivables for the
amount of the Group’s investment in the leased
assets.
Loans and receivables are recognized initially
upon disbursement.
Upon initial recognition, loans and receivables
are recorded at fair value, which is typically
the amount of the sum disbursed, including
income and transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the single loan or receivable and
determinable since inception of the transaction,
even though the relevant monetary amount is
collected or paid subsequently.
Subsequently, loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost, or the difference
between their carrying amount on initial
recognition – as increased or decreased for
any principal repayment, impairments or
reinstatements – and the amortization, calculated
with the effective interest rate, of the difference
between the amount disbursed and that due at
maturity, taking into account costs or income
directly attributable to the individual loan or
receivable. The effective interest rate is equal
to the discount rate that sets the present
value of the future cash flows of the loan or
receivable, in terms of principal and interest,
equal to the amount disbursed less any cost/
income attributable to the loan or receivable.
This accounting treatment, based on a cash flow
rationale, makes it possible to distribute the

effects of costs/income throughout the terms
to maturity of the loan or receivable. Short-term
loans or receivables, which are not impacted by
the time value of money, are reported at their
initial carrying amount.
Gains and (losses) on loans are recognized
through profit or loss:
- when the financial asset in question is
derecognized, in item 100.a) “Gains (losses) on
loan or receivable disposals”; or:
- when the financial asset is impaired (or when
the original value is reinstated), in item 130.a)
“Impairment/reinstatement of value due to
impairment of loans or receivables”.
Interest earned on loans or receivables are
recognized in item 10. “Interest and similar
income” and is recognized in accordance with
the effective interest rate method as apportioned
throughout the remaining term of the loan.
The carrying amount of loans and receivables
is tested from time to time for recoverability
through an analysis designed to identify those
that, following the occurrence of events after
their disbursement, show objective evidence
of possible impairment. These include loans or
receivables classified as non-performing, nonaccruing, restructured or past due, in accordance
with the rules enacted by Banca d’Italia in force
at 31 December 2017, consistent with IAS/IFRSs.
These deteriorated loans and receivables are
evaluated individually and the amount of the
adjustment for each is equal to the difference
between its carrying amount upon initial
recognition (amortized cost) and the present
value of future cash flows, as discounted at the
original effective interest rate.
Loans and receivables for which no objective
evidence of impairment has been gathered
individually are tested for any collective
impairment. The evaluation is carried out
by grouping these loans and receivables by
consistent credit risk categories and the loss
percentages are estimated taking into account
the time series of the losses associated with each
category.
The losses are recognized through profit or loss.
If an impaired loan or receivable is recovered, the
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amount is recognized as a debit to “Impairment
losses due to credit deterioration”.
The full or partial write-off of an uncollected
loan or receivable takes place when such
loan or receivable is considered as definitely
irrecoverable. The loss is recognized in the
income statement less any previous impairment
losses taken.
Deteriorated loans are derecognized only if the
sale entailed the substantial transfer of all related
risks and rewards. By contrast, when the risks and
rewards of the loans or receivables sold have not
been transferred, these continue to be reported
on the balance sheet, even though ownership of
the loan or the receivable has been transferred.
In the event that the substantial transfer of risks
and rewards cannot be ascertained, the loans or
receivables are derecognized whenever no type
of control has been maintained over them. By
converse, keeping control, in whole or in part,
involves the on-balance-sheet recognition on
the balance sheet of the loans or receivables
for the balance outstanding, as measured by
the exposure to changes in value of the loans or
receivables sold and the changes in the relevant
cash flows. Lastly, loans or receivables sold are
recognized whenever the contractual rights to
receive the related cash flows are maintained
whenever the entity is required to pay such cash
flows to a third party.

Deteriorated loans or receivables
Deteriorated exposures – i.e. those with the
features outlined in paragraphs 58-61 of IAS 39
– are classified in the categories listed below,
in accordance with Banca d’Italia’s guidance
contained in Circular no. 272 of 30 July 2008 as
amended:
- non-performing: the total amount of cash and
off-balance-sheet exposure toward an entity in a
state of insolvency (including in the absence of a
court ruling) or in substantially similar situations,
regardless of any loss forecasts by the bank.
This category does not include any deterioration
determined by country risk. The assessment is
generally made on an individual basis.
- probable defaults (“unlikely to pay”): the total
amount of cash and off-balance-sheet exposure
which does not qualify as non-performing but
which are considered as unlikely to be repaid (in
terms of principal or interest), absent any action
such as calling on guarantees, by the borrower.
This assessment is generally made regardless
of any past due amount or instalment. Probable
defaults are generally assessed on an individual
basis or by applying - a pre-set percentage to the

various credit risk categories.
Past due and/or excess exposures: these are
cash exposures other than those classified as
non-performing or probable defaults that, at the
reporting date, are either past due or exceed
approved credit limits. Past due and/or excess
exposures can be determined by reference to
either the individual borrower or the individual
transaction.

Securitized receivables
Certain Group companies participate in
receivable securitization programs as sellers
and subscribers of bonds issued under these
programs.
Securitization transactions involve the sale on
a non-recourse basis of a receivable portfolio
to a vehicle company, which in turn finances
the purchase of these receivables by issuing
asset-backed securities, that is bonds whose
repayment of principal and interest depend
on the cash flow generated by the receivable
portfolio.
Asset-backed securities are ranked by seniority
and rating, with the senior placed in the market
with investors while the junior notes, which
are subordinated to senior notes in priority of
repayment, are placed with companies of the
FCA Group.
According to IFRS 10, vehicles are included in
the scope of consolidation, as the placement of
junior asset-backed securities and participation
of the originator in the set-up of the program,
imply control over the SPE.
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13.5 DEBTS, SECURITIES
OUTSTANDING AND
OTHER LIABILITIES

13.6 FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES HELD
FOR TRADING

The items Bank borrowings, Due to customers
and Securities outstanding include the financial
instruments (other than financial liabilities held
for trading and recognized at their fair value)
issued to raise funds from external sources. In
particular, securities outstanding reflect bonds
issued by Group companies and securities
issued by the SPEs in relation to receivable
securitization transactions.
These financial liabilities are recognized on the
date of settlement at fair value, which is normally
the amount collected or the issue price, less any
transaction costs directly attributable to the
financial liability. Subsequently, these instruments
are recognized at their amortized cost, on the
basis of the effective interest method. The only
exception is short-term liabilities, as the time
value of money is negligible, which continue
to be recognized on the basis of the amount
collected.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they
reach maturity or are extinguished. Derecognition
takes place also in the presence of a buyback
of previously issued securities. The difference
between the carrying amount of the liability
and the price paid to buy it back is recognized
through profit or loss, item 100.d) “Gains (Losses)
on buyback of financial liabilities”.

Financial liabilities held for trading include mainly
derivative contracts that are not designated as
hedging instruments.
These financial liabilities are recognized initially
at their fair value initially and subsequently
until they are extinguished, with the exception
of derivative contracts to be settled with the
delivery of an unlisted equity instrument whose
fair value cannot be determined reliably and that,
as such, are recognized at cost.
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A.3 – INFORMATION ON
TRANSFERS BETWEEN
PORTFOLIOS OF
FINANCIAL ASSETS
In 2018 no inter-portfolio transfers were made.

A.4 – INFORMATION ON
FAIR VALUE
According to IFRS 13, fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date (exit price). IFRS 7 introduces instead
the definition of “fair value hierarchy”. This
standard calls for fair value to be determined in
accordance with a three-level hierarchy based
on the significance of the inputs used in such
measurement. The objective is to set the price at
which the asset can be sold.
The three levels are as follows:
• Level 1 (L1): quoted prices (without
adjustments) in an active market – as defined
by IFRS 9 – for the assets and liabilities to be
measured;
• Level 2 (L2): inputs other than quoted market
prices included within Level 1 that are observable
either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from
prices) in the market;
• Level 3 (L3): inputs that are not based on
observable market data.
The methods adopted by the Company to
determine fair value are illustrated below:
• Austrian government bonds purchased by the
Austrian subsidiary, quoted in regulated markets
(caption: financial assets designated at fair value
with effects on comprehensive income);
• bonds issued by the subsidiaries in Ireland and
Switzerland under, the Euro Medium Term Notes
programme and listed in regulated markets
(Caption: bonds outstanding);
• bonds issued in connection with securitization
transactions, placed with the public or with
private investors, by different Group entities
(Caption: bonds outstanding).
For listed bonds issued in connection with
securitization transactions, reference to prices
quoted by Bloomberg.
Financial assets and liabilities classified as
(L2), whose fair value is determined by using
inputs other than quoted market prices that are
observable either directly (prices) or indirectly
(derived from prices) in the market, refer to:
• OTC trading derivatives to hedge securitization
transactions;
• OTC derivatives entered into to hedge Group
companies’ receivables;
• borrowings;
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• bonds issued in connection with securitization
transactions, placed with the private investors, by
different Group entities.
Receivable portfolio (Caption: Receivables) is
classified in L3.
Derivatives are measured by discounting their
cash flows at the rates plotted on the yield
curves provided by Bloomberg. Receivables and
payables are measured in the same way.
Bonds outstanding reflect the prices published by
Bloomberg. For unlisted bonds reference is made
to quoted prices for comparable transactions.
In accordance with IFRS 13, to determine fair
value, the FCA Bank Group considers default risk,
which includes changes in the creditworthiness of
the entity and its counterparties.
In particular:
• a CVA (Credit Value Adjustment) is a negative
amount that takes into account scenarios in
which the counterparty fails before the company
and the company has a positive exposure to
the counterparty. Under these scenarios, the
company incurs a loss equal to the replacement
value of the derivative;
• a DVA (Debt Value Adjustment) is a positive
amount that takes into account scenarios in
which the company fails before the counterparty
and the company has a negative exposure to
the counterparty. Under these scenarios, the
company obtains a gain for an amount equal to
the replacement cost of the derivative.
For listed bonds issued in connection with private
securitization transactions, reference is provided
by prime banks active in the market taking as
reference equivalent transactions, or made to
the nominal value of the bonds or the fair value
attributed by the banking counterparty that
subscribed to them.
The Group uses measurement methods (mark to
model) in line with those generally accepted and
used by the market. Valuation models are based
on the discount of future cash flows and the
estimation of volatility; they are reviewed both
when they are developed and from time to time,
to ensure that they are fully consistent with the
objectives of the valuation.
These methods use inputs based on prices
prevailing in recent transactions on the
instrument being measured and/or prices/
quotations of instruments with similar
characteristics in terms of risk profile.
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A.4.5 - FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
A. 4.5.1 Assets and liabilities valued at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value levels

31/12/2017

31/12/2018
Assets and liabilities valued at fair value

L1

L2

L3

L1

L2

L3

with impact on income statement of which

-

-

-

-

100

-

a) financial assets held for trading

-

-

-

-

100

-

b) Financial assets designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,634

-

-

10,498

-

-

3. Cover derivatives

-

35,940

-

-

67,119

-

4. Tangible assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

5. Intangible assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,634

35,940

-

10,498

67,219

-

1. Financial liabilities held for trading

-

3,729

-

-

5,603

-

2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

-

-

-

-

3. Cover derivatives

-

53,920

-

43,309

-

-

57,649

-

48,912

-

1. Financial assets valued at fair value

c) Other financial assets compulsorily
assessed at fair value
2. Financial assets valued at fair value
with impact on overall profitability

Total

Total

L1 = Level 1

L2 = Level 2

-

L3 = Level 3
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A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non-recurring
basis: distributions for levels of fair value
Assets / Liabilities not
measured at fair value or
measured at fair value on
a non-recurring basis

31/12/2017

31/12/2018
VB

L1

L2

25,744,698

-

2,156,711

L3

VB

L1

L2

L3

23,351,442

-

2,097,642

21,258,923

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,351,442

-

2,097,642

21,258,923

1. Financial assets valued
at amortized cost
2. Available for sale financial
assets

-

-

-

3. Non current assets
classified as held for sale
Total

-

-

-

25,744,698

-

2,156,711

1. Financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost

Total

23,615,424
-

26,207,022

7,831,589

18,585,456

2. Liabilites included in disposal
group classified as hfs

23,615,424

23,375,339

9,873,486 13.850.564

19,153

-

-

-

26,207,022

7,831,589

18,585,456

L1 = Level 1

L2 = Level 2

A.5 - INFORMATION
REGARDING “DAY ONE
PROFIT/LOSS”
IFRS 7, Paragraph 28 regulates the particular
case in which, in the event that the purchase of
a financial instrument calculated at fair value
but not listed in market the transaction cost,
that generally represent the best estimate at fair
value in an initial basis, diverges to the fair value
determined with the evaluative technics adopted
by the entity.
In this case an evaluative profit/loss is realized
and an adequate informative note for class of
financial instrument must be provided at the
purchase place.
At 31 December 2018, in the Consolidated
Financial Statement this case is not present.

-

23,375,339

L3 = Level 3

-

-

9,873,486 13,850,564

19,153
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PART B
INFORMATION ON THE
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEET
ASSETS
Section 1
Cash and cash
equivalents – Item 10
This item includes cheques, cash and cash
equivalent items.

1.1 Cash and cash balances
Total
31/12/2018
a) Cash
b) On demand deposits with Central banks
Total

Total
31/12/2017

34

24

362,502

452

362,536

476
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Section 2
Financial assets
at fair value with
P&L impact – Item 20
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: product breakdown
Total
31/12/2018
Items/Values

Total
31/12/2017

L1

L2

L3

L1

L2

L3

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.1 Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.2 Other securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Equity securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Investment funds unit

-

-

-

-

-

-

4. Loans

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.1 REPOs

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.2 Others

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

B. Derivative instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

1. Financial derivatives

-

-

-

-

100

-

1.1 trading

-

-

-

-

100

-

1.2 fair value hedges

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.3 others

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1 trading

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2 fair value hedges

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.3 others

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total (B)

-

-

-

-

100

-

Total (A+B)

-

-

-

-

100

-

A. Balance-sheet assets
1. Debt securities

Total (A)

2. Credit derivatives

This item includes the positive valuation of
financial derivative instruments related to the
securitization transactions, which were entered
into by the banks involved in such transactions.
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2.2 Financial instruments held for trading: breakdown by debtors/issuers/counterparties

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

-

-

a) Central Banks

-

-

b) Public Administrations

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Banks

-

-

b) Other finanzial companies

-

-

-

-

c) Non financial companies

-

-

d) Other issuers

-

-

3. Units investment funds

-

-

4. Loans

-

-

a) Central Banks

-

-

b) Public Administrations

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

e) Non financial companies

-

-

f) Families

-

-

Total (A)

-

-

a) Central counterparties

-

-

b) Others

-

100

Total (B)

-

100

Total (A+B)

-

100

Items/Values
A. Financial assets
1. Debt securities

of which: insurance companies
e) Non financial companies
2. Equity instruments

of which: Insurance companies

of which: insurance companies

B. Derivative instruments

Derivatives instruments are entered into with
top banking institution counterparties and are
represented by non-listed Interest Rate Swaps
(Over the Counter).
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Section 3
Financial assets at fair
value with impact on
other comprehensive
income – Item 30
3.1 Financial assets designated at fair value with effects on comprehensive income: product
breakdown

Total
31/12/2018

Item/Values

Total
31/12/2017

L1

L2

L3

L1

L2

L3

9,634

-

-

9,594

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,634

-

-

9,594

-

-

2. Equity instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Loans

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,634

-

-

9,594

-

-

1. Debts securities
1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other

Total

The item mainly includes a bond issued by the
Austrian government and held by FCA Bank
GmbH (Austria) and FCA Bank Polska S.A.; these
are mandatory deposits required by the local
Central Bank.
The item “Financial assets designated at fair
value with effects on comprehensive income”, as
mentioned in the Section “Transition to IFRS 9”
within the Accounting Policies part, was booked
in the item “Held-to-maturity investments” as at
31 december 2017.
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3.2 Financial assets designated at fair value with effects on comprehensive income

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

9,634

9,594

a) Central Banks

-

-

b) Public entities

9,634

9,594

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Banks

-

-

b) Other issuers:

-

-

-

-

-

-

- non financial companies

-

-

- others

-

-

-

-

a) Central Banks

-

-

b) Public entities

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

e) Non financial companies

-

-

f) Households

-

-

9,634

9,594

1. Debt securities

of which: insurance companies
e) Non financial companies
2. Equity securities

- other financial companies
of which: insurance companies

3. Loans

of which: insurance companies

Total

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

- 237

3.3 Financial assets measured at fair value with an impact on overall profitability: gross value and
total value adjustments
Writedown

Gross value
of which:
low
credit risk

9,634

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2018

9,634

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

Total 31/12/2017

9,594

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

-

-

X

-

-

-

Debt securities
Loans

Second
stage

Third
stage

First
tage

Second
stage

Third
stage

Write off
partial total

First
stage

of which:
financial assets non
performing acquired
or originated
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Section 4
Financial assets
at amortized cost
Item 40
4.1 Financial assets valued at amortized cost: Loans and receivables with banks

Total 31/12/2017

Total 31/12/2018
Balance value
Type of transaction/
Values

Third of which:
stage impaired
acquired or
originated

First and
second
stage

L1

Fair value

Balance value

L2

First and Third of which:
second stage impaired
stage
acquired or
originated

L3

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

-

90,593

-

-

-

90,593

-

X

X

32,705

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

7,900

-

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

X

-

-

X

X

X

49,988

-

-

X

X

X

1,541,242

-

-

-

1,541,262

-

2,007,049

-

-

- 2,007,049

-

1,541,242

-

-

-

1,541,262

-

2,007,049

-

-

-

2,007,049

-

1,498,680

-

-

X

X

X

1,260,600

-

-

X

X

X

12,142

-

-

X

X

X

55,386

-

-

X

X

X

1.3. Other loans:

30,420

-

-

X

X

X

691,063

-

-

X

X

X

- Repos

25,367

-

-

X

X

X

690,851

-

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

X

5,054

-

-

X

X

X

212

-

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1 Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2 Other debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,156,691

-

-

-

2,156,711

-

2,097,642

-

-

-

2,097,642

-

615,449

-

-

-

1. Deposits to Maturity

41,233

-

-

X

2. Compulsory reserves

14,433

-

-

3. Repos

-

-

4. Others

559,783

A. Receivables to Central Banks

B. Receivables to banks
1. Loans

615,449

1.1 Current accounts and
demand deposits
1.2. Time deposits

- Finance leases
- Others
2. Debts securities

Total
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Bank deposits and current accounts include
funds available on current accounts or deposited
by SPVs totaling ¤883 million (¤656 million
at 31 December 2017). Liquidity is restricted
as per each relevant securitization contract. A
breakdown by SPV is provided below:

SPV

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

-

29,677

29,835

34,135

A-Best Eleven S.r.l.

21,137

33,306

A-Best Twelve S.r.l.

70,679

84,413

A-Best Thirteen S.r.l.

34,496

38,330

A-Best Fourteen S.r.l.

160,041

105,270

A-Best Fifteen S.r.l.

93,027

87,381

A-Best Sixteen S.r.l.

55,038

-

Nixes Six Plc

56,195

-

Nixes Seven B.V.

39,322

31,857

273,800

227,983

49,170

22,255

882,740

694,607

A-Best Nine S.r.l.
A-Best Ten S.r.l.

Erasmus Finance Ltd
Fast 3 S.r.l.
TOTAL

During the year a new securitization started: A–
Best Sixteen S.r.l..
The Liquidity Reserve is designed to meet any
cash shortfalls for the payment of interest on
senior securities and certain specific expenses.
The funds held in current accounts or as bank
deposits are used for:
• acquisition of new portfolio of receivables/
loans;
• repayment of notes;
• payment of interest on “senior” notes;
• SPE operating costs.

Bank deposits and current accounts also include
short-term deposits held temporarily with banks
and year-end current account balances resulting
from ordinary operating activities.
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4.2 Financial asset valued at amortized cost: breakdown product of receivables to customers

Total 31/12/2017

Total 31/12/2018
Type of transaction/
Values

Balance value
First and
second
stage

Balance value

Fair value

Third of which:
stage impaired
acquired or
originated

L1 L2

L3

First and
second
stage

Third of which:
stage impaired
acquired or
originated

- 23,615,424 21,084,522 169,277

23.446.429 141.578

-

-

57,456

528

-

X

X

X

54,714

1.2. REPOs

-

-

-

X

X

X

1.3. Mortgages

-

-

-

X

X

86,751

418

-

X

5,640,285

23,156

-

7,158,739

83,095

1.7. Other loans

10,503,198

2. Debt securities

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

- 21,258,923

-

-

670

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

62,612

415

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

3,579,368

14,114

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

5,867,304 119,957

-

X

X

X

34,381

-

X

X

X

11,520,524

34,121

-

X

X

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1. Structured securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2. Other debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,446,429

141,578

-

-

- 23,615,424 21,084,522 169,277

-

-

-

21,258,923

1. Loans
1.1. Deposits from customers

1.4. Credit cards, personal loans
and wage assignement losses
1.5. Financial leasing
1.6. Factoring

Total

With reference to the table Reconciliation
between outstanding and loans and receivables
with customers, in the Outstanding are included
the following items:
• “Deposits from customers” for ¤37 million;
• “Other loans” for ¤33 million.
FACTORING
This item includes:
• receivables arising from sales to the dealer
network for ¤26 million factored on a nonrecourse basis by the FCA Group; however, since
this amount was in excess of the lines of credit

available, the associated risk was not transferred
to the factors;
• receivables arising from sales to the dealer
network for ¤7.3 billion, factored on a nonrecourse basis by the commercial partners to
companies of FCA Bank Group; of which, assets
of SPE Fast 3 for ¤1.6 billion and Erasmus for ¤1.4
billion, consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10;
FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH (Germany), FCA
Capital France S.A. (France) and FCA Capital
Espana EFC S.A. (Spain) are the originators of
Fast 3.
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OTHER LOANS
This item includes credit financing mainly
concerned with fixed instalment car loans and
personal loans.
The receivables comprise the amount of
transaction costs/fees calculated in relation to
the individual loans by including the following:
• grants received in relation to promotional
campaigns;
• fees received from customers;
• incentives and bonuses paid to the dealer
network;
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Receivables include euro 7.1 billion relating to
SPEs for the securitization of receivables, as
reported in accordance with IFRS 10.
This item includes loans granted to the
FCA Group dealer network to fund network
development, commercial requirements in
handling used vehicles and to meet specific
short/medium term borrowing requirements.
The item includes as well the loans to legal
entity of retail business classified in this item in
accordance with the definition of Bank of Italy of
consumer credit.

• commissions on the sale of ancillary products.

4.3 Financial leasing: net amount

31/12/2018
Nonperforming
assets

31/12/2017
GROSS
INVESTMENTS

MINIMUM PAYMENTS
Principal
of which
secured
residual
amount

Maturity range

Interest

Nonperforming
assets
of which
unsecured
residual
amount

GROSS
INVESTMENTS

MINIMUM PAYMENTS
Principal
of which
secured
residual
amount

Interest

of which
unsecured
residual
amount

5,916

53,248

52,418

6

58,695

57,570

5,268

7,886

165

5

8,100

100

969

246,005

73,746

33,597

246,936

73,746

591

102,805

202

5,310

218,966

404

5,130

895,939

327,080

90,316

901,310

327,080

1,483

333,092

100

27,851

624,101

1,612

10,250

4,352,669

1,128,827

212,013 4,426,900

1,128,827

6,096

1,691,293

1,466

108,413

2,656,256

8,083

over 5 years

486

53,707

-

141,880

54,224

-

378

11,529

-

1,202

12,729

-

unspecified maturity

240

2,199

-

594

2.439

-

298

-

-

-

-

-

22,991

5,603,767

1,582,071

478,406 5,690,504

1,587,223

14,114

2,146,605

1,933

142,781

3,520,152

10,199

on demand
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 and 5 years

Total
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4.4 Financial assets valued at amortized cost: breakdown by debtors/issuers of receivables to
customers

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

First and
second stage

Third
stage

Of which:
impaired
assets aquired
or created

First and
second
stage

Third
stage

Of which:
impaired
assets aquired
or created

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Public Administration

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) Other financial company

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,446,429

141,578

-

21,084,521

169,278

-

2,158

27

-

908

-

-

187,772

164

-

59,741

10

-

18

-

-

89

-

-

c) Non financial companies

10,009,810

101,492

-

9,340,028

142,037

-

d) Households

13,246,689

39,895

-

11,683,844

27,231

-

23,446,429

141,578

-

21.084,521

169,278

-

Type of transaction / Values
1. Debt securities

of which: insurance companies
c) Non financial companies
2. Loans to:
a) Public Administration
b) Other financial company
of which: insurance companies

Total

4.5 Financial assets at amortized cost: gross value and total value adjustments

Gross value

Writedown

First
stage

of which:
low credit
risk

Second
stage

Third
stage

First
stage

Second
stage

Third
stage

Write off
partial
total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,103,861

16,106,550

622,749

286,964

76,718

46,772

145,386

303

Total 31/12/2018

25,103,861

16,106,550

622,749

286,964

76,718

46,772

145,386

-

Total 31/12/2017

22,211,362

-

1,107,171

299,954

93,151

63,505

136,437

-

X

X

-

-

X

-

-

-

Debt securities
Loans

of wich:
financial assets non
performing acquired
or originated
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Section 5
Hedging derivatives
Item 50
5.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedging type and fair value hierarchy

FV

31/12/2018

VN
31/12/2018

FV

31/12/2017

L1

L2

L3

VN
31/12/2017

7,922,166

-

66,394

-

10,523,890

-

170,758

-

725

-

275,220

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Cash flows

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

35,940

-

8,092,924

-

67,119

-

10,799,110

L1

L2

L3

1. Fair Value

-

35,503

-

2. Cash flows

-

437

-

1. Fair Value

A. Financial derivatives

3. Net investment in
foreign subsidiaries
B. Credit derivatives

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative
contracts entered into the hedge interest rate and
exchange rate risks.
The notional amount of the cash flow hedge refers
to the derivatives used to hedge the exposure to
interest rate risk on long-term rental activities,
whose fair value at year-end was ¤0.4 million.
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5.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged assets and risk

Cash-flow
hedges

Fair Value
Micro
Transaction /
Type of hedging

Interest
rate risk

Currency
risk

Credit
risk

Price
risk

Multiple
risk

Macro

Micro

Macro

Net
Investments
on foreign
subsidiaries

1. Available for sale financial
assets
2. Loans and receivables
3. Portfolio
4. Others
Total assets
1. Financial Liabilities
2. Portfolio
Total liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

X

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

-

X

-

X

X

X

459

X

X

X

5,500

X

-

X

-

-

-

-

-

X

-

X

-

-

459

-

-

-

5,500

-

-

-

29,544

-

-

X

-

X

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

-

X

29,544

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

437

-

1. Highly probable
transactions (CFH)
2. Financial assets and
liabilities portfolio

The generic column shows the amount of
derivative instruments used to hedge the loans
and receivables. Such instruments have been
accounted for as fair value hedges (macro hedge).
The specific column shows the amount of
derivative instruments hedging interest rate risk
on issued bonds.
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Section 6
Value adjustment of
financial assets subject
to macrohedge
Item 60
6.1 Value adjustment of covered assets: breakdown for covered portfolios

Fair value of hedged assets / Group components
1. Positive adjustment
1.1 of specific portfolios:
a) financial assets at amortized cost

Totale
31/12/2018

Totale
31/12/2017

33,511

24,896

-

-

-

-

-

-

33,511

24,896

(6,094)

(19,772)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,094)

(19,772)

27,417

5,124

b) financial assets measured at fair value with an impact
on overall profitability
1.2 overall
2. Negative adjustment
2.1 of specific portfolios:
a) financial assets at amortized cost
b) financial assets measured at fair value with an
impact on overall profitability
2.2 overall
Total
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Section 7
Equity Investments
Item 70
7.1 Equity investments: information on shareholders’ equity

Legal residence

Participating share %

Vote availability %

1. CODEFIS S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

FCA Bank

30%

2. CAR CITY CLUB S.R.L. IN LIQUIDAZIONE

Turin, Italy

Leasys

33%

3. FCA SECURITY S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

FCA Bank

0.21%

4. FCA SECURITY S.C.P.A.

Turin, Italy

Leasys

0.10%

Paris, France

FCA Capital France

0.003%

Denominations
B. Companies under significant influence

5. OSEO S.A.
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Section 8
Insurance reserves
attributable to
reinsurers
Item 80
8.1 Reinsured portion of technical reserves: breakdown

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

5,485

6,588

A1. Provision for unearned premiums

4,537

5,024

A2. Provision for outstanding claims

948

1,564

-

-

4,111

4,733

3,200

3,328

911

1,405

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,596

11,321

A. No-life business

A3. Other insurance provisions
B. Life business
B1. Mathematical provisions
B2. Provision for outstanding claims
B3. Other insurance provisions
C. Provision for policies where the investment risk
is borne by the policyholders
C1. Provision for policies where the performance is connected
to investment funds and market indices
C2. Reserves arising from management of pension funds
D. Total Reinsured portion of technical reserves
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Section 9
Property, plant and
equipment – Item 90
9.1 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: breakdown of assets carried at cost

TABELLA

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

2,472.619

1,958,781

-

-

33

-

6,230

5,435

139

293

2,466,217

1,953,053

74,001

649

a) lands

-

-

b) buildings

-

-

c) furniture

7

-

d) electronic system

-

-

73,994

649

2,546,620

1,959,430

-

-

Activities/Values
1. Owned assets
a) lands
b) buildings
c) furniture
d) electronic system
e) other
2. Leased assets

e) other
Total
of which: arising from the recovery of guarantees received

Total amortization equal to ¤365 million is mainly
due to tangible assets in relation to Operating
lease (¤364 million as represented in the table
below).
With reference to the table above, please consider
that the item “Owned assets e) others” includes
¤2,435 million that in the table Reconciliation
between outstanding and loans and receivables
with customers are represented in the
Outstanding.
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9.6 Tangible assets used in the business: annual changes

TABELLA
Lands

A. Gross opening balance

Buildings Furniture

Electronic
systems

Other

Total

-

-

43,600

930

2,575,862

2,620,392

-

-

(38,165)

(637)

(622,160)

(660,962)

A.2 Net opening balance

-

-

5,435

293

1,953,702

1,959,430

B. Increase:

-

36

3,164

18

1,268,218

1,271,436

-

-

2,541

11

1,232,375

1,234,927

-

-

8

-

-

8

B.2 Capitalised expenditure on improvements

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.3 Write-backs

-

-

2

-

4,922

4,924

B.4 Positive changes in fair value allocated to

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) net equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.5 Positive exchange differences

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.6 Transfer from investment properties

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.7 Other adjustment

-

36

621

7

30,921

31,585

C. Decrease:

-

2

2,369

171

681,704

684,246

C.1 Sales

-

-

678

-

305,284

305,962

-

-

-

-

169

169

C.2 Amorization

-

2

893

86

362,537

365,392

C.3 Impairment losses allocated to

-

-

-

-

3,050

3,050

a) net equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

3,050

3,050

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) net equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) profit & loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.5 Negative exchange difference

-

-

7

-

1,016

1,023

C.6 Transfer to:

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) held for sale investment

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) assets classified as held for sale

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

791

85

9,817

10,693

-

33

6,237

139

2,540,211

2,546,620

-

(81)

(33,867)

(2,194)

(739,551)

(775,693)

-

115

40,104

2,333

3,279,762

3,322,314

-

-

-

-

-

-

A.1 Total net reduction value

B.1 Purchasing
- of which business combinations

- of which business combinations

C.4 Negative chages in fair value allocated to

C.7 Other adjustment
D. Net closing balance
D.1 Total net write-down
D.2 Final gross balance
E. Carried at cost
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9.6.1 Tangible assets: annual changes - Operating Lease

Total
Land

Building

Furniture

Electronic
equipment

A. Opening balance

-

-

-

-

1,925,024

B. Increases

-

-

-

-

1,233,064

B.1 Purchases

-

-

-

-

1,224,271

B.2 Capitalized expenditure on improvements

-

-

-

-

-

B.3 Increases in fair value

-

-

-

-

-

B.4 Write backs

-

-

-

-

4,916

B.5 Positive exchange differences

-

-

-

-

-

B.6 Transfer from properties used in the business

-

-

-

-

-

B.7 Other changes

-

-

-

-

3,877

C. Reductions

-

-

-

-

662,815

C.1 Disposals

-

-

-

-

295,054

C.2 Depreciation

-

-

-

-

364,344

C.3 Negative changes in fair value

-

-

-

-

-

C.4 Impairment losses

-

-

-

-

2,401

C.5 Negative exchange difference

-

-

-

-

1,016

C.6 Transfers to

-

-

-

-

-

a) properties used in the business

-

-

-

-

-

b) non-current assets classified ad held for sale

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

D. Closing balance

-

-

-

-

2,495,273

E. Measured at fair value

-

-

-

-

-

C.7 Other changes

Others
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Section 10
Intangible assets
Item 100
10.1 Intangible assets: breakdown for assets typology

Total
31/12/2018

Activities/Values

Finite
life

A.1 Goodwill
A.1.1 attributable to the group
A.1.2 attributable minorities
A.2 Other intangible asset

Total
31/12/2017

Indefinite
life

Finite
life

Indefinite
life

183,183

181,824

183,183

181,824

-

-

63,914

-

55,199

-

63,914

-

55,199

-

-

-

-

-

63,914

-

55,199

-

-

-

-

-

a) Intangible assets generated internally

-

-

-

-

b) Other assets

-

-

-

-

63,914

183,183

55,199

181,824

A.2.1 Assets valued at cost
a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
A.2.2 Assets valued at fair value

Total
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10.2 Intangible assets: annual changes

Goodwill

A. Opening balance
A.1 Reductions of total net value

Other intangible assets:
internally generated

Other intangible assets

Total

DEF

INDEF

DEF

INDEF

227,822

-

-

241,930

-

469,752

(45,998)

-

-

(186,731)

-

(232,729)

181,824

-

-

55,199

-

237,023

1,359

-

-

19,754

-

21,113

1,359

-

-

19,439

-

20,798

A.2 Net opening balance
B. Increases
B.1 Purchases
- of which business combination

1,359

249

1,608

B.2 Increments of internal intagible assets

X

-

-

-

-

-

B.3 Value recoveries

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- equity

X

-

-

-

-

-

- to P&L statement

X

-

-

-

-

-

B.5 Positive exchange differences

-

-

-

-

-

-

B.6 Other variations

-

-

-

315

-

315

C. Decreases

-

-

-

11,039

-

11,039

C.1 Sales

-

-

-

31

-

31

C.2 Value adjustment

-

-

-

11,008

-

11,008

- Amortisations

X

-

-

11,008

-

11,008

- Depreciations

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- equity

X

-

-

-

-

-

- to P&L statement

X

-

-

-

-

-

C.4 Transfer to non-current assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.5 Negative exchange differrences

-

-

-

-

-

-

C.6 Other variations

-

-

-

-

-

-

183,183

-

-

63,914

-

247,097

(45,998)

-

-

(192,600)

-

(238,598)

E. Gross final surplus

229,181

-

-

256,515

-

485,696

F. Evaluation to cost

28,426

-

-

-

-

28,426

B.4 Positive variations of fair value

+ equity
+ P&L statement
C.3 Negative variations of fair value

D. Net final surplus
D.1 Adjustment of net total values
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10.3 Other information

The item “Goodwill” includes:
• ¤78.4 million relating to the Italian subsidiary
Leasys S.p.A.;
• ¤101.9 million of goodwill relating to
dealer financing business and arising on the
reorganization of the FCA Bank Group which
occurred in 2006 and 2007; in particular:
• ¤50.1 million related to the recognition - by the
subsidiary Fidis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A., which
merged into the Holding FCA Bank on March 1st,
2008 - of goodwill arising on the transfer of the
“Network finance and other financing” business
and the acquisition of the “Holding Division” from
Fidis S.p.A.;
• ¤15 million related to the acquisition of the
Fidis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A. Group, which was
eventually merged into the parent Company;
• ¤36.8 million related to the acquisition of certain
European companies engaged in dealer financing;
• ¤1.5 million of goodwill as a result of the first
consolidation of the company Ferrari Financial
Services GmbH; on 7 November, 2016 FCA Bank
S.p.A. acquired a majority stake in Ferrari Financial
Services GmbH (“FFS GmbH”) for a total purchase
price of ¤18.6 million upon consummation of the

share purchase agreement entered into by the
parties;
• ¤1.4 million of goodwill as a result of the first
consolidation of the company Win Rent S.p.A. in
the Fca Bank Group, on 1st October 2018.
• ¤1.5 million of goodwill
The item “Other intangible assets” mainly refers
to:
• licenses and software of FCA Bank for ¤36.5
million;
• royalties of Leasys S.p.A. for ¤17 million.
Impairment test of goodwill
According to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets,
goodwill must be tested for impairment every year
to determine its recoverable amount. Therefore, on
every reporting date the Group tests goodwill for
impairment, estimating the relevant recoverable
amount and comparing it with its carrying amount
to determine whether the asset is impaired.
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Definition of CGUs

The CGU’s carrying amount

To test goodwill for impairment – considering
that goodwill generates cash flows only in
combination with other assets – it is necessary
first of all to attribute it to an organizational
unit that enjoys relative operational autonomy
and is capable of generating cash flows. Such
cash flows must be independent of other
areas of activity but interdependent within the
organizational unit, which is aptly defined as cash
generating unit (CGU).
IAS 36 suggests that it is necessary to correlate
the level at which goodwill is tested with the
level of internal reporting at which management
monitors the entity’s operations. The definition
of this level depends solely on the organizational
models and the attribution of management
responsibilities over the direction of the
operational activity and the relevant monitoring.
For FCA Bank Group, the CGU relevant for
goodwill allocation are identified in Dealer
Financing business unit, in Leasys S.p.A. and in
Ferrari Financial Services GmbH business.

The carrying amount of a CGU must be
determined consistently with the criteria guiding
the estimation of its recoverable amount.
From the standpoint of a banking firm, the cash
flows generated by a CGU cannot be identified
without considering the cash flows of financial
assets/liabilities, given that these result the
firm’s core business. Following this approach
(i.e. “equity valuation”), the carrying amount
of the CGU can be determined in terms of free
cash flow to consolidated equity, including noncontrolling interests.

Criteria to estimate the value in use of a CGU
The value in use of the CGUs was determined by
discounting to present value their expected cash
flows over a five-year forecast period. The cash
flow of the fifth year was assumed to grow in
perpetuity (at a rate indicated with the notation
“g”, to determine terminal value. The growth rate
“g” was set on the basis of a consistent mediumterm rate of inflation in the euro zone).
From the standpoint of a banking/financial
company, the cash flows generated by a CGU
cannot be identified without considering the
cash flows of financial assets/liabilities, given that
these arise from the company’s core business.
In other words, the recoverable amount of the
CGUs is affected by the above cash flows and, as
such, must include also financial assets/liabilities.
Accordingly, these assets and liabilities must be
allocated to the CGU of reference.
In light of the above, it would be rather fair to
say that the cash flows of the individual CGUs
are equivalent to the earnings generated by the
individual CGUs. Accordingly, it was assumed
that the free cash flow (FCF) corresponds to the
Net Profit of a CGU under valuation.
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Determining the discount rate to calculate the
present value of cash flows
In determining value in use, cash flows were
discounted to present value at a rate that reflects
current considerations on market trends, the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
business.
The discount rate used – given that it was a
financial firm – was estimated solely in terms
of equity valuation, that is considering only the
cost of capital (Ke), in keeping with the criteria
to determine cash flows that, as already shown,
include also the inflows and outflows associated
with financial assets and liabilities.
The cost of capital was then calculated by using
the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Based
on this model, cost of capital is calculated as
the sum of a risk-free return and a risk premium,
which in turn, depends on the risk specific to the
business (such risk reflecting both industry risk
and country risk).
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Results of the impairment test
Goodwill was tested for impairment on the
reporting date, without any impairment loss.
In particular, for the Dealer Financing line the test
was performed by adopting the definition of CGU
described above.
The underlying assumptions to calculate the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs reflect past
experience and earnings forecasts approved by
the competent corporate bodies and officers
and are consistent with external sources of
information, particularly:
• the discount rate of 8.74% was calculated as cost
of capital, considering a risk-free interest rate of
0.24%, a risk premium for the company of 7.76%
and a beta of 1,10;
• the estimated growth rate was 1.8%.
A sensitivity analysis was performed by simulating
a change in significant parameters such as
an increase in the discount rate up to 1% or
a decrease in the growth rate “g”. After such
analysis the recoverable amount is confirmed to
be higher than the carrying amount.
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Section 11
Tax Assets and
Tax Liabilities
Assets Item 110 and
Liabilities Item 60
11.1 Assets for anticipated levy

- P&L exchange
- Patrimony exchange
Total

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

176,660

156,364

13,059

2,620

189,719

158,984

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

139,931

111,099

1,126

-

141,057

111,099

1.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown

- P&L exchange
- Patrimony exchange
Total
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11.3 Variation of the anticipated levy (in exchange of Income Statement)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

156,364

157,525

38,145

28,722

37,611

26,460

140

925

b) due to changes in accountable parameters

-

-

c) recovery of value

-

831

37,471

24,704

-

1,330

534

932

1. Initial amount
2. Increase
2.1 Anticipated levy observed in fiscal year
a) related to previous fiscal year

d) others
2.2 New levies or increases in fiscal rates
2.3 Other increases
- of which Business combination

472
17,849

29,883

10,129

29,274

10,033

24,717

b) devaluation for appeared irrecoverability

-

3,116

c) due to changes in accountable parameters

-

-

96

1,441

3.2 Decreases in fiscal rates

1,384

68

3.3 Other decreases:

6,336

541

-

-

6,336

541

176,660

156,364

3. Decreases
3.1 Anticipated levies cancelled in fiscal year
a) reversals of temporary differences

d) others

a) trasformation in levy credits of which L. 214/2011
b) others
4. Final amount

The deferred tax assets on previous tax losses,
booked by the susbsidiary Leasys S.p.A., amount
to ¤34 million as at 31 december 2018.
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11.5 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (in exchange of Income Statement)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

1. Initial amount

111,099

92,454

2. Increase

44,499

36,951

44,424

33,036

114

(114)

-

-

44,310

33,150

31

3,886

44

29

15,667

18,306

10,881

18,143

10,033

4,895

-

-

848

13,248

4,626

60

161

103

139,931

111,099

2.1 Defered levies observed in the fiscal year
a) related to precedent fiscal year
b) due to change in accountability parameters
c) others
2.2 New levies or increments of fiscal rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Defered levies cancelled in the fiscal year
a) reversals of temporary differences
b) due to changes in accountable parameters
c) others
3.2 Decreases in fiscal rates
3.3 Other decreases:
4. Final amount
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11.6 Variation of the anticipated levy (in exchange of Net Equity

1. Initial amount
2. Increases
2.1 Anticipated levies observed in fiscal year

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

2,620

4,305

10,882

321

10,882
-

a) related to previous fiscal years
b) due to changes in accountable parameters

9,381

-

c) others

1,501

-

2.2 New levies or increments of fiscal rates

-

-

2.3 Other increases

-

321

443

2,006

401

291

3. Decreases
3.1 Anticipated levies cancelled in the fiscal year

-

a) reversals of temporary differences
b) devaluation for appeared irrecoverability

-

-

c) due to changes in accountable parameters
d) others
3.2 Decreases in fiscal rates
3.3 Other decreases:
4. Final amount

The item includes deferred tax assets recognized
through equity as calculated on the cash flow
hedge reserve relating to the future cash flows of
hedging derivatives, the fiscal effect on the AOCI
reserve and the fiscal effect of the FTA IFRS9.

-

401

1,449

-

-

42

266

13,059

2,620
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11.7 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (in exchange of Net Equity)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

-

-

1,126

-

1,126

-

-

-

1,126

-

-

-

2.2 New levies or increases in fiscal rates

-

-

2.3 Other increases

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) reversals of temporary differences

-

-

b) due to changes in accountable parameters

-

-

c) others

-

-

3.2 Decreases in fiscal rates

-

-

3.3 Other decreases:

-

-

1,126

-

1. Initial amount
2. Increases
2.1 Defered levies observed in fiscal year
a) related to previous fiscal year
b) due to changes in accountable parameters
c) others

3. Decreases
3.1 Anticipated levies cancelled in fiscal year

4. Final amount

The item includes deferred tax liabilities
recognized through equity related to the fiscal
effect of the FTA IFRS9.
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Section 12
Non-current assets and disposal
groups classified as held for
sale and related liabilities
Item 120 of assets
and item 70 of liabilities
Not applicable to the Group.
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Section 13
Other Assets
Item 130
13.1 Other assets: breakdown

Breakdown

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

3,225

2,958

2. Receivables arising from sales and services

214,434

312,105

3. Sundry receivables

367,982

256,674

26,584

20,081

718

43,612

1,807

1,848

14,606

17,193

324,267

173,940

4. Operating lease receivables

471,636

398,761

5. Consignment Stock

210,641

295,414

10,942

10,140

1,278,860

1,276,052

1. Due from employees

receivables arising from insurance services
receivables in the process of collection
security deposits
reinsurance assets
other

6. Accrued income
Total

With reference to the above representation,
please consider that items “Consignment
stock” and “Operating lease receivables” are
represented net of provision (euro 32 million) in
the table Reconciliation between outstanding and
loans and receivables with customers.
The item “Receivables arising from sales and
services” includes receivables from incentives
and services.
The item “Receivables arising from insurance
services” relates mainly to the Parent Company
and the subsidiary Leasys S.p.A. and includes
sums due from insurance companies for the
payment of commissions.
“Reinsurance activities” relate to the Irish
subsidiary.

“Receivables arising from operating leases”
amount to ¤472 million, net of provision, and the
value of the vehicles purchased by the leasing
companies under buyback arrangements with
the seller – thus not accounted for as noncurrent
assets – for a total of ¤240 million.
The item “Goods on consignment” reflects the
value of the vehicles owned by FCA Dealer
Services UK Ltd., FCA Dealer Services Espana
(Branch Morocco), FCA Capital Norge and
FCA Capital Danmark (Branch Finland). These
vehicles are held by FCA dealers awaiting their
sale.
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LIABILITIES
Section 1
Financial liabilities
valued at
amortized cost- Item 10
1.1 Deposits from banks: product breakdown

Total 31/12/2018
Operations Type /
Group Components
1. Loans from central banks
2. Loans from banks

Total 31/12/2017

Fair value
VB

Fair value

L1

L2

L3

1,217,880

X

X

X

8,589,233

X

X

105,798

X

-

VB

L1

L2

L3

1,791,788

X

X

X

X

6,763,768

X

X

X

X

X

70,734

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

8,483,434

X

X

X

6,693,034

X

X

X

189,753

X

X

X

119,764

X

X

X

8,293,681

X

X

X

6,573,271

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

9,807,112

-

10,013,177

-

8,555,557

-

8,882,429

-

2.1 Other current accounts and
demand deposits
2.2 Time deposits
2.3 Loans
2.3.1 Repurchase agreement
2.3.2 Other
2.4 Liabilities in respect of
commitments to repurchase
own equity instruments
2.5 Other liabilities
Total

This item includes mainly borrowings from banks,
of which 3,010 million from the Crédit Agricole
Group at arm’s length.
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1.2 Financial liabilities valued at amortized cost: product breakdown of deposits from customers

Total 31/12/2018
Operations Type /
Group Components

Total 31/12/2017

Fair value
VB

Fair value

L1

L2

L3

VB

L1

L2

L3

1. Deposits from customers and
on demand deposits

266,081

X

X

X

207,531

X

X

X

2. Deposits to maturity

742,554

X

X

X

432,939

X

X

X

3. Loans

320,093

X

X

X

629,298

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

320,093

X

X

X

629,298

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

493,997

X

X

X

213,722

X

X

X

1,822,725

-

1,845,591

-

1,483,490

-

1,519,172

-

3.1 reverse repos
3.2 Other
4. Liabilities in respect of
commitments to repurchase
own equity instruments
5. Other liabilities
Total

As at 31 dicembre 2018 deposits to customers
include:
• “Deposits from customers and on demand
deposits” which primarily include the “Deposit
Account”;
• “Other loans” of the subsidiary Leasys controllata
Leasys S.p.A. to financial companies;
• “Other liabilities”, which primarily include prosolvendo factoring for euro 268 million.

With reference to the above representation, please
consider that a portion of the item “Others” (euro
17 million) is included in the item “Outstanding” in
the table Reconciliation between outstanding and
loans and receivables with customers.
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1.3 Financial liabilities valued at amortized cost: product breakdown of debts certificates including
bonds

Total 31/12/2018
Type of securities/
Values

Total 31/12/2017

Fair value
VB

L1

Fair value
VB

L1

L2

L3

13,335,664

9,873,486

3,508,963

19,153

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,335,664

9,873,486

3,508,335

19,153

L2

L3

7,831,589 6,726,064

-

-

7,831,589 6,726,064

A. Debts securities including bonds
1. Bonds
1.1 structured
1,2 other
2. Other securities
2.1 structured
2.2 other
Total

14,576,562
14,576,562

-

624

-

624

-

628

-

628

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

624

-

624

-

628

-

628

-

14,577,185

7,831,589

6,726,688

-

13,336,292

9,873,486

3,508,963

19,153

The item “Other bonds” reflects: i) bonds issued
by SPEs in connection with securitization
transactions, for a nominal amount of euro¤5,690
million; (ii) bonds issued by FCA Bank – Irish
Branch, FCA Capital Suisse and FCA Bank Polska
– each for a nominal amount of euro¤8,549
million, CHF 275 million and PLN 80 million,
respectively.
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1.4 Breakdown subordinated debts/deposits

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

330,526

330,552

330,526

330,552

-

-

-

-

- banks

-

-

- customes

-

-

-

-

- banks

-

-

- customes

-

-

14,577,185

13,336,292

8,643,364

8,709,289

- customes

5,933,821

4,627,003

Total

14,907,711

13,666,844

A.1 Subordinated debts
- banks
- customes
A.2 Non subordinated debts

B.1 Subordinated deposits

B.2 Non subordinated deposits
- banks
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Section 2
Financial liabilities
held for trading
Item 20
2.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: product breakdown
Total 31/12/2018
Fair value

VN
L1

Operation type / Values

L2

Total 31/12/2017
Fair
value*

L3

Fair
value*

Fair value

VN
L1

L2

L3

A. Financial liabilities
1. Deposits from banks

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Deposits from customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Debt securities

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

3.1.1 Structured

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

3.1.2 Other bonds

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

3.2 Other securities

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

3.2.1 Structured

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

3.2.2 Other

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,729

-

X

X

-

5,603

-

X

1.1 Trading

-

-

3,729

-

X

X

-

5,603

-

X

1.2 Related with fair value option

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

1.3 Other

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

2.1 Trading

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

2.2 Related with fair value option

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

2.3 Other

X

-

-

-

X

X

-

-

-

X

Total B

X

-

3,729

-

X

X

-

5,603

-

X

Total (A+B)

X

-

3,729

-

X

X

-

5,603

-

X

3.1 Bonds

Total A
B. Derivative instruments
1. Financial derivatives

2. Credits derivatives

This item reflects the negative change in the
derivative financial instruments hedging the
securitization transactions entered into with the
same banks as those involved in such transactions.
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Section 3
Financial liabilities
designated at fair value
Item 30
Not applicable to the Group.

Section 4
Hedging derivatives
Item 40
4.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedging type and fair value

VN
31/12/2018

Fair value

VN
31/12/2017

L1

L2

L3

14,265,349

-

53,920

-

1) Fair value

12,047,119

-

46,820

2) Financial flows

2,218,230

-

-

Fair value
L1

L2

L3

12,322,668

-

43,309

-

-

11,306,091

-

40,583

-

7,100

-

1,016,577

-

2,726

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1) Fair value

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2) Financial flows

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14,265,349

-

53,920

-

12,322,668

-

43,309

-

A) Financial derivatives

3) Foreign investments
B. Credit derivatives

Total

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative
contracts entered into to hedge interest rate risks.
Changes in value in these contracts, according to
the fair value method, are reported through profit

and loss, in item 90 “Gains (losses) on hedging
activities” of the income statement.
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4.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged items and risk type

Fair Value

Cash flow

Specific

Transactions/
Type of hedge

Debt
securities
and interest
rates

Equities Currencies
and equity
and
index
gold

Credit

Goods

Other

Generic

Specific

Generic

Foreign
invest.

1. Financial assets valuated
at fair value with impact on total
profitability

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

-

X

2,210

-

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

33,390

X

-

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

-

X

-

-

-

2,210

-

-

-

33,390

-

-

-

11,136

X

-

-

-

-

X

1,192

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

-

X

11,136

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,192

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-

X

5,992

-

2. Financial assets valued
to amortized cost
3. Portfolio
4. Other operations
Total assets
1. Financial liabilities
2. Portfolio
Total liabilities
1. Expected transactions
2. Portfolio of financial assets
and liabilities

The generic column shows the amount of
derivative contracts hedging the retail receivable
portfolio. Such contracts have been accounted
for with the fair value hedge (macro hedge).
The cash flow hedges refer to derivative
contracts hedging interest rate risk. Such
contracts, which are used for long-term rental
activities, are recognized in accordance with the
cash flow hedge method.
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Section 5
Changes in fair value
of portfolio hedge
financial liabilities
Item 50
Not applicable to the Group.

Section 6
Tax Liabilities
Item 60
See section 11 of the assets.

Section 7
Liabilities included in disposal
groups classified as held for sale
Item 70
See section 12 of the assets.
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Section 8
Other Liabilities
Item 80
8.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

5,808

5,566

466,078

323,133

4,666

7,387

451,227

535,262

- Payables for goods and services

147,719

132,434

- Due to insurance companies

58,958

42,107

12,335

37,368

1,195

13,633

169,676

205,092

61,344

104,628

927,779

871,348

1. Due to employees
2. Operating lease payables
3. Due to social security institutions
4. Sundry payables

- Due to customers
- Reinsurance activities
- Others
- Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total

The item “Operating lease payables” mainly
includes payables for the purchase of cars and for
services rendered to the Group’s long-term-rental
companies.

services at arm’s length by companies of the FCA
Group;

With reference to the above representation, please
consider that ¤121 million are represented in the
item “Outstanding” of the table Reconciliation
between outstanding and loans and receivables
with customers.

• charges payable to dealers and banks, mainly in
connection with the Parent Company’s operations.

Line item “Payables for goods and services”
includes:
• the provision of administrative, tax and payment

• incentives payable to the FCA Group’s dealer
network;

The item “Due to insurance companies” mainly
relates to sums due by the parent company and
the subsidiary Leasys.
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Section 9
Prevision for employee
severance pay – Item 90
9.1 Provision for employee severance pay: annual changes

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

12,298

12,273

140

618

B.1 Provision of the year

(13)

-

B.2 Other increases

153

618

812

944

701

588

111

356

11,626

11,947

A. Opening balance
B. Increases

C. Reductions
C.1 Liquidations performed
C.2 C.2 Other reductions
D. Closing balance

This item reflects the residual obligation for
severance indemnities, which was required until
31 December 2006 under Italian legislation to
be paid to employees of Italian companies with
more than 50 employees upon termination of
employment. This severance can be paid in part
to employees during their working lives, if certain
conditions are met.
Post-employment benefits, as reported in the
statement of financial position, represent the
present value of this defined benefit obligation,
as adjusted for actuarial gains and losses and for
costs relating to labor services not previously
recorded.

Provisions for defined benefit pension plans and
the annual cost recorded in the income statement
are determined by independent actuaries using
the projected unit credit method.
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9.2 Other information

Changes in defined benefit obligations (IAS 19, paragraph 140 and 141)

Defined benefit obligation as of 01/01/2018

11,947

a. Service cost

-

b. Interest cost

(13)

c. Curtailment

-

d. Other costs

-

e. Employer's contribution

-

f. Interest income on plan assets

-

g.1 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate
g.2 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than demographic assumptions
g.3 Net actuarial (gain)/loss: others
h. Plan participants' contributions
i. Past service costs/(income) and curtailment (gains) and losses
l. Intercompany transactions
m. Other changes
Total defined benefit obligation as of 31/12/2018

(223)
(1)
197
(632)
(1)
352
11,626
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Description of the main actuarial assumptions (IAS 19, paragraph 144)

In order to complete the required assessments it is
necessary to adopt the appropriate demographic
and economic assumptions referred to:

• applications for anticipation
• future employees career (hypothetical
promotions to higher categories included)

• mortality rates

• purchasing power evolution

• disability
• employees leaving the company (resignation or
layoff)

Particularly, based on the FCA Bank S.p.A.,
following assumptions have been adopted:

ITALY
Main actuarial Assumptions
Discount rates
Estimated future salary increases rate (inflation included)
Expected inflation
Mortality rate
Yearly employees outflow average

TFR
1.62%
-0.02%
1.50%
SI2016 (modified on the basis of historical data)
6.20%
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Section 10
Provisions for risks and
charges – Item 100
10.1 Provisions risk and charges: breakdown
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

-

-

-

-

43,121

45,280

208,697

142,510

5,856

2,603

4.2 Obligations for employees

21,098

18,776

4.3 Others

181,743

121,131

Total

251,818

187,790

1. Funds for credit risk related to financial obligations
and warranties
2. Funds on other obligations and warranties release
3. Funds of business retirement
4. Other funds for risks and obligations
4.1 Legal and fiscal controversies

10.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual changes
Funds on other
released
obligations and
warranties

Pensions and
post retirement
benefit
obligations

Other risk
and
obligation
funds

Total

A. Initial existence

-

45,280

142,510

187,790

B. Increases

-

3,638

110,966

114,604

B.1 Reserve of the fiscal year

-

2,461

101,225

103,686

B.2 Variation due to pass of time

-

7

2,582

2,589

B.3 Variation due to modifies of discount rate

-

-

-

-

B.4 Other variations

-

1,170

7,159

8,329

-

5,820

44,756

50,576

C.1 Use in the exercise

-

1,527

43,427

44,954

C.2 Variations due to modifies of discount rate

-

29

-

29

C.3 Other variations

-

4,264

1,329

5,593

-

-

4

4

-

43,098

208,720

251,818

C. Decreases

- of which business combination
D. Final surplus
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10.5 Provision for retirement benefits and similar obligations

Changes in defined benefit obligations

Changes in defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation as of the prior period end date

31/12/2018
79,335

a. Service cost

1,835

b. Interest cost

1,370

c. Curtailment

-

d. Other costs

5

e. Employer's contribution

-

f. Interest income on plan assets

-

g.1 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate
g.2 Return on plan assets greater/(less) than demographic assumptions
g.3 Net actuarial (gain)/loss: others
h. Plan participants' contributions

(375)
(11)
344
(2,613)

i. Past service costs/(income) and curtailment (gains) and losses

131

l. Intercompany transactions

62

m. Other changes
Total defined benefit obligation as of 31/12/2018

Changes to plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of the prior period end date
a. Interest income on plan assets
b. Employers contribution
c. Disbursements from plan assets
d. Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate
e. Other changes
Total defined benefit obligation as of 31/12/2018

5
80,088

31/12/2018
34,055
745
1,564
(1,160)
1,758
5
36,967
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Referring to provision for retirement benefits, the
actuarial amounts of provisions for defined benefit
pension plans, required according to IAS 19, are
determined by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method, as described in Part
A – Accounting Policies.
This item includes provisions for pension plans
set up by foreign subsidiaries for euro ¤43 million
(mainly FCA Bank Deutschland GmbH for ¤28
million).

The following table shows the main actuarial
assumptions used for pension plans, distinguished
by country (Italy and “Other countries”). The table
also includes actuarial assumptions for the Italian
post-employment benefits (“Trattamento di Fine
rapporto – TFR”).

ITALY

Main actuarial Assumptions
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OTHER COUNTRIES

Other postemployment
benefit plans

Other
long-term
employee
benefits

Pension
plans

Other postemployment
benefit plans

Other
long-term
employee
benefits

1.62%

1.62%

1.69%

2.32%

2.33%

-0.02%

-0.02%

2.32%

2.63%

2.99%

1.50%

1.50%

1.93%

2.14%

2.50%

MR/FR;
BVG 2015 / GT;
RT 2018 G;
TH/TF 2000-2002;
AG Prognosetafel 2018;
S2PxA tables / CMI
core 2014 1.25% pa LTR

AVÖ 2018-P
"Angestellte";
TH/TF 2000-2002;
EAE21012p;
AVÖ 2018-P IP + RG;
GUS 2017

AVÖ 2018-P
"Angestellte";
RT 2018 G;
AVÖ 2018-P IP + RG;
GUS 2017

2.72%

2.01%

1.51%

Discount rates
Estimated future salary increases
rate (inflation included)
Expected inflation

Mortality tables

SI2016
(modified on the basis
of historical data)

Yearly employees outflow average

6.20%

6.20%
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10.6 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

21,098

18,776

2. Provisions for tax risks

3,342

4,227

3. Reserves for legal disputes

5,561

1,423

4. Provisions for risks and charges related to operating leases

37,011

45,482

141,685

72,602

208,697

142,510

1. Other provisions for employees

5. Provisions for sundry risks
Total

Provision for risks and charges related to
operating leases
This provision mainly consists of provisions for
future maintenance and insurance costs for cars
provided under operating lease contracts.
Provision for tax risks
This item refers to provisions in connection with
tax ligation and related charges.
Provisions for sundry risks
This item reflects:
• provisions of euro ¤39 million for risks related,
in the UK market, to the remaining value of the
vehicles purchased with PCP (Personal Contract
Purchase) loans and the customers’ option to
terminate voluntarily their contract, under local
laws;

• provisions of euro ¤60 million for the sanction
imposed by AGCM, as mentioned in the Report
on operation in the section “Significan events and
strategic transactions”.
The balance of these provisions reflects the risks
in various markets related to the residual value of
the vehicles, the respect of local regulations (i.e.
consumer protection and anti-trust) and, more
generally, to business risks.
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Section 11
Insurance reserves
Item 110
11.1 Insurance provisions: breakdown

Direct
business

Indirect
business

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

6,094

-

6,094

7,320

A.1 premium reserves

5,041

-

5,041

5,582

A2. accident reserves

1,053

-

1,053

1,738

-

-

-

-

4,568

-

4,568

5,259

3,556

-

3,556

3,698

1,012

-

1,012

1,561

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,662

-

10,662

12,579

A. Non-life insurance

A3. other reserves
B. Life insurance
B1. mathematical reserves
B2. reserves for sums to pay
B3. other reserves
C. Technical reserves when investment
risk is supported by insureds
C1. reserves related to contract which performance
are connected to investment funds and market index
C2. reserves originated by retirement
funds management
D. Total technical reserves
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Section 12
Reimbursable Shares
Items 130
Not applicable to the Group.

Section 13
Group Shareholders’ Equity
Items 120, 130, 140, 150, 160,
170 and 180
13.1 Issued capital and own shares: breakdown

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

A.1 Ordinary shares

700,000

700,000

A.2 Savings shares

-

-

A.3 Preferred shares

-

-

A.4 Other shares

-

-

B.1 Ordinary shares

-

-

B.2 saving shares

-

-

B.3 preferred shares

-

-

B.4 other shares

-

-

A. Equity

B. Own shares
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13.2 Capital Stock - number of shares: annual changes

Ordinaries

Others

700,000

-

700,000

-

- not fully paid-up

-

-

A.1 treasury shares (-)

-

-

700,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- business combination transaction

-

-

- bonds conversions

-

-

- warrants executions

-

-

- others

-

-

-

-

- to employees

-

-

- to directors

-

-

- others

-

-

B.2 Sales of treasury shares

-

-

B.3 Other adjustments

-

-

-

-

C.1 Cancellation

-

-

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

-

-

C.3 Business sale operations

-

-

C.4 Other adjustments

-

-

700,000

-

-

-

700,000

-

700,000

-

-

-

Items/Types
A. Shares existing at the start of the fiscal year
-fully paid-up

A.2 Shares outstanding: Opening balance
B. Increases
B.1 New issues
- against payment:

- free:

C. Decreases

D. Shares in circulation: final surplus
D.1 Treasury shares (+)
D.2 Shares existing at the end of the fiscal year
-fully paid-up
- not fully paid-up

Share capital is fully paid in. It consists of
700,000,000 shares with a nominal value of ¤1
each and, at year-end 2016, was unchanged from
the previous year.
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13.4 Reserves: other information

Group reserves amount to ¤1,746 million and
include: legal reserve, statutory reserve, valuation
reserves and other reserves.
The legal reserve, set up as provided for by law,
must be at least one fifth of share capital. Should
the reserve decrease, it must be reintegrated by
allocating at least one twentieth of net income for
the year.
The valuation reserves amount to negative¤36
million and include reserves of cash flow hedge
derivatives for -¤4 million, exchange rate

valuation reserves (relating to fully consolidated
investments) for -¤12 million as well as legallyrequired revaluation reserves deriving from the
revaluation of property and equipment for ¤454
thousand and the negative reserve on actuarial
profits (losses) from defined benefit pension
plans for ¤20 million.
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Section 14
Non controlling
interests
Items 190
Non-controlling interests is attributable to FCA
Bank GmbH, Ferrari Financial Services GmbH and
other minorities.
14.1 Detail of item 190 "Minority interest"

Company name

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

1. FCA Bank GmbH

23,260

20,787

2. Ferrari Financial Services GmbH

25,106

22,504

31

32

48,397

43,323

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

3,389

3,389

2. Minority equity - Shares - Parent Company (-)

-

-

3. Minority equity - Equity instruments

-

-

4. Minority equity - Share premium reserve

2,877

2,877

5. Reserves

37,170

32,116

(43)

(30)

5,004

4,971

48,397

43,323

Investments in consolidated companies with significant minority interests

Others investments
Total

14.2 Equity instruments: breakdown and annual changes

1. Minority equity - Ordinary shares

6. Valuation reserves
7. Minority equity - Net income (loss)
Total

284 -

Consolidated financial statment December, 31 2018

Other information
1. Guarantees and commitments issued

Nominal value on financial release
obligations and guarantees

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

First
stage

Second
stage

Third
stage

2,675,731

-

-

2,675,731

-

a) Central banks

-

-

-

-

-

b) Public Administration

-

-

-

-

-

c) Banks

-

-

-

-

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

2,674,866

-

-

2,674,866

-

865

-

-

865

-

120,224

-

-

120,224

-

a) Central banks

-

-

-

-

-

b) Public Administration

-

-

-

-

-

120,224

-

-

120,224

-

d) Other financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

e) Non-financial companies

-

-

-

-

-

f) Families

-

-

-

-

-

Commitment to supply funds

e) Non-financial companies
f) Families
Financial guarantees issued

c) Banks

Financial guarantees given to banks refer to the
commitment of FCA Bank S.p.A. towards the
Fondo Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi (FITD)
for the year 2018.
As required by Circular no.262 (5th update of
22 December 2005) the item “Commitment to
supply funds” includes revocable commitment
in addition to irrevocable commitments. The item
refers to:

• revocable commitments subblied by the Group
to dealers – item e) Non financial companies;
• revocable commitments supplied by the Group
to credit card owners – item f) Families.
Financial guarantees issued are sureties entrusted
as guarantee to Tax Office.
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3. Assets used to guarantee own liabilities and commitments

Amounts
31/12/2018

Amounts
31/12/2017

1. Financial assets valued to fv with impact on P&L Statement

-

-

2. Financial assets valued to fv with impact on profitability

-

-

7,791,723

6,820,134

-

-

-

-

Portfolios

3. Financial assets valued to amortized cost
4. Tangible assets
of which: tangible assets that constitue surplus

It should be noted that item 3 “Financial asset
valued at amortized cost” includes assets
encumbrance deriving from securitization
operations.
It should also be noted that, in relation to
the loans received from BCE following the
involvement to the TLTRO refinancing program,
were pledged as collateral:
• senior notes for euro 1.454 million – arising
from FCA Bank securitization operations whose
notes were not included in the Balance Sheet as
reported into “Part A Accounting policies”.

In addiction, to guarantee repo transactions with
Natixis and Banca IMI S.p.A the following were
pledged as collateral:
• mezzanine notes – for a nominal amount of
euro 119,4 million – and senior notes – for a
nominal amount of euro 79,0 million – arising
from securitization carried out by FCA Bank
whose notes were not included in the Balance
Sheet as reported into “Part A Accounting
policies”.
• senior notes arising from a repo transaction for
a nominal amount of euro 36,5 million.

4. Information on operating leases

See table 9.6.1 Tangible assets for functional use: annual changes - Operating leases.
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7. Assets subject to accounting offsetting or under master netting agreements and similar ones

Gross amounts
of financial
assets
(a)

Financial
liabilities
offset in
Balance
Sheet (b)

Instrument type

Related amounts
Net
not recognised
Balance
in Balance
Sheet
values of
financial
Financial
Cash
asset instruments
collateral
(c=a-b)
(d)
received
(e)

Net
amounts
(f=c-d-e)

Net
amounts
(f=c-d-e)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

1) Derivatives

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2) Repos

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3) Securities lending

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,050,000

1,050,000

-

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2018

1,050,000

1,050,000

-

-

-

-

X

Total 31/12/2017

1,400,000

1,400,000

-

-

-

X

-

4) Others

Netting refers to loans and deposits regulated
under specific netting agreements which as such
were presented net according to IAS 32.

9. Securities lending transactions

At the end of the year there are no securities
lending transactions. In the first half-year a
transaction was finalized with Credit Agricole
Consumer Finance "OAT" (French government
bonds).
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PART C
INFORMATION ON THE
CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT
Section 1
Interest
Items 10 and 20
1.1 Interest income and similar revenue: breakdown

Debt
securities

Loans

Other
operations

-

-

-

-

-

1.1 Financial assets held for trading

-

-

-

-

-

1.2 Financial assets designated to fv

-

-

-

-

-

1.3 Other financial assets mandatorly valued to fv

-

-

-

-

-

162

-

X

162

166

912

890,387

X

891,299

846,962

912

479

X

1,391

33,827

3.2 Credits to clients

-

889,908

X

889,908

813,315

4. Hedging derivatives

X

X

(13,990)

(13,990)

6,476

5. Other assets

X

X

20,807

20,807

1,349

6. Financial liabilities

X

X

X

5,173

-

1,074

890,387

6,817

903,452

854,953

-

-

-

-

-

Items/Technical forms
1. Financial assets valued to fv with impact to P&L

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

2. Financial assets valued to fv with impact
on profitability
3. Financial assets valued to amortize cost
3.1 Credits to banks

Total
of which: income interests on deteriorated financial assets

The fifth amendment of 262 Bank of Italy Circular
state that the differential of hedging derivatives
related to individual items/technical forms, are
included among interest income or expense

according to the algebraic sign of the interest
flow of the individual Item/technical form that
derivatives contract modify.
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1.2 Interest and similar income: other information

1.2.1 Interest income from financial assets denominated in currency

Items
Interest income from currency assets

2018

2017

167,878

170,242

2018

2017

451,041

307,721

1.2.2 Interest income from financial leases

Items
Interest income from leasing
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1.3 Interest expense and similar charges: breakdown

Items/Technical forms
1. Financial liabilities valued at amortized cost

Debts Securities

Other
operations

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

(109,335)

(141,371)

X

(250,706)

-

(69)

X

X

(69)

(294)

(77,494)

X

X

(77,494)

(75,990)

(31,772)

X

X

(31,772)

(16,092)

1.4 Securities in circulation

X

(141,371)

X

(141,371)

(170,190)

2. Financial trading liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

3. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

-

-

(347)

(347)

4. Other liabilities and funds

X

X

(2,930)

(2,930)

5. Hedging derivatives

X

X

15,174

15,174

6. Financial assets

X

X

X

(3,241)

(109,335)

(141,371)

(11,896)

(242,050)

1.1 Debts to central banks
1.2 Debts to banks
1.3 Debts to customers

Total

(3,617)

(266,183)
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1.4 Interest expense and similar charges: other information

Items

2018

2017

(44,714)

(41,943)

2018

2017

(-)

(42)

Items

2018

2017

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions

15,174

42,026

(13,990)

(35,550)

1,186

6,476

Interest expense on liabilities held in foreign currency

1.4.2 Interest expense on financial lease

Items
Interest expense on finance lease transactions

1.5 Interests and similar income : differentials on hedging transactions

B. Negative differentials on hedging transactions
C. Total (A-B)
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Section 2
Commissions
Items 40 e 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

310

-

-

-

62,618

58,642

1. negotiation of financial instruments

-

-

2. currency negotiation

-

-

3. portfolio management

-

-

3.1 individuals

-

-

3.2 collectives

-

-

4. stock custody and administration

-

-

5. depositary bank

-

-

6. stock allocation

-

-

7. reception and transmission order

-

-

8. consultancy activities

-

-

8.1 in matter of investments

-

-

8.2 in matter of financial structure

-

-

62,618

58,642

-

-

9.1.1 individuals

-

-

9.1.2 collectives

-

-

61,435

58,404

1,183

238

328

322

-

-

21,602

18,220

g) business of tax collection and betting office

-

-

h) activities of management of multilateral sistem of exchange

-

-

i) holding and management of current account

-

-

79,318

55,569

164,176

132,753

Type of service/Values
a) released guarantees
b) credit derivatives
c) management services, brokerage and consultancy

9. distribution of third parties services
9.1 porfolios management

9.2 insurance products
9.3 other products
d) payment and recess services
e) services of servicing for operations of cartolization
f) services for factoring operations

j) other services
Total
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2.2 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

(3,431)

(3,110)

b) credit derivatives

-

-

c) management and brokerage services

-

-

1.trading in financial instruments

-

-

2. currency trading

-

-

3. portfolios management

-

-

3.1 own portfolio

-

-

3.2 third party portfolio

-

-

4. custody and administration securities

-

-

5. financial instruments placement

-

-

6. out of office offer of financial instruments, products and services

-

-

d) collection and payment services

(12,447)

(5,317)

e) other services

(39,108)

(40,930)

(54,986)

(49,357)

Services/Amounts
a) guarantees received

Total

With reference to the “Reconciliation between
reported income statement and reclassified
income statement” please see that the total
of the item 50 equal to 55 millions is broken
down, coherent with the mentioned managerial
representation, in the following groups:
• “guarantees received” in the present table also
include insurance costs referred to the credit risk
coverage on part of dealer financing portfolio for
a total of 12 million classified as “risk cost” at the
managerial representation scope;

• Residual 43 million are included in “Net banking
income”.
The item “Payment and collection services”
mainly represents cost for the collection
of finance lease payments and retail loan
instalments.
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Section 4
Net gain (loss) on trading activities
Item 80
4.1 Net gain (loss) on trading activities: breakdown

Transactions / Income

Capital gain
(A)

Income from
negotiation
(B)

Capital loss
(C)

Loss from
negotiation
(D)

Net
result

1. Financial trading assets

-

-

-

-

-

1.1 Debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

1.2 Equity stocks (Different from participations)

-

-

-

-

-

1.3 O.I.C.R. shares

-

-

-

-

-

1.4 Loans

-

-

-

-

-

1.5 Others

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1 Debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

2.2 Debts

-

-

-

-

-

2.3 Others

-

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

X

2,377

82

(616)

(1,292)

551

2,377

82

(616)

(1,292)

551

- On debt securities and interest rates

2,377

82

(616)

(1,292)

551

- On capital stocks and stock indexes

-

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

X

X

X

X

-

2,377

82

(616)

(1,292)

551

2. Financial trading liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities: exchange differences
3. Derivatives
3.1 Financial derivatives:

- On currency and gold
- Others
3.2 Credit derivatives
of which: natural hedges connected
to fv option (IFRS 7, par. 9 lett. d)
Total

The items reflect changes in the fair value of
assets and liabilities held for trading.
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Section 5
Net gain (loss)
on hedging activities
Item 90
5.1 Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting: breakdown

Total
31/12/2018

Total
31/12/2017

A.1 Fair value hedging instruments

35,116

41,092

A.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value)

34,181

1,895

A.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value)

25,531

44,577

-

-

3,317

4,126

98,145

91,690

(65,149)

(50,015)

B.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value)

(11,882)

(36,510)

B.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value)

(21,307)

(666)

-

-

(1,609)

(6,399)

(99,947)

(93,590)

(1,802)

(1,900)

-

-

P&L item/Values
A. Income from:

A.4 Financial derivatives for hedging of financial flows
A.5 Assets and liabilities denominated in currency
Total income in hedge accounting (A)
B. Charges on
B.1 Fair value hedging instruments

B.4 Financial derivatives for hedging of financial flows
B.5 Assets and liabilities denominated in currency
Total cherges in hedge accounting (B)
C. Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting (A-B)
of which: result of hedges on net exposures
(IFRS 7 24C, lett. b) vi); IFRS9 6.6.4)

This item reflects the changes in fair value of
derivative contracts recognized as Fair Value
Hedge.
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Section 6
Gains and losses on disposals/
repurchases
Item 100
6.1 Gains and losses on disposals/repurchases: breakdown

Total 31/12/2018

Total 31/12/2017

Gain

Losses

Net
profit

Gain

Losses

Net
profit

1,162

-

1,162

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,162

-

1,162

-

-

-

with an impact on total profitability

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1 Debt securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.2 Loans

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total assets

1,162

-

1,162

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1. Deposits with banks

-

-

-

-

-

-

2. Deposits with customers

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Debt securities in issue

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Items / Income
Financial assets
1. Financial assets valued at amortized cost
1.1 Receivables from banks
1.2 Receivables from customers
2. Financial assets valued at fair value

Financial liabilities valued at
amortized cost

Total liabilities
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Section 8
Net impairment /
reinstatement for
credit risk - Item 130
8.1 Net impairment for credit risk related to financial assets at amortized cost: breakdown

Write-backs (2)

Adjustments (1)
First and
second
stage

Write-off

-

- loans
- debt securities

Transactions/Income
A. Credit to banks

Third
stage

Others

First and
second
stage

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Third stage

Total

Total

31/12/2018

31/12/2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(221)

-

-

-

-

-

(1,195)

(23,812)

(3,944)

(31,435)

15,047

23,416

(20,728)

(31,171)

(23,812)

(3,944)

(31,435)

15,047

22,742

(21,402)

(31,171)

-

-

-

-

674

674

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(23,812)

(3,944)

(31,435)

15,047

23,416

(20,728)

(32,588)

of which: acquired or originated

deteriorated credits
B. Credit to clients
- loans
- debt securities
of which: acquired or originated

impaired credits
Total

With reference to the “Reconciliation between
reported income statement and reclassified
income statement” please see that the total
amount of item 50, equal to euro 20 million,
is broken down, coherent with the mentioned
managerial representation, in the following
groups:

• In the net banking income for 1 milion;
• Residual 19 million is included in the “Cost of
risk”.

